
 This is an English translation of the original Italian document. 

The original version in Italian takes precedence. 

 

 #p#  

Deed no. 16.671              Vol.  no.  8904 

Minutes of the Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting of a 

listed company 

THE REPUBLIC OF ITALY 

In the year 2022 (two thousand and twenty-two), 

on this day, the twenty-fourth of 

May 

in Via Agnello 18, Milan. 

I, Carlo Marchetti, a notary public in Milan registered with 

the Milan College of Notaries, upon request made through Marco 

Mangiagalli, in his capacity as Chairman of the Board of 

Directors of the listed company: 

“Finecobank Banca Fineco SpA” 

or in brief “FinecoBank S.p.A.”, or “Banca Fineco S.p.A.”, or 

“Fineco Banca S.p.A.”, with registered office in Milan, 

Piazzale Durante Francesco n. 11, share capital Euro 

201,339,553.80 fully paid up, tax code and registration with 

the Companies’ Register of Milano-Monza-Brianza-Lodi number 

01392970404, registered with the Economic and Administrative 

Register of Milan number 1598155 (hereinafter, "FinecoBank 

S.p.A.", "FinecoBank", the "Bank" or the "Company"), 

proceeded to draft and sign the minutes of the Shareholders’ 

Meeting pursuant to Article 2375 of the Civil Code, with the 

consent of those appearing also at the ordinary part of the 

meeting, as held by the Company itself, including by 

electronic means pursuant to Article 106 of Decree Law no. 18 

of 17 March 2020, on 

28 (twenty-eighth) of April 2022 (two thousand and twenty-two) 

in accordance with the notice of meeting referred to below, to 

discuss and resolve upon the agenda which is also reproduced 

below. 

In meeting this request, I acknowledge that the events of the 

aforementioned Shareholders' Meeting, also in relation to its 

ordinary items of business, which I attended at the Company's 

headquarters at Piazzale Durante Francesco 11, Milan, were as 

reported below. 

*** 

Mr Marco Mangiagalli (who proved his identity as appropriate) 

assumed the chair of the Meeting with the consent of those in 

attendance, including in relation to its ordinary part, 

pursuant to Article 10 of the Bylaws, and declared the meeting 

to be open at 10 am, recalling that it had been called to 

discuss and resolve the following 

Agenda 

Ordinary Part 
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1. Approval of the Financial Statements of FinecoBank S.p.A. for the 

year 2021 and presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

2. Allocation of FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 net profit of the year  

3. 2022 Remuneration Policy.  

4. Report on remuneration paid in 2021.  

5. 2022 Incentive System for Employees categorised as Key Personnel.  

6. 2022 Incentive System for Personal Financial Advisors identified 

as “Key Personnel”.  

7. Authorisation for the purchase and disposal of treasury shares in 

order to support the 2022 PFA System. Related and consequential 

resolutions. 

Extraordinary Part 

1. Authority to the Board of Directors under Article 2443 of the 

Civil Code granting the right to authorise, from time to time and for 

a maximum of five years from the date of the resolution by the 

Shareholders’ Meeting, a free increase of share capital pursuant to 

Article 2349 of the Civil Code, up to a maximum amount of Euro 

120,976.02 (to be allocated entirely to capital) and issuing a 

maximum of 366,594 new ordinary FinecoBank shares, each with a par 

value of Euro 0.33, of the same type as those in circulation and with 

regular dividends, to be allocated to the 2022 Key Personnel of 

FinecoBank, in execution of the 2022 Incentive System; Consequent 

amendments to the Bylaws.  

2. Authority to the Board of Directors, under Article 2443 of the 

Civil Code granting the right to authorise in 2027, a free increase 

of share capital pursuant to Article 2349 of the Civil Code, for a 

maximum amount of Euro 35,671.35 corresponding to a maximum of 

108,095 ordinary FinecoBank shares, each with a par value of Euro 

0.33, of the same type as those in circulation, with regular 

dividends, to be allocated to the 2021 Key Personnel of FinecoBank, 

in execution of the 2021 Incentive System; consequent amendments to 

the Bylaws. 

The Chairman stated as follows: 

- pursuant to applicable laws, also regulations, and Article 7 

of the Bylaws, the notice convening the Shareholders’ meeting, 

with the Agenda, was published on 24 March 2022 on the 

FinecoBank website, at the registered office and General 

Headquarters of the Company, on the website of Borsa Italiana 

SpA, and on the authorised storage system eMarket Storage, 

managed by Spafid Connect SpA; 

- the notice of meeting had been published in short form on 25 

March, in the daily newspapers “Il Sole 24 Ore” and “Milano 

Finanza”; the notice was also announced to the market in a 

press release on 24 March 2022; 

- as stated in the notice convening the Shareholders’ Meeting, 
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in light of the COVID-19 pandemic emergency and pursuant to 

Article 106 of Decree Law no. 18 of 17 March 2020, converted 

with amendments into Law no. 27 of 24 April 2020, and as 

amended by Article 3(1) of Decree Law no. 228 of 30 December 

2021 (converted with amendments into Law no. 15 of 25 February 

2022), containing provisions related to that emergency: i) 

participation in the Shareholders’ Meeting, and the exercise 

of voting rights of entitled persons were only possible 

through the appointed representative (the "Appointed 

Representative") pursuant to Article 135-undecies of 

Legislative Decree 58/1998 ("TUF"), to whom proxies and/or 

sub-proxies could be given pursuant to Article 135-novies of 

the TUF, in departure from the aforesaid Article 135-undecies, 

based on the indications below: Shareholders would not be able 

to attend the Shareholders’ Meeting in person; ii) the members 

of the Governance and Supervisory boards, the Appointed 

Representative, the managers and employees of the Bank and of 

FinecoBank Group Companies, representatives of the Independent 

Auditors and other persons whose attendance at the 

Shareholders’ Meeting was considered useful by the Chairman 

for transacting business and duly holding the Shareholders’ 

Meeting, were able to attend the Shareholders’ Meeting, 

including through means of remote communication guaranteeing, 

among other things, the identity of the participants, without 

the necessity for the Chairman and the appointed Notary to be 

in the same place; conversely, holders of voting rights had to 

vote through the Appointed Representative; 

- the documentation for the various Agenda items had been 

disclosed, in accordance with regulatory requirements, earlier 

than the date of the Meeting, and therefore the reading was 

omitted; 

- besides the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the 

Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors Luisa Marina 

Pasotti, Computershare S.p.A. was also present at the 

registered office of the Company, in its capacity as sole 

proxy of the persons entitled to vote, through Mr Alberto 

Elia, and some members of the Management Staff and other Bank 

Personnel involved in the operations of the Shareholders' 

Meetings, pursuant to Article 2 of the Shareholders' Meeting 

Regulations; 

- the following persons attended via telecommunications links: 

-- for the Board of Directors, the Deputy Chairman Francesco 

SAITA, the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager 

Alessandro FOTI, and the Board Directors Patrizia ALBANO, 

Elena BIFFI, Giancarla BRANDA, Paola GIANOTTI DE PONTI, Marin 
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GUEORGUIEV, Gianmarco MONTANARI and Alessandra ZUNINO DE 

PIGNIER; and 

-- for the Board of Statutory Auditors, the Auditor Giacomo 

RAMENGHI; 

- the Board Director Alessandra PASINI and the Auditor Massimo 

GATTO were absent excused; 

- some additional employees of Computershare SpA also attended 

via telecommunications link to carry out the activities 

attributed to the aforesaid company in its capacity as 

Appointed Representative of FinecoBank; other members of the 

Bank's Management Staff and General Management also connected 

via telecommunications link; Alessandro Grazioli also 

connected via telecommunication link, representing the 

Independent Auditors Deloitte & Touche SpA, that had been 

appointed to certify the Company's financial statements; 

- in accordance with Article 3(2) of the Meeting Regulations, 

the proceedings of the Shareholders’ Meeting would be the 

subject of audio and video recordings; 

- the share capital, subscribed and paid in as at today's 

date, and as at the record date (19 April 2022), amounted to 

Euro 201,339,553.80 and was represented by 610,119,860 

ordinary shares with a par value of 33 eurocents;  

- pursuant to the provisions of regulations issued by the 

competent Italian authorities regarding the COVID-19 

epidemiological emergency, as communicated with the notice of 

meeting, attendance at the Shareholders' Meeting was only 

possible by proxy conferred to Computershare SpA, a company 

designated by FinecoBank, pursuant to Article 135-undecies of 

the TUF, as Appointed Representative; 

- 475,636,523 ordinary shares, equal to 77.95% of the share 

capital, were represented at the Meeting; The Chairman thus 

declared that the Meeting had been duly convened and was able 

to pass resolutions at a single call on the Ordinary Part of 

the Agenda, under the Law and the Bylaws; 

He also declared that: 

- according to the information in the Company’s possession, 

the following Shareholders held more than 3% of the capital 

represented by voting shares, as at the record date: 

-- BLACKROCK INC., indirectly, through fourteen asset 

management companies, with 57,785,667 shares, representing 

9.471% of the share capital; 

-- CAPITAL RESEARCH AND MANAGEMENT COMPANY, directly, with 

30,738,447 shares, representing 5.038% of the share capital; 

-- FMR LLC, indirectly through four subsidiaries, with 

23,979,422 shares, representing 3.930% of the share capital; 
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- the electronic voting system produced the following 

documents which will be attached to the minutes of the 

Shareholders' Meeting: list of Shareholders represented and 

separate lists for the various voting events. 

- no questions had been received on the items on the agenda 

pursuant to Article 127-ter of the TUF by the deadline 

indicated in the Notice of Meeting; 

- the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure 

for the year 2021, pursuant to Article 123-bis of the TUF, had 

been made publicly available in the manner and by the 

deadlines required by law. 

*** 

Opening the discussion of the ordinary part, and considering 

the close connection between the first and second items on the 

ordinary part of the Agenda (1. Approval of the Financial 

Statements of FinecoBank S.p.A. for the year 2021 and presentation of 

the Consolidated Financial Statements. 2. Allocation of the profit 

for the year 2021 of FinecoBank S.p.A.),   the Chairman proposed 

that these matters would be discussed together, but that 

separate motions would be proposed.  

The Chairman then invited the Chief Executive Officer and 

General Manager, Mr Alessandro FOTI, to briefly illustrate the 

items on the agenda, without reading it out in full, since the 

draft Financial Statements and related Reports and the 

Consolidated Financial Statements were available to everyone 

present. They had also been made publicly available in the 

manner and within the deadlines required by law. Together with 

the results for the year, information was also provided on the 

activities of the Independent Auditors.  

The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager proceeded, 

illustrating the contents of the slides attached to these 

minutes. 

The Chairman thanked the Chief Executive Officer and General 

Manager, and invited Alessandro Grazioli, partner of the 

Independent Auditors Deloitte & Touche SpA and attending the 

Shareholders' Meeting via telecommunications link, to read the 

conclusions of the Report prepared by the Independent Auditors 

pursuant to law. 

Mr Grazioli proceeded to read out the conclusions of the 

Report prepared by the Independent Auditors pursuant to law. 

The Chairman thanked Mr Grazioli and asked the Chairman of the 

Board of Statutory Auditors, Luisa Marina Pasotti to give an 

account of the contents and conclusions of the Report of the 

Board of Statutory Auditors, without reading it out in full, 

since the aforesaid Report had been made publicly available in 
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the manner and within the deadlines required by law.  

Ms Pasotti proceeded to give an account of the contents and 

conclusions of the Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors, 

without reading it out in full, since the aforesaid Report had 

been made publicly available in the manner and within the 

deadlines required by law. 

Upon invitation of the Chairman, I, the Notary Public, read 

out the proposals for resolution contained in the Report of 

the Board of Directors, as transcribed below. 

With no one taking the floor and with no changes to those in 

attendance, the Chairman then (at 10.30 am) put to the vote 

the proposals as of points one and two (ordinary part) of the 

agenda, which were read aloud and which are transcribed below, 

and the Appointed Representative proceeded to announce the 

votes which he himself tendered based on the voting 

instructions received: 

“Dear Shareholders, 

if you agree with the contents of this report, you are requested to 

pass the following resolution: 

1. approve the 2021 Financial Statements of FinecoBank S.p.A., in 

their entirety; 

2. approve the allocation ofprofit forthe year, equal to Euro 

368,600,823.06 (three hundred and sixty-eight million, six hundred 

thousand, eight hundred and twenty-three euros and six eurocents), as 

follows: (i) for the 610,119,860 (six hundred and ten million, one 

hundred and nineteen thousand, eight hundred and sixty) ordinary 

shares of a par value of Euro 0.33 (thirty-three eurocents), 

comprising the share capital, including 220,090 (two hundred and 

twenty thousand, ninety) shares relating to the capital increase 

supporting the incentive system for employees approved by the Board 

of Directors on 9 February 2022, a unit dividend of Euro 0.39 

(thirty-nine eurocents), for a total of 237,946,745.40 (two hundred 

and thirty seven million, nine hundred and forty-six thousand, seven 

hundred and forty-five euros and forty eurocents); (ii) Euro 

14,525.94 (fourteen thousand, five hundred and twenty-five euros and 

ninety-four eurocents) equal to 0.004% of profit for theyear, to the 

legal reserve, as the reserve had reached one fifth of the share 

capital; (iii) Euro 130,639,551.72 (one hundred and thirty million, 

six hundred and thirty-nine thousand, five hundred and fifty-one 

euros and seventy-two eurocents) to the extraordinary reserve”. 

On the proposal referred to in the first item (ordinary part) 

on the Agenda: The Meeting approved the resolution by majority 

vote. 

For: 470,988,867 shares. 

Against: 4,397,370 shares. 
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Abstained: 250,286 shares. 

Non-voting: 0 shares. 

As per the attached details. 

On the proposal referred to in the second item (ordinary part) 

on the Agenda: The Meeting approved the resolution by majority 

vote. 

For: 475,178,289 shares. 

Against: 458,234 shares. 

Abstained: 0 shares. 

Non-voting: 0 shares. 

As per the attached details. 

The Chairman announced the result. 

*** 

Considering the close connection of the third, fourth, fifth, 

sixth and seventh items of the ordinary part of the Agenda (3. 

2022 Remuneration Policy. 4. Report on remuneration paid in 2021. 

5. 2022 Incentive System for Employees categorised as Key Personnel. 

6. 2022 Incentive System for Personal Financial Advisors identified 

as “Key Personnel”. 7. Authorisation for the purchase and disposal of 

treasury shares in order to support the 2022 PFA System. Related and 

consequent resolutions), the Chairman proposed that these 

matters would be discussed together, but that separate motions 

would be proposed.  

Regarding the authorisation to purchase and dispose of 

treasury shares, at the service of the PFA 2022 System, the 

Chairman announced that the procedure involving the ECB for 

the issue of the relative authorisation, received on 28 April 

2022, had been successfully completed. 

The Chairman therefore invited the Chief Executive Officer and 

General Manager to briefly illustrate the salient aspects of 

the proposals, without reading out the documentation in full, 

since the files containing the Directors' Reports and the 

report on the remuneration policy and remuneration paid, had 

been made publicly available in the manner and within the 

deadlines required by law. 

The Report on the remuneration policy and remuneration paid 

included, as attachments, the Information Document on the 

“2022 Incentive System” and on the “2022 Incentive System for 

Personal Financial Advisors identified as “Key Personnel”. 

The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager proceeded to 

read out the proposals for resolution. 

The slides shown by the Chief Executive Officer and General 

Manager are attached to these minutes. 

Upon invitation of the Chairman, I, the Notary Public, read 

out the proposal referred to in the third point (ordinary 
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part) on the Agenda, as contained in the Report of the Board 

of Directors and which is transcribed below. 

With no one taking the floor and with no changes to those in 

attendance, the Chairman then (at 10.40 am) put to the vote 

the proposal for resolution referred to in the third item 

(ordinary part) on the Agenda, which is transcribed below, and 

the Appointed Representative proceeded to announce the votes 

which he himself tendered based on the voting instructions 

received: 

“The Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of FinecoBank S.p.A. having 

examined the report of the Board of Directors prepared pursuant to 

Article 123-ter of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998 and other 

applicable regulations, 

resolved 

1. to approve - also pursuant to Article 123-ter(3-bis)(3-ter) of the 

TUF - Section I –the 2022 Report on the remuneration policy of the 

FinecoBank Group, which set out the principles of the Fineco Group to 

define, implement and monitor the remuneration systems for members of 

the Board of Directors, the Board of Statutory Auditors, employees 

and financial advisors qualified to operate off premises, also 

indicating the procedures for adopting any exceptions to the policy, 

in exceptional circumstances; 

2. to grant the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager all the 

most appropriate powers to make any additions and amendments to the 

aforesaid 2022 Remuneration Policy that may be required by the 

competent supervisory authorities or that may become necessary as a 

result of amendments to the reference legislative and/or regulatory 

framework, as well as any amendments that do not change the substance 

of the document”. 

The Meeting approved the resolution by majority vote. 

For: 434,617,995 shares. 

Against: 41,018,528 shares. 

Abstained: 0 shares. 

Non-voting: 0 shares. 

As per the attached details. 

The Chairman announced the result. 

Upon invitation of the Chairman, I, the Notary Public, read 

out the proposal referred to in the fourth point (ordinary 

part) on the Agenda, as contained in the Report of the Board 

of Directors and which is transcribed below. 

With no one taking the floor and with no changes to those in 

attendance, the Chairman then (at 10.43 am) put to the vote 

the proposal for resolution referred to in the fourth item 

(ordinary part) on the Agenda, which is transcribed below, and 

the Appointed Representative proceeded to announce the votes 
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which he himself tendered based on the voting instructions 

received: 

“Dear Shareholders, 

if you agree with the contents and arguments put forward in this 

report, you are requested to pass the following resolution: 

“In favour, pursuant to and for the purposes of Article 123-ter(6) of 

the TUF, of Section II – of the Annual report on remuneration paid 

in2021 – in order to assess the result of implementing the 

remuneration policy and systems, viewing it in detail and the reason 

for the remuneration of key personnel, any departures from the policy 

and the five-year change in the company’s results, average 

remuneration and fees, considering that the company will provide an 

adequate explanation, in the ”Annual report on remuneration paid in 

’2022”, considering the votes cast”. 

The Meeting approved the resolution by majority vote. 

For: 455,840,979 shares. 

Against: 14,779,539 shares. 

Abstained: 5,016,005 shares. 

Non-voting: 0 shares. 

As per the attached details. 

The Chairman announced the result. 

Upon invitation of the Chairman, I, the Notary Public, read 

out the proposal referred to in the fifth point (ordinary 

part) on the Agenda, as contained in the Report of the Board 

of Directors and which is transcribed below. 

With no one taking the floor and with no changes to those in 

attendance, the Chairman then (at 10.45 am) put to the vote 

the proposal for resolution referred to in the fifth item 

(ordinary part) on the Agenda, which is transcribed below, and 

the Appointed Representative proceeded to announce the votes 

which he himself tendered based on the voting instructions 

received: 

“The Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of FinecoBank S.p.A., having 

heard the proposal of the Board of Directors,  

resolved 

1. to adopt the 2022 Incentive System, which provides for the 

assignment of an incentive, in cash and/or in ordinary free 

FinecoBank shares, to be carried out by April 2028, to selected 

beneficiaries among FinecoBank's Key Personnel in the terms and 

conditions described above; 

2. to grant the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager all 

appropriate powers to implement this resolution and the documents 

that form an integral part of it. This includes making any amendments 

and/or additions that may be necessary to implement the resolutions 

passed by that day's Shareholders' Meeting (provided that they do not 
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alter the substance of the resolution).” 

The Meeting approved the resolution by majority vote. 

For: 464,718,861 shares. 

Against: 10,917,662 shares. 

Abstained: 0 shares. 

Non-voting: 0 shares. 

As per the attached details. 

The Chairman announced the result. 

Upon invitation of the Chairman, I, the Notary Public, read 

out the proposal referred to in the sixth item (ordinary part) 

on the Agenda, as contained in the Report of the Board of 

Directors and which is transcribed below. 

With no one taking the floor and with no changes to those in 

attendance, the Chairman then (at 10.50 am) put to the vote 

the proposal for resolution referred to in the eighth item 

(ordinary part) on the Agenda, which is transcribed below, and 

the Appointed Representative proceeded to announce the votes 

which he himself tendered based on the voting instructions 

received: 

“The Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of FinecoBank S.p.A., 

having heard the proposal of the Board of  

Directors, 

resolved 

1. to adopt the 2022 Incentive System for Financial Advisors 

identified as 'Key Personnel', which provides for the assignment of 

an incentive, in cash and/or ordinary FinecoBank shares, to be 

carried out by July 2027, under the terms and conditions described 

above; 

2. to grant the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager all 

appropriate powers to implement this resolution and the documents 

that form an integral part of it. This includes making any amendments 

and/or additions that may be necessary to implement the resolution 

passed by the Shareholders' Meeting (provided that they do not alter 

the substance of the resolution).” 

The Meeting approved the resolution by majority vote. 

For: 465,043,861 shares. 

Against: 10,592,662 shares. 

Abstained: 0 shares. 

Non-voting: 0 shares. 

As per the attached details. 

The Chairman announced the result. 

Upon invitation of the Chairman, I, the Notary Public, read 

out the proposal referred to in the seventh item (ordinary 

part) on the Agenda, as contained in the Report of the Board 

of Directors and which is transcribed below. 
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With no one taking the floor and with no changes to those in 

attendance, the Chairman then (at 10.55 am) put to the vote 

the proposal for resolution referred to in the seventh item 

(ordinary part) on the Agenda, which is transcribed below, and 

the Appointed Representative proceeded to announce the votes 

which he himself tendered based on the voting instructions 

received: 

'The Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of FinecoBank S.p.A., having 

heard the proposal of the Board of Directors, bearing in mind the 

provisions of articles 2357 and 2357-ter of the Italian Civil Code, 

132 TUF and 114-bis of Consob Regulation 11971/99 

resolved 

1. to authorise the purchase and disposal of a maximum of 260,779 

treasury shares, of a par value of Eurocents 0.33 each, for the 2022 

PFA System, in compliance with the terms and conditions described 

herein, without prejudice to share buy-backs taking place after 

having obtained the required authorisation from the Supervisory 

Authority, pursuant to Articles 77-78, Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 

(CRR) of 26 June 2013 as amended by Regulation (EU) No 2019/876/EU of 

20 May 2019, save for any purchases of treasury shares based on this 

resolution, or in any case in the portfolio of FinecoBank, in excess 

of the shares that would actually be used for the aforesaid 2022 PFA 

System or previous incentive systems that could be used also to be 

assignedfor any future incentive plans; 

2. to grant the Board of Directors and, on its behalf, the Chief 

Executive Officer and General Manager, all appropriate powers to 

implement this resolution and to provide information to the market, 

under applicable regulations.” 

The Meeting approved the resolution by majority vote. 

For: 474,013,474 shares. 

Against: 1,613,347 shares. 

Abstained: 9,702 shares. 

Non-voting: 0 shares. 

As per the attached details. 

The Chairman announced the result. 

*** 

At 11 am, the Chairman declared the ordinary session of the 

meeting closed and then proceeded to the discussion of the 

items on the extraordinary part of the Agenda. 

The Chairman firstly announced that the same attendees were 

present, with a total of 475,636,523 ordinary shares, equal to 

77.95% of the share capital, represented at the Meeting; The 

Chairman thus declared that the Meeting had been duly convened 

and was able to pass resolutions at a single call, also on the 

extraordinary part of the Agenda under the Law and the Bylaws. 
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Considering the close connection between items 1 and 2 on the 

extraordinary part of the Agenda (1. Authority to the Board of 

Directors under article 2443 of the Civil Code granting the right to 

authorise, from time to time and for a maximum of five years from the 

date of the resolution by the Shareholders’ Meeting, a free increase 

of share capital pursuant to Article 2349 of the Civil Code, up to a 

maximum amount of Euro 120,976.02 (to be allocated entirely to 

capital) and issuing a maximum of 366,594 new ordinary FinecoBank 

shares, each with a par value of Euro 0.33, of the same type as those 

in circulation and with regular dividends, to be allocated to the 

2022 Key Personnel of FinecoBank, in execution of the 2022 Incentive 

System; consequent amendments to the Bylaws. 2. Authority to the 

Board of Directors under Article 2443 of the Civil Code granting the 

right to authorise in 2027, a free increase of share capital pursuant 

to Article 2349 of the Civil Code, for a maximum amount of Euro 

35,671.35 corresponding to a maximum of 108,095 ordinary FinecoBank 

shares, each with a par value of Euro 0.33, of the same type as those 

in circulation, with regular dividends, to be allocated to the 2021 

Key Personnel of FinecoBank, in execution of the 2021 Incentive 

System; Consequent amendments to the Bylaws.), the Chairman 

proposed that these matters would be discussed together, but 

that two separate motions would be proposed. 

The Chairman pointed out that the ECB, which had been 

previously informed about the proposals submitted for approval 

by today’s Extraordinary Meeting and of the resulting 

amendments to the Bylaws, had issued its investigatory 

provision, also relevant to Articles 56 and 61 of the Banking 

Consolidation Act – TUB) on 26 April 2022. 

The Chairman therefore invited the Chief Executive Officer and 

General Manager to briefly illustrate the salient aspects of 

the proposals, without reading out the documentation in full, 

since it had been made publicly available prior to the 

shareholders’ meeting in the manner and within the deadlines 

required by law, at the Registered Office and General 

Headquarters of the Company, on the website of Borsa Italiana 

S.p.A, on the storage system authorised and managed by Spafid 

Connect S.p.A., and also on FinecoBank’s website. 

The slides shown by the Chief Executive Officer and General 

Manager are attached to these minutes. 

The Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors declared and 

certified that the shares previously issued had been fully 

paid up. 

Therefore, upon invitation of the Chairman, I, the Notary 

Public, read out the proposals referred to in the first and 

second items (extraordinary part) on the Agenda, as contained 
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in the Report of the Board of Directors and which are 

transcribed below. 

With no one taking the floor and with no changes to those in 

attendance, the Chairman then (at 11.05 am) put to the vote 

the proposals for resolution referred to in the first, second 

and third items (extraordinary part) on the Agenda, which is 

transcribed below, and the Appointed Representative proceeded 

to announce the votes which he himself tendered based on the 

voting instructions received: 

“TheThe Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting of FinecoBank S.p.A.:  

after being informed of the report of the Board of Directors,  

resolved 

“1. to grant the Board of Directors, in accordance with Article 2443 

of the Civil Code, the authority to carry out, in 2027, a free 

increase of share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Civil 

Code, of up to Euro 35,671.35 (thirty-five thousand, six hundred and 

seventy one euros and thirty-five eurocents), corresponding to a 

maximum of 108,095 (one hundred and eight thousand, ninety-five) 

ordinary FinecoBank shares, of a par value of Euro 0.33 (thirty-three 

eurocents) of the same type as those in circulation and with regular 

dividends, to be allocated to the Key Personnel of FinecoBank, in 

execution of the 2021 System approved by the Ordinary Shareholders’ 

Meeting on 28 April 2021. This capital increase would be carried out 

using the special “Reserve connected to the medium/long-term 

incentive system for FinecoBank Personnel”, which, where necessary, 

may be increased through the allocation of the part of the profits or 

the available statutory reserves formed following the allocation of 

the Company’s profits to be identified by the Board of Directors when 

it exercises the authority;  

2. to amend, following the resolution in point 1. above, paragraph 18 of Article 5 of the 

Articles of Association to the following new wording: “The Board of Directors may, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the Civil Code, increase the share capital without a consideration, pursuant 

to Article 2349 of the Civil Code, also on one or more occasions and for a maximum of five 

years i) from the date of the meeting resolution of 28 April 2021, up to a maximum of Euro 

143,131.89, to use entirely as capital, with the issue of up to 433,733 new ordinary 

FinecoBank shares, and (ii) from the date of the meeting resolution of 28 April 2022, up to a 

maximum of Euro 35,671.35 by issuing a maximum of 108,095 new ordinary FinecoBank 

shares; with full allocation to capital at Euro 0.33 per share, equal to the unit nominal value 

of each share, with the same characteristics as those in circulation and with regular 

dividends, to be allocated to the Key Personnel of FinecoBank in execution of the 2021 

Incentive Plan”; 

3. to grant the Board of Directors, pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Civil Code, the authority to approve a free capital increase – on one 

or more occasions and for a maximum period of five years from the 

date of the shareholders' resolution, pursuant to Article 2349 of the 



 This is an English translation of the original Italian document. 

The original version in Italian takes precedence. 

 

 #p#  

Civil Code – for a maximum amount of Euro 120,976.02 (one hundred and 

twenty-eight thousand, nine hundred and seventy-six euros and two 

eurocents), (to be fully applied to the share capital), through the 

issue of a maximum of 366,594 (three hundred and sixty-six thousand, 

five hundred and ninety-four) new Fineco ordinary shares with a par 

value or Euro 0.33 (thirty-three eurocents) each, of the same type as 

those in circulation and with regular dividends, to be allocated to 

the Key Personnel of FinecoBank in implementation of the 2022 System 

approved by today’s ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting”; This capital 

increase would be carried out using the special “Reserve connected to 

the medium/long-term incentive system for FinecoBank Personnel”, 

which, where necessary, may be increased through the allocation of 

the part of the profits or the available statutory reserves formed 

following the allocation of the Company’s profits to be identified by 

the Board of Directors when it exercises the authority;  

4. to introduce the new paragraph 20 in Article 3 of the Bylaws, as 

resolved in point 5 above, with the following wording: “The Board of 

Directors has the power, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Civil Code, to resolve, from time to 

time and for a maximum period of five years from the shareholders' resolution of 28 April 

2022, to increase the share capital free of charge, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Civil Code, 

for a maximum amount of Euro 120,976.02 (to be charged entirely to the share capital), by 

issuing a maximum of 366,594 new ordinary FinecoBank shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 

each, of the same type as those in circulation and with regular dividends, to be allocated to 

FinecoBank's Key Personnel in execution of the 2022 Incentive System”; 

5. to grant the Board of Directors all necessary powers relating to 

the issue of new shares;  

6. to grant the CEO and General Manager all the necessary powers to: 

(i) implement the above resolutions under the terms and conditions of 

the laws and regulations in force; (ii) accept or introduce into 

those resolutions any amendments (provided that they do not alter the 

substance of the resolutions already passed) as necessary to fully 

meet the requirements for registration of the resolution in the 

Companies Register; (iii) arrange for the legal filing and 

registration, with an advance declaration of approval and 

ratification; (iv) make the consequential amendments to Article 5 of 

the Bylaws as per the above resolution”. 

On the proposal referred to in the first item (extraordinary 

part) on the Agenda: the Meeting approved the resolution by 

majority vote. 

For: 472,486,828 shares. 

Against: 3,149,695 shares. 

Abstained: 0 shares. 

Non-voting: 0 shares. 

On the proposal referred to in the second item (extraordinary 

part) on the Agenda: the Meeting approved the resolution by 
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majority vote. 

For: 472,337,859 shares. 

Against: 3,298,664 shares. 

Abstained: 0 shares. 

Non-voting: 0 shares. 

As per the attached details. 

The Chairman announced the result. 

The discussion of the agenda having been completed, and with 

nobody asking to speak, the meeting was declared ended at 

11.15 am. 

*** 

Annexes to these minutes: 

- Slides explaining the items on the agenda, in Annex “A”; 

- Directors' Explanatory Reports on the items on the agenda, 

in Annex “B”; 

- List of attendees and details of the votes, in Annex “C”; 

- Bylaws which incorporate the deliberate amendments, in Annex 

“D”; 

- authorisation to repurchase treasury shares, issued by the 

ECB and the investigatory provision issued by the ECB pursuant 

to Articles 56 and 61 of the TUB, under “E”. 

*** 

These minutes were signed by me as Notary Public at 3 pm. 

 

This document consists 

of eight sheets written by mechanical means by a trusted 

person and by my own hand completed for twenty-eight pages and 

the twenty-ninth hereto.   

 

Signed Carlo Marchetti, Notary Public 
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 Allocation of FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 net profit of the year 

 Disclosure Requirements

 Resolutions to be passed (items 1 and 2 of the Agenda)

Approval of the FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 year-end financial 

statements and presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements



Main observations

3

(1) 2021 non-recurring items: -0.7 mln gross (-0.5 mln net) related to fair value write-down of Voluntary Scheme; realignment of intangible assets: +32.0 mln net; 2020 non-recurring items: -1.4 mln gross (-1.0 mln net) related to fair value write-down of Voluntary

Scheme
(2) Excluding costs strictly related to the growth of the business, mainly FAM (-4.2 mln y/y) and marketing related to UK (-1.1 mln y/y)

 2021 net profit at 380.7 mln (+17.7% y/y)

 2021 net profit adjusted for non-recurring items(1) at 349.2 mln (+7.6% y/y), showing strong growth thanks to the quality

and sustainability of the Bank’s business model

 2021 cost/income ratio adjusted for non-recurring items(1) at 32.2% (-0.3 p.p. y/y) thanks to increase in revenues (804.5

mln, +7.4% y/y), mainly driven by Investing (+29.8% y/y), and cost control (258.9 mln, +4.4% y/y2), confirming the Bank’s

strong operating leverage

 Strong capital position: CET1 ratio at 18.80%, with proposed dividend of €0.39 per share

 Commercial results showing a clear acceleration in 2021, with a sharp improvement in the asset mix:

 Net sales at 10.7 bln (+14.7% y/y), o/w 7.3 bln of assets under management (+69.8% y/y)

 Total Financial Assets at 107.9 bln (+17.7%), with assets under management of 55.5 bln (+22.2% y/y)



excluding non-recurring items(1)

Results
Adjusted net profit 2021 at 349.2 mln, +7.6% y/y thanks to the strong acceleration in Investing, reflecting the new 

dimension of growth achieved by the Bank. Strong operating leverage with cost/income ratio of 32%

Net profit, mln

4

FY203Q214Q20 4Q21 FY21

78.2 72.6 91.5

323.6

380.7

Adjusted RoE (2)

Adjusted cost/income (2)

+17.5%

Revenues, mln

Operating costs, mln

excluding non-recurring items(1)

4Q20 3Q21 4Q21 FY20 FY21

175.9 206.9193.5

747.8 803.8

243.0

4Q20 3Q21 FY21FY204Q21

67.2 61.5 71.3

258.9

+6.2%

+16.1%
+6.5%

91.9

+7.4%

+26.7%

349.2

+7.6%

FY21(3): +4.4% y/y

The yearly increase is mainly linked to costs related to the growth of the business

Systemic costs:

2021: -40.0 mln (gross)

2020: -26.8 mln (gross)

324.5

20%

32%

749.2

20% 25% 21% 22%

38% 34% 32% 32%

804.5

207.6

+18.0%

+7.3%

(1) 2021 non-recurring items: -0.7 million gross, -0.5 million net (4Q21: -0.7 million gross, -0.5 million net) related to fair value write-down of Voluntary Scheme; realignment of intangible assets: +32.0 mln net; 2020 non-recurring items: -1.4 million gross, -1.0 million net

related to fair value write-down of Voluntary Scheme
(2) Adjusted cost/income and RoE calculated net of non-recurring items. ROE calculated as: annualised adjusted net profit divided by average book equity for the period (excl. dividends for which distribution is expected and valuation reserves)
(3) Excluding costs strictly related to business growth, mainly FAM (-4.2 mln y/y) and marketing related to UK (-1.1 mln y/y)



(1) 2021 non-recurring items: 4Q21 -0.7 mln gross (-0.5 mln net) due to Voluntary Scheme; 2Q21 realignment of the intangible assets: 32 mln net; 9M20 non-recurring items: Voluntary Scheme: 3Q20: -0.2 mln gross, -0.2 mln net; 1Q20 -1.2 mln gross, -0.8 mln

net

Revenues by income statement item
Y/y growth in income mainly driven by higher fee and commission income and trading income

Net fee and commission income, mln

5

Financial margin, mln

Trading income, mln

3Q21

64.1

4Q20 4Q21

280.0

FY20 FY21

69.2 62.9

279.7

-1.9%

-9.2%

+0.1%

126.2

57.8

FY20

30.6

3.2

92.6

-0.2

379.4

34.2

26.0

-0.8

71.4

FY21

12.9-0.2

212.4

82.3

13.6-0.2

4Q21

133.5

126.4

49.2
-0.6

450.8

275.9

4Q20 3Q21

31.7

110.1

+36.5%

+14.8%

+18.8%

OtherBankingBrokerage Investing

18.8

4Q20 3Q21 4Q21 FY20 FY21

15.6 18.1

86.8
74.3

excluding non-recurring items (1)

18.9 75.0

-14.9%

+20.7%

+0.1%



Operating costs, mln
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Costs
FY21 characterised by costs directly related to the strong acceleration of the business in the “new normal world”

Staff expenses and FTE, mln

FTE #

4Q20 3Q21 FY204Q21 FY21

27.426.0 29.3
99.5 109.6

12.8%

+7.2%

+10.1%

2021(1): +6.5% y/y

Non HR Costs, mln

34.3 27.66.8 34.97.1

149.3

4Q20

26.26.4

3Q21 4Q21

118.0
25.4

FY20

123.1

FY21

41.1 34.1 42.0
143.5

+2.1%

+23.2% +4.1%

Other administrative expenses

Write-downs/backs & depreciation
243.0

71.3

4Q20 4Q213Q21 FY20 FY21

258.9

67.2 61.5

+6.2%

+16.1%

6.5%

The yearly increase is mainly linked to costs related to the growth of the

business, primarily related to:

• FAM, as it is preparing to further increase the efficiency of the value chain

• Marketing expenses (mainly related to UK, not fully in place in FY20)

Net of these items, 2021(1): +4.4% y/y

2021(1): +2.9% y/y

(1) Excluding costs strictly related to the growth of the business in 2021, mainly:

• Operating costs, FAM (-4.2 mln y/y, o/w -3.6 mln y/y related to Staff Expenses and -0.6 mln y/y related to Non-HR Costs) and marketing related to UK (-1.1 mln y/y).

1.224 1.247 1.264

2021 FAM costs up by 

3.6 mln y/y 

as it is preparing to 

further increase the 

efficiency of the 

Investing value chain



Commercial Loans Portfolio, eop mln
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Continued focus on high quality of lending

Cost of risk on commercial loans (2)

486
504

Sep.21

444
297

326

Dec.20

280

Dec.21

5,008

4,003

5,408

1,591

1,671

1,928

2,314

2,095

2,483

+35.1%

8.0%

Current accounts/Overdrafts (1)

Personal loans Mortgages

Cards

Sep.21Dec.20 Dec.21

10 bps
7 bps

4 bps

 Cost of Risk well under control thanks to the constant

improvement in the quality of credit, which is mainly secured and

low risk

 The Bank’s strategy aims to build a low risk, high quality

lending portfolio, offering these products exclusively to our very

well known base of clients and leveraging our strong internal IT

culture

 NPE at 23.6 mln with a coverage ratio at 82%, NPE ratio at

0.43%

 LLP equal to 1.7 mln in 2021 (3.3 mln in 2020)

 Fewer than 300 mortgage moratoria have been granted, of which

only fewer than 15 are active

(1) Current accounts/overdrafts include Lombard Loans
(2) Cost of Risk: commercial LLP for last 12 months on average commercial loans for last 12 months. Pro-forma figures excluding a non-recurring write-back.

NPE ratio 0.47%0.61% 0.43%
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Capital Ratios

CET1 Ratio, %

Total Capital Ratio, %

RWA, mln

Leverage Ratio, %

1,195 7645

Dec.21

2,573 3,309

Dec.20

1,195

Sep.21

3,315
471,256

3,812 4,580 4,618

+21.1%

+0.8%

OperationalCredit Market

Dec.21Dec.20

4.85

Sep.21

4.024.04

CET1 capital, mln 

Dec.21Sep.21Dec.20

18.80
28.56

18.37

Dec.20 Sep.21 Dec.21

29.6329.29

41.68

(1) Following declarations by ECB (18 June 2021) and Bank of Italy (30 June 2021) temporarily allowing banks, until March 2022, to exclude central bank exposures from their leverage ratio in exceptional macroeconomic circumstances

3.84% w/o temporarily 

excluding exposures 

towards Central Banks 

from the total LR 

exposures (according to 

Article 429a – CRR) (1)

841 8681.089

Before 2019-2020 

dividend payment

Assuming dividend 

proposal of €0.39 per 

share

Assuming dividend 

proposal of €0.39 per 

share

Before 2019-2020 

dividend payment

Before 2019-2020 

dividend payment



TFA breakdown, bln
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Breakdown of Total TFA
Successful shift towards high added value products thanks to strong productivity of the network

Focus on AuM, bln

107.9

Dec.15Dec.16

28%

91.7

69.3

Dec.21

48%

Dec.14

24%

20%
48%

28%

24%

48%

21%

67.2

31%

50%

51%

20%

30%

Dec.17

48%

20%

32%

Dec.18

50%

19%

81.4

31%

Dec.19

49%

31%

60.2

Dec.20

27%

21%

49.3
55.3

AuM AuC Deposits

Dec.20Dec.14

11.8

Dec.15 Dec.16 Dec.17 Dec.18

14.8

Dec.21

33.6
42.3

23.9
26.6

29.0

Dec.19

33.5

8.5

40.5

45.4

55.5

15.4

16.1

12.9

33.4

21.2

12.3

22.4

11.1

28.8

11.7 12.0 13.1

+22.2%

Guided Products AuM à la carte

+31.5 bln AUM since the end of 2014, o/w: 

Guided Products & Services +33.8 bln 

AuM à la carte -2.2 bln

AuC and Deposits under advisory have been reclassified within AuM in order to have a better representation of the advisory nature of Advice and Plus services



Breakdown of Bank Total Net Sales, bln

10

Net sales breakdown
High quality net sales growth with a better mix, on the back of structural trends thanks to our diversified business model

PFA Network – Total Net Sales, bln

2018

3.1

-0.2

1.9

6.2

1.2

2.7

4.3

2015

1.9

-1.0

0.3

2.52.9

2016

4.0

0.5

5.0

1.8

2017

2.3

5.8

2.1

3.3

2019

3.5

2.5

2020

7.3

2014

0.9

1.5

2021

4.0

1.5

5.5
6.0

9.3

10.7

1.9

+14.7%

DepositsAuM AuC

8.0

2014

3.0

1.6
0.9

-0.3

2.6

7.2

20172015

1.9

0.2

2.2

5.55.4

2016

4.0

0.3
1.1

2.3

1.3

1.9

5.1

2018

2.0

3.3

-0.8

4.9

2.6

3.6

2019

4.3

1.7

2020

9.9

1.1

1.6

2021

0.7

4.3

+23.6%

PFA Network - Headcount

2,533 2,622 2,628 2,607 2,578 2,541 2,606

AuC and Deposits under advisory have been reclassified within AuM in order to have a better representation of the advisory nature of Advice and Plus services

2,790



Net sales, bln - Organic/Recruitment %
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82%
89% 89% 90% 93% 95% 96% 92%

18%
11% 11% 10% 7% 8%

2017

5.0

2016 2018

5.8

2014 2015

4%

10.7

5%

2019 2020 2021

5.54.0 6.0 6.2 9.3

Organic

Total recruits

New PFAs recruited in the year

Recruitment costs

(to be amortised)

stock  36.3 mln 

at Dec. 21

74%
81% 81% 86% 85%

91% 93%
87%

26%
19% 19% 14% 15%

9% 7%
13%

2021201920182014

10.7

2017

5.0

2015 20202016

4.0 5.5 6.0 9.36.2 5.8

Total recruits

Organic
PFAs recruited over the last 24 months

# of senior PFAs recruited in the period

Organic growth
The structure of recruiting is changing: more interest in the quality of the business model by PFAs

# of junior PFAs recruited in the period

125 118

155

85 98 70 58 74 116  No change in recruiting policy

 Increase in the spontaneous interest to join Fineco, which emerged as the 

perfect partner for professionals looking to grow in a sustainable way



Agenda
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 Approval of the FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 year-end financial 

statements and presentation of the consolidated financial statements

 Disclosure Requirements

 Resolutions to be passed (items 1 and 2 of the Agenda)

 Allocation of FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 net profit of the year 



Allocation of FinecoBank 2021 net profit of the year

13

On 15 March 2022, the Board of Directors approved the Bank’s draft financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the accompanying

report on operations, which showed a profit for the year of €368,600,823.06, which the Board of Directors proposed to allocate as follows:

 a dividend per share of €0.39 for a total of €237,946,745.40 to the 610,119,860 ordinary shares with a par value of €0.33, constituting the share

capital, including 220,090 shares relating to the capital increase to support the employee incentive scheme approved by the Board of Directors on 9

February 2022;

 €14,525.94 to the Legal Reserve, equal to 0.004% of the profit for the year, due to the reserve having reached one fifth of the share capital;

 €130,639,551.72 to the Extraordinary Reserve.

If the above proposal is approved, the payment of the dividend in the above amount, in accordance with the provisions of law, will be made as follows:

 Coupon detachment: 23 May 2022

 Record date: 24 May 2022

 Payment: 25 May 2022

The Board of Directors specifies that the amount of dividends not distributed in respect of treasury shares held by the Bank on the record date will be

transferred to the Extraordinary Reserve.



Allocation of FinecoBank 2021 net profit of the year

14

Please note that, pursuant to Article 6, paragraph 1, letter a) of Legislative Decree No. 38/2005, a part of the profits for the year corresponding to the

capital gains recognised in the income statement, net of the related tax expense and other than those relating to financial trading instruments and to

foreign exchange and hedging transactions, resulting from the application of the fair value or equity criteria, must be recognised in a non-distributable

reserve. This reserve will be released and allocated to the Extraordinary Reserve in the amount of €4,152,690.75, corresponding to the change in

capital gains, including gains from realisation, recognised in 2021.

The financial statements will show the amount of the negative reserve that includes the losses recognised in the income statement for 2021 as a result of

the equity valuation of Hi-MTF Sim S.p.A., subject to significant influence, for an amount of €26,497.

With regard to the tax realignment of goodwill, the 2021 Stability Law expressly established that the tax realignment provisions of Article 110 of Decree

Law 104 of 2020 with respect to business assets can also be applied to the goodwill and other intangible assets reported in the financial statements at 31

December 2019. In this respect, the Board of Directors, in its meeting of 10 June 2021, resolved to realign the tax values of the goodwill reported in

FinecoBank’s financial statements at 31 December 2019, and still present at 31 December 2020, for a total amount of €89,024,644. As a result of the

aforementioned realignment, a taxability restriction on the Extraordinary Reserve in the event of distribution was recognised for €86,353,904.83,

equal to the amount of the realigned goodwill net of the substitute tax paid.



Agenda

15

 Approval of the FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 year-end financial 

statements and presentation of the consolidated financial statements

 Disclosure Requirements

 Resolutions to be passed (items 1 and 2 of the Agenda)

 Allocation of FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 net profit of the year 



Item 1 on the agenda of the ordinary session
Approval of the FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 year-end financial statements

16

Shareholders are asked to approve the Financial Statements of FinecoBank S.p.A. for the year 2021 as presented by the Board of Directors in full

and all the results presented.

The financial statements are comprised of the balance sheet, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in

shareholders’ equity, the cash flow statement, the notes to the financial statements and the report on operations, for which reference has been made to

the consolidated report on operations, which contains the reclassified financial statements and comments on the Bank’s results for the year.

In addition, the Financial Statements contain:

 The certification of the financial statements pursuant to Article 81-ter of Consob Regulation no. 11971 of 14 May 1999 as amended;

 the Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors, pursuant to Article 153 of Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998;

 the Report of the External Auditors pursuant to Article 14 Legislative Decree no. 39 of 27 January 2010 and Article 10 of Regulation (EU) no.

537/2014



Item 2 on the agenda of the ordinary session
Allocation of the 2021 result of FinecoBank S.p.A.

17

Shareholders are invited to adopt the following resolution, having regard to the decisions taken by the Board of Directors on 15 March 2022:

 pay a dividend per share of €0.39 for a total of €237,946,745.40 to the 610,119,860 ordinary shares with a par value of €0.33, constituting the share

capital, including 220,090 shares relating to the capital increase to support the employee incentive scheme approved by the Board of Directors on 9

February 2022;

 allocate €14,525.94 to the Legal Reserve, equal to 0.004% of the profit for the year, due to the reserve having reached one fifth of the share capital;

 allocate €130,639,551.72 to the Extraordinary Reserve.

The Board of Directors specifies that the portion of dividends not distributed in respect of treasury shares held by the Bank at the record date will be

transferred to the Extraordinary Reserve and the amount of the negative reserve that includes the losses recognised in the income statement for 2021 as

a result of the equity valuation of Hi-MTF Sim S.p.A., subject to significant influence, for an amount of €26,497, will be reported in the financial

statements.
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 Approval of the FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 year-end financial 

statements and presentation of the consolidated financial statements

 Resolutions to be passed (items 1 and 2 of the Agenda)

 Allocation of FinecoBank S.p.A. 2021 net profit of the year 

 Disclosure Requirements



Disclosure requirements for companies awarded engagements

to audit financial statements

19

The information in relation to the disclosure requirements imposed by CONSOB in its Communication no. 96003558 of 18 April 1996 for companies

awarded the engagement to audit financial statements, is provided below.

The Shareholders’ Meeting held on 16 April 2013 approved the reasoned proposal, presented by the Board of Statutory Auditors, to award the engagement

to the company Deloitte & Touche S.p.A., for the period 2013-2021, for the audit the annual financial statements, including verifying that the accounts are

properly kept and that the operating events are correctly recorded in the accounting records, the limited audit of the half-yearly financial statements and the

checks for the signing of the bank’s tax returns, and the related fees on the basis of the hourly rates set at the time of the engagement and updated in

accordance with the ISTAT (Italian statistics institute) data. Given that the Bank has been presenting consolidated financial statements since the year

2017, the engagement also includes the audit of the consolidated financial statements and the limited audit of the half-yearly consolidated financial

statements.

The annual expenditure for the year 2021 (net of out-of-pocket expenses, Consob supervisory contribution and VAT) amounted to a total of €210,923,

corresponding to 3,026 working hours, of which:

audit of the financial statements at 31 December 2021, including checks during the year: fees of €140,128 for 1,995 hours worked;

audit of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2021: fees of €6,187 for 95 hours worked;

Verifications of compliance of the financial statements and the consolidated financial statements with the provisions of Delegated Regulation (EU)

2019/815: fees of €17,500 for 280 hours of work

 limited audit of the condensed half-yearly financial statements at 30 June 2021: fees of €40,683 for 560 hours worked;

 checks for the signing of tax returns in the year 2021: fees of €6,425 for 96 hours worked.



Disclosure requirements for companies awarded engagements

to audit financial statements

20

Lastly, please note that the External Auditors have requested an adjustment of the fees for the year 2021 as a result of the additional activities relating to

the verifications of the compliance of the financial statements and the consolidated financial statements with the provisions of Delegated Regulation (EU)

2019/815 (ESEF Regulation).

The adjustment has been quantified as an increase of €17,500 plus expenses, already included in the breakdown above.
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Agenda Items 3-7

Shareholders’ Meeting, Ordinary Session

Milan, 28 April 2022 
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Agenda

2 0 2 2  S h a r e h o l d e r s ’  M e e t i n g

3.2022 Report on Remuneration Policy. 

4. 2021 Remuneration Report.

5. 2022 Incentive System for Identified Staff.

6. 2022 Incentive System for Personal Financial Advisors classified as “Identified 
Staff”.

7. Authorisation for the purchase and disposal of treasury shares for the 2022 PFA 
System. 

Related and consequent resolutions
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AGENDA ITEMS 3 & 4
3. 2022 Report on Remuneration Policy.

4. 2021 Remuneration Report.
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 The document consists of an Executive Summary , which summarises the elements of the remuneration approach

adopted for 2022 and the main results for 2021, highlighting the data on the variable and fixed remuneration of the CEO

and General Manager. Once again this year – in accordance with widespread market practice – the section is preceded by

the Letter from the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee to Shareholders.

 This is followed by two separate sections, in accordance with Article 123-ter Consolidated Finance Act on which a separate

vote will be cast:

oSection I - 2022 Report on Remuneration Policy (binding vote)

oSection II - 2021 Remuneration Report (advisory non-binding vote)

 The data subject to public disclosure pursuant to Article 450 of Reg. (EC) no. 575/2013 and Article 114-bis of the

Consolidated Finance Act on remuneration plans based on financial instruments is presented in specific Annexes to the

Report.

The 2022 Remuneration policy and report of the FinecoBank Group (Report) sets out the principles for the definition of the 

remuneration systems. 

The Fineco Group’s approach to remuneration, in line with the regulations and best market practice, ensures a link to business 

strategies, long-term shareholder interests, prudent risk management and performance.

Structure

Agenda Items 3-4 - 2022 Remuneration policy and report
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Section I – 2022 Report on Remuneration Policy 

AGENDA ITEM 3

Section I - 2022 Report on Remuneration Policy sets out the Principles for the definition of remuneration systems

consistent with the company values and objectives, including sustainable finance (ESG) principles, with long-term

strategies linked to company results and with prudent risk management policies, in the interest of all stakeholders.

Section I then sets out the Remuneration Structure for Employees and Personal Financial Advisors, with a detailed

description of the items making up the remuneration, the ratio of fixed to variable remuneration, and the process of

identification for the “Identified Staff”, the 2022 Incentive Systems, with a focus on the 2022 scorecard for the CEO,

and the 2021-2023 Long-Term Incentive (LTI) Share Plan for Employees.

Compliance with regulatory

requirements and principles of

good professional conduct, with

the aim of protecting and enhancing

our reputation, as well as preventing

or managing potential conflicts of

interest between roles within the

Bank or involving customers.

Pay for sustainable

performance, maintaining

consistency between

remuneration and

performance and between

remuneration and value

creation, in addition to

recognising the value of

both the results actually

achieved and how they are

achieved.

Clear and

transparent

governance, through

effective

organisational and

corporate governance

structures and clear

and rigorous

governance systems

and rules.

Continuous monitoring of national

and international market trends

and practices, in order to correctly

set competitive remuneration levels,

ensuring internal fairness,

transparency and motivation and

retention of all staff.

.

Alignment with the Group ESG

strategy, geared towards sustainable

and organic growth, with progressive

integration of principles of

environmental and social sustainability

and governance. Particular attention is

also given to the gender neutrality of

the policies.

The key principles of the 2022 Remuneration Policy are detailed below:
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Section II - 2021 Remuneration report

AGENDA ITEM 4

Section II - 2021 Remuneration Report prepared in accordance with Article 123-ter “Consolidated Finance Act” provides

a description of the remuneration practices and the results of the implementation of FinecoBank’s Incentive Systems

and presents the remuneration data with particular regard to the members of the Corporate Bodies, Employees and

Personal Financial Advisors classified as Identified Staff, highlighting the consistency with the business strategy, the

company performance and the sound risk management policy.

The subjects covered in this section are:

 The main results for the year 2021 and the determination of the bonus pool following the achievement of the entry

conditions.

 The description of the role of the Remuneration Committee and the Compliance, Risk Management and Internal

Audit Functions in defining and implementing the 2021 remuneration systems.

 The details of the implementation of the 2021 Incentive Systems and Incentive Systems from previous years

for Employees and Personal Financial Advisors classified as Identified Staff.

 The remuneration and performance structure for the CEO/GM for the year 2021

 The remuneration approved for members of the Board of Directors and Control Bodies.

 Disclosures of remuneration paid pursuant to Article 84-quater of the Issuers’ Regulation in table form.

Pursuant to Article 123-ter of the Consolidated Finance Act, the Shareholders’ Meeting is called upon to pass a non-binding 

resolution on Section II.
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Annexes to the Report

A g e n d a  I t e m s  3 - 4  - 2 0 2 2  R e m u n e r a t i o n  p o l i c y  a n d  r e p o r t

Annex I
Disclosures under Article 450 of 
Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 and 
Implementing Regulation (EU) No. 
637/2021

Qualitative disclosures with a description 
of the main elements of the remuneration 
policy and how they are implemented.

Quantitative disclosures with data on the 
remuneration paid to the Board of 
Directors, Board of Statutory Auditors and 
other employees classified as identified 
staff, and deferred remuneration. 

Annex II
Remuneration plans based on 
financial instruments for 
Finecobank employees

Description of the 2021 Plans and of the 
Plans in execution in 2021 based on 
financial instruments, in accordance with 
the provisions of Article 114-bis of 
Legislative Decree No. 58/1998 and the 
Issuers’ Regulation issued by Consob with 
resolution No. 11971 of 14 May 1999.
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New

Agenda Items 3-4 - 2022 Remuneration policy and report

The Remuneration Policy incorporates the changes made to the regulatory framework for Banks (see Circular No. 285 of

2013, 37th update). The regulatory updates and consequent implementations are listed below.

 Materiality threshold

The materiality threshold previously set at €75,000 has been adjusted in application of the new regulatory

provisions, according to which no deferral applies if the annual variable remuneration is equal to or less than

€50,000 and equal to or less than one third of the total annual remuneration.

 Gender neutrality

The new provisions introduced by Circular No. 285 of 25 November 2021 and the new EU Delegated Regulation

923/2021 on the identification process for personnel whose activities have a significant impact on the Group’s risk

profile have been implemented and applied.

 Process of identification for identified staff

The specific section on gender-neutrality of the Remuneration Policy incorporates the new regulatory provisions

in terms of governance and procedures for calculating the gender pay gap.
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AGENDA ITEM 5
2022 Incentive System for Identified Staff
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Characteristics of the 2022 Incentive System

Item 5 - 2022 Incentive System for Identified Staff

The 2022 Incentive System for Identified Staff, in line with the 2021 System, is characterised by:

 a bonus pool initially determined as a percentage of profit before tax based on budget estimates

 earnings, capital and liquidity entry and malus conditions

 specific individual malus and claw-back conditions

 risk weighting through the CRO Dashboard

 a balanced structure of “immediate” and “deferred” payments in the form of cash and shares

 a free capital increase
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Entry conditions and risk weighting

Item 5 - 2022 Incentive System for Identified Staff

The entry conditions are listed in the table below:

Fineco Entry Conditions

Net Operating Profit adjusted ≥0 and

Net Profit ≥0 and

CET1 Ratio >9.6% (2022 RAF Capacity) and

Liquidity Coverage Ratio >101% (2022 RAF Capacity)

Net Stable Funding Ratio >101% (2022 RAF Capacity)

As in 2021, the entry conditions operate on the basis of an on/off mechanism. If all the entry conditions are met, the bonus pool may

be subject to further adjustment through the CRO Dashboard risk weighting mechanism, whose valuation (based on the

methodology adopted) acts as a multiplier of the bonus pool.

A
Open 100%

B
ZERO FACTOR

−− − = + ++

50% 75% 100% 110% 120%

The additional power of the Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors, allowing them to increase the bonus pool by up to

a further 20% based on actual performance, is also confirmed, while there is no limit to the possibility of reducing the bonus pool.
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Beneficiaries and Payment Schemes

Item 5 - 2022 Incentive System for Identified Staff

 The total number of beneficiaries of the 2022 System is 22*, corresponding to the Identified Staff

 As envisaged by the regulations, no deferral will be applied and the amount will be paid entirely in cash to Identified Staff whose

annual variable remuneration is equal to or less than €50,000 and is equal to or less than one third of the total annual

remuneration

 The payment schemes are unchanged from 2021:

* The total number of FinecoBank’s Identified Staff 2022 is 23, including the CEO of Fineco Asset Management DAC, beneficiary of the Fineco Asset Management DAC 2022 Incentive

System

** Variable remuneration in the year exceeding € 435,000, equal to 25% of the total remuneration of Italian High Earners according to EBA’s Benchmarking and High Earners Report.

The threshold includes both short-term variable remuneration and the annual pro rata share of long-term variable remuneration and is less than 10 times the average total

remuneration of the bank’s employees. As required by the regulations (Circular 285/2013), this threshold has been set for the three-year period 2022-2024

CEO and GM and other roles 

provided by law with a significant 

amount of variable remuneration**

PAYMENT

Upfront N+1 N+2 N+3 N+4 N+5 Total

Cash 20% 12% 12% 44%

Shares 20% 12% 12% 12% 56%

Identified staff with no “significant” 

amount of total variable 

remuneration

PAYMENT

Upfront N+1 N+2 N+3 N+4 Total

Cash 30% 10% 10% 50%

Shares 30% 10% 10% 50%

Regulatory roles with low variable 

remuneration
PAYMENT

Upfront N+1 N+2 N+3 N+4 N+5 Total

Cash 25% 10% 10% 45%

Shares 25% 10% 10% 10% 55%
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AGENDA ITEM 6
6. 2022 Incentive System for Personal Financial Advisors classified as “Identified Staff”
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Characteristics of the 2022 Incentive System

Item 6 - 2022 Incentive System for Personal Financial Advisors classified as “Identified Staff”

The 2022 PFA System – in addition to retaining and incentivising beneficiaries – confirms the alignment with national and

international regulatory requirements and has the following key elements:

 based on a bonus pool initially determined as a percentage of profit before tax based on budget estimates

 subject to earnings, capital and liquidity entry and malus conditions

 subject to specific individual conditions of compliance, with the PFA scoring system and the claw-back clause

 risk-weighted considering the CRO Dashboard assessed according to the defined methodology

 composed of a balanced structure of “immediate” and “deferred” payments in the form of cash and shares that will be

purchased on the market
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Entry conditions and risk weighting

Item 6 2022 Incentive System for Personal Financial Advisors classified as “Identified Staff”

The entry conditions are listed in the table below:

Fineco Entry Conditions

Net Operating Profit adjusted ≥0 and

Net Profit ≥0 and

CET1 Ratio >9.6% (2022 RAF Capacity) and

Liquidity Coverage Ratio >101% (2022 RAF Capacity)

Net Stable Funding Ratio >101% (2022 RAF Capacity)

As in 2021, the entry conditions operate on the basis of an on/off mechanism. If all the entry conditions are met, the bonus pool may

be subject to further adjustment through the CRO Dashboard risk weighting mechanism, whose valuation (based on the

methodology adopted) acts as a multiplier of the bonus pool.

A
Open 100%

B
ZERO FACTOR

The additional power of the Remuneration Committee and the Board of Directors, allowing them to increase the bonus pool by up to

a further 20% based on actual performance, is also confirmed, while there is no limit to the possibility of reducing the bonus pool.

−− − = + ++

50% 75% 100% 110% 125%
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Beneficiaries and Payment Schemes

Item 6 - 2022 Incentive System for Personal Financial Advisors classified as “Identified Staff”

The beneficiaries of the 2022 PFA System are the Personal Financial Advisors classified as Identified Staff, namely:

 Personal Financial Advisors with a total remuneration greater than or equal to €750,000 in the last year

 with regard to PFAs in a managerial role, Managers were identified who coordinate Advisors with total assets greater than or

equal to 5% of the total assets attributable to the Network.

The total number of beneficiaries is 15.

No deferral will be applied and the amount will be paid entirely in cash to PFA Identified Staff whose annual non-recurring

remuneration is equal to or less than €50,000 and is equal to or less than one third of the total annual remuneration;

The payment of bonuses includes mechanisms of deferral over several years:

* Variable remuneration in the year exceeding € 435,000, equal to 25% of the total remuneration of Italian High Earners according to EBA’s Benchmarking and High Earners

Report. The threshold includes both short-term variable remuneration and the annual pro rata share of long-term variable remuneration and is less than 10 times the average

total remuneration of the bank’s employees. As required by the regulations (Circular 285/2013), this threshold has been set for the three-year period 2022-2024.

IDENTIFIED STAFF WITH A 

SIGNIFICANT AMOUNT OF 

VARIABLE REMUNERATION*

PAYMENT

Upfront N+1 N+2 N+3 N+4 Total

Cash 20% 5% 5% 10% 10% 50%

Shares 20% 15% 15% 50%

OTHER IDENTIFIED STAFF PAYMENT

Upfront N+1 N+2 N+3 N+4 Total

Cash 30% 10% 10% 50%

Shares 30% 10% 10% 50%
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AGENDA ITEM 7
Authorisation for the purchase and disposal of treasury shares for the 2022 PFA System
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Authorisation for the purchase and disposal of treasury shares for the 

2022 PFA System

AGENDA ITEM 7

To implement the 2022 Incentive System for the Personal Financial Advisors classified as Identified Staff, it is necessary to

request the Shareholders’ Meeting to issue the authorisation, pursuant to and in accordance with Article 2357 of the Italian Civil

Code, for the purchase on the market and the disposal of treasury shares.

The proposal envisages that the Board of Directors be granted the power to carry out repeated and successive purchases and sales

(or other acts of disposal) of treasury shares on a revolving basis, also for fractions of the maximum authorised amount, so that, at

all times, the amount of shares subject to the proposed purchase and in the ownership of the Company does not exceed the limits

set by law and the authorisation from the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The request for authorisation concerns a maximum of 260,779 ordinary shares, equal to 0.04% of the share capital and,

therefore, well below the maximum threshold of 20% envisaged by the applicable regulations.

It is proposed that the purchase authorisation be granted for a period of 18 months from the date of approval by the Shareholders’

Meeting, subject to the authorisations from the Supervisory Authority.
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Related and consequent 

resolutions
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Agenda Item 3 – Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting

Related and consequent resolutions

Shareholders are invited to pass the following resolutions:

1. to approve – also pursuant to Article 123-ter, paragraphs 3-bis and 3-ter of the Consolidated Finance Act – Section I – The

FinecoBank Group’s 2022 Report on Remuneration Policy, which sets out the Fineco Group’s principles for the definition,

implementation and monitoring of the remuneration systems for members of the Board of Directors, the Control Body, employees and

personal financial advisors authorised for door-to-door selling, also setting out the procedural conditions for the application of any

exemptions to the policy in exceptional circumstances.

2. to grant the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager with all the necessary powers to make any and all additions and

amendments to the above-mentioned 2022 Report on Remuneration Policy that may be required by the competent supervisory

authorities or that may become necessary as a result of changes in the applicable legislative and/or regulatory framework, as well as

any amendments that do not alter the substance of the document.



21 FinecoBank S.p.A. - Internal Use Only21

Agenda Item 4 – Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting

Related and consequent resolutions

Shareholders are asked to resolve:

In favour, pursuant to and for the purposes of Article 123-ter, paragraph 6, of the Consolidated Finance Act, on Section II - 2021

Remuneration Report in order to assess the result of the implementation of the remuneration policy and systems, taking into account

the details and criteria underlying the remuneration of the identified staff, any exceptions to the policy and the five-year change in the

company results, average remuneration and remuneration of the identified staff, considering that the company will provide an

explanation, in the “2022 Remuneration Report”, of how it took into account the vote cast.
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Agenda Item 5 – Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting

Related and consequent resolutions

Shareholders are asked to resolve:

1. to adopt the 2022 Incentive System, which provides for the assignment of an incentive, in cash and/or in free ordinary FinecoBank

shares, by April 2028, to FinecoBank’s Identified Staff under the terms and conditions described above;

2. to grant the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager all the necessary powers to execute this resolution and the documents

forming an integral part of it, also by making any amendments and/or additions that may be necessary to implement the resolutions

passed by today’s Shareholders’ Meeting (provided they do not alter the substance of the resolution).
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Agenda Item 6 – Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting

Related and consequent resolutions

Shareholders are asked to resolve:

1. to adopt the 2022 Incentive System for the Personal Financial Advisors classified as “Identified Staff”, which provides for the

assignment of an incentive, in cash and/or ordinary FinecoBank shares, by July 2027, in accordance with the terms and procedures

described above;

2. to grant the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager all the necessary powers to implement this resolution and the

documents forming an integral part of it, also by making any amendments and/or additions that may be necessary to implement the

resolutions passed by the Shareholders’ Meeting (provided they do not alter the substance of the resolution).
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Agenda Item 7 – Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting

Related and consequent resolutions

Shareholders are asked to resolve:

1. to authorise the purchase and disposal of up to a maximum of 260,779 treasury shares, with a par value of €0.33 each, to service

the 2022 PFA System, in accordance with the terms and conditions described above, it being understood that the share buy-backs

may be carried out subject to the required authorisation from the Supervisory Authority, in accordance with Articles 77-78 of

Regulation EU No. 575/2013 (CRR) of 26 June 2013 as amended by Regulation 2019/876/EU of 20 May 2019, it being understood

that any treasury shares purchased in accordance with this resolution, or in any event held by FinecoBank, that are in excess of

those that will be effectively used to service the aforementioned 2022 PFA System or previous incentive systems may also be used

for their allocation to service any future incentive plans;

2. to grant the Board of Directors and, on its behalf, the CEO and General Manager, all the necessary powers to implement this

resolution and make the disclosure to the market, in accordance with the applicable regulations.
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Agenda Items 1 and 

2

Shareholders’ Meeting, Extraordinary 

Session

Milan, 28 April 2022 
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Agenda

2022 Shareholders’ Meeting

1. Delega di aumento di capitale al servizio del Sistema Incentivante 2022

2. Delega di aumento di capitale al servizio del Sistema Incentivante 2021

Deliberazioni inerenti e conseguenti
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Agenda Item 1
1. Authority for capital increase to service the 2022 Incentive System
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Authority for capital increase to service the 2022 Incentive System

Agenda Item 1

With regard to item 1 on the Agenda, please note the following:

 On 18 January 2022, the Board of Directors, taking into account the positive opinion provided by the Remuneration Committee,

resolved to submit to the Shareholders’ Meeting the 2022 Incentive System, which has already been approved by today’s

Shareholders’ Meeting in ordinary session.

 The 2022 Incentive System envisages the payment of incentives over a multi-year period (2023-2028) through a balanced

structure of immediate and deferred payments, both in cash and in FinecoBank ordinary shares, upon the occurrence of the

conditions set out in the plan.

 Given that part of the incentives under the 2022 Incentive System consist of FinecoBank shares, the Shareholders’ Meeting in

Extraordinary Session is invited to grant authority to the Board of Directors to carry out the free capital increase necessary for

the issue of those shares.

 With reference to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, considering the number of beneficiaries and the total number of shares to

be awarded, the ordinary capital increase for the 2022 System to be carried out within five years from the date of the

shareholders’ resolution (i.e. by 2027), will be equal to a maximum nominal amount of €120,976.02 corresponding to a

maximum number of 366,594.00 FinecoBank ordinary shares, to be awarded to FinecoBank’s personnel. This increase will be

carried out using the special reserve, “Reserve connected to the medium/long-term incentive system for FinecoBank Personnel”,

specifically set up for that purpose.

 The maximum number of shares to be granted to FinecoBank’s personnel in execution of the 2022 System is 451,206 including

84,612 shares for the award of the last share tranche scheduled for 2028, for which a proposal for the supplementation of the

above-mentioned authority will be submitted to a subsequent Shareholders’ Meeting.

 The maximum impact of the 2022 System on FinecoBank’s share capital will be approximately 0.07%, assuming that all the free

shares are awarded to the employees.
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Agenda Item 2
Authority for capital increase to service the 2021 Incentive System
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Authority for capital increase to service the 2021 Incentive System

Agenda Item 2

With regard to item 2 on the Agenda, please note the following:

 the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on 28 April 2021 approved the 2021 Incentive System aimed at awarding an incentive,

in cash and/or in free ordinary shares, to be paid to FinecoBank’s Key Personnel, over the period 2022-2027, through a

balanced structure of “immediate” payments (i.e. made at the time of the performance evaluation) and “deferred” payments.

 During that meeting, the Shareholders resolved, in an extraordinary session, to grant the Board of Directors authority to issue

the free ordinary shares necessary to implement the 2021 System.

 Pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, the authority to the Directors to increase the capital may not be granted for a

period of more than five years from the date of registration of the related shareholders’ resolution (i.e. until 2026). Therefore, at

the time of the above-mentioned resolution, the shareholders were asked to submit a proposal to a subsequent Shareholders’

Meeting to grant a further authority for the award of the last tranche of shares to be carried out in 2027, in accordance with the

provisions of the 2021 System.

 In light of the above, it is proposed that today’s Shareholders’ Meeting grant the Board of Directors an authority, exercisable in

2027, to increase the share capital by a maximum of 108,095 ordinary shares, corresponding to a maximum of €35,671.35

calculated on the basis of the unit par value of the FinecoBank shares of €0.33, making the consequent amendments to the

Articles of Association.

 The above-mentioned capital increase will be carried out using the special reserve, “Reserve connected to the medium/long-

term incentive system for FinecoBank Personnel”, specifically set up for that purpose, which, where necessary, may be

increased through the allocation of the part of the profits or available statutory reserves formed following the allocation of the

Company’s profits to be identified by the Board of Directors when it exercises the authority.
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Related and consequent 

resolutions
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Agenda items 1 and 2 - Extraordinary General Meeting

Related and consequent resolutions

Shareholders are invited to pass the following resolutions:

1. to grant the Board of Directors, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, the authority to approve a free share capital

increase, in 2027, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, for a maximum amount of €35,671.35 corresponding to a

maximum number of 108,095 ordinary FinecoBank shares, with a par value of €0.33 per share, having the same characteristics as

the outstanding shares and regular dividend entitlement, to be awarded to FinecoBank’s Key Personnel, in order to complete the

execution of the 2021 System approved by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 28 April 2021. This capital increase will be carried

out using the special “Reserve connected to the medium/long-term incentive system for FinecoBank Personnel”, which, where

necessary, may be increased through the allocation of the part of the profits or the available statutory reserves formed following the

allocation of the Company’s profits to be identified by the Board of Directors when it exercises the authority;

2. to amend, following the resolution in point 1. above, paragraph 18 of Article 5 of the Articles of Association to the following new

wording:

“The Board of Directors may, in accordance with Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, to increase the share capital free of charge,

under Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, also on several occasions and for a maximum period of five years i) from the

shareholders’ resolution of 28 April 2021, for a maximum amount of €143,131.89, to be allocated entirely to capital, with the issuance

of a maximum of 433,733 new ordinary FinecoBank shares, and ii) from the shareholders’ resolution of 28 April 2022 for a maximum

amount of €35,671.35 with the issue of a maximum of 108,095 new ordinary FinecoBank shares; with full allocation to capital at €0.33

per share, equal to the unit nominal value of each share, with the same characteristics as those in circulation and with regular

dividends, to be allocated to the Key Personnel of FinecoBank for the purposes of the 2021 Incentive System”.
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Agenda items 1 and 2 - Extraordinary General Meeting

Related and consequent resolutions

(continued)

3. to grant the Board of Directors, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, the power to pass a resolution - also on several

occasions and for a maximum period of five years from the date of the shareholders’ resolution - on a free share capital increase,

pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, for a maximum of €120,976.02 (to be allocated entirely to share capital) through the

issue of up to 366,594 new ordinary FinecoBank shares with a par value of €0.33 each, with the same characteristics as those in

circulation and regular dividend entitlement, to be assigned to FinecoBank’s Key Personnel in execution of the 2022 System

approved by today’s ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting. This capital increase will be carried out using the special “Reserve connected to

the medium/long-term incentive system for FinecoBank Personnel”, which, where necessary, may be increased through the allocation

of the part of the profits or the available statutory reserves formed following the allocation of the Company’s profits to be identified by

the Board of Directors when it exercises the authority;

4. following the resolution passed in accordance with point 3 above, to introduce a new paragraph 20 into Article 5 of the Articles of

Association with the following wording:

“The Board of Directors may, in accordance with Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, authorise, on multiple occasions for a period of

up to five years from the date of the Meeting resolution on 28 April 2022, a free increase of share capital, in accordance with Article

2349 of the Italian Civil Code, for a maximum of €120,976.02 (to be allocated entirely to share capital) through the issue of up to

366,594 new ordinary FinecoBank shares with a par value of €0.33 each, with the same characteristics as those in circulation and

regular dividend entitlement, to be assigned to FinecoBank’s Key Personnel in execution of the 2022 Incentive System”.
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Agenda items 1 and 2 - Extraordinary General Meeting

Related and consequent resolutions

(continued)

5. to grant the Board of Directors all necessary powers relating to the issue of new shares

6. to grant the CEO and General Manager all the necessary powers to:

(i) implement the above resolutions under the terms and conditions of the laws and regulations in force;

(ii) accept or introduce into those resolutions any amendments (provided that they do not alter the substance of the resolutions

already passed) as necessary to fully meet the requirements for registration of the resolution in the Companies Register;

(iii) arrange for the legal filing and registration, with an advance declaration of approval and ratification;

(iv) make the consequent amendments to Article 5 of the Articles of Association, as per the above resolution”.
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ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

APPROVAL OF THE FINECOBANK S.P.A. 2021 YEAR-END FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

 

ALLOCATION OF FINECOBANK S.P.A. 2021 NET PROFIT OF THE YEAR. 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

We have called this Ordinary meeting to resolve, inter alia, on the approval of the 2021 year-end 

Financial Statements and the allocation of the net profit for the year 2021 of FinecoBank S.p.A. (the 

“Company” or “FinecoBank”). 

In connection with the above, the proposals submitted for your approval are described below. 

 

1. APPROVAL OF THE 2021 YEAR-END FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ALLOCATION OF 

FINECOBANK S.P.A. 2021 NET PROFIT OF THE YEAR 

 

We submit for your approval the Financial Statements 2021 of the Parent Company FinecoBank, in all 

of its parts and findings, and the proposed allocation of the net profit for the year 2021, which amounts 

to Euro 368,600,823.06, as follows: 

(i) a dividend per share of Euro 0.39, for a total of Euro 237,946,745.40 to the 610,119,860 ordinary 

shares with a par value of Euro 0.33, making up the share capital and including 220,090 shares 

resulting from the share capital increase in support of the incentive systems for employees 

approved by the Board of Directors on February 9th, 2022; 

(ii)  Euro14,525.94 to the Legal Reserve, corresponding to 0.004% of the profit for the year, having 

reached the limit of one-fifth of the share capital; 

(iii)  Euro130,639,551.72 to the Extraordinary Reserve. 

The dividend will be paid, in accordance with applicable laws, on May 25th, 2022 with an “ex-dividend” 

date on May 23rd, 2022. Pursuant to Art. 83- terdecies of Legislative Decree no. 58 of February 24th, 

1998 (“Consolidated Law on Finance”), those who are shareholders on the basis of the accounting 

records at the end of the accounting day of May 24th, 2022 (“record date”) will therefore be entitled to 

receive the dividend. 

The Board of Directors clarifies that the portion of undistributed dividends with respect to the treasury 

shares held by the Bank at the abovementioned record date, will be transferred to the Extraordinary 

Reserve. 

Please note that, pursuant to Article 6, paragraph 1, letter a) of Legislative Decree 38/2005, a portion of 

net profit corresponding to capital gains recognised in the income statement, net of the related tax charge 
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and other than the net income from trading financial instruments and foreign exchange and hedging 

transactions, arising from application of the fair value or shareholders' equity criteria, must be recorded 

in an unavailable reserve. This reserve will be released and allocated to the Extraordinary Reserve for 

an amount of Euro 4,152,690.75, corresponding to the change of capital gains, also following realization, 

recognized in the year 2021. 

It should be noted that accounting evidence will be provided of the amount of the negative reserve which 

includes the losses recognized in the income statement for the year 2021 as a result of the shareholders' 

equity criteria in the evaluation of the company Hi-MTF Sim S.p.A., subject to significant influence, for 

an amount of Euro 26,497. 

With reference to the fiscal realignment of goodwill, please note that the 2021 Stability Law expressly 

acknowledged the possibility of also applying to goodwill and other intangible assets reported in the 

financial statements as at 31 December 2019 the tax realignment provisions provided for by Article 110 

of Decree-Law No. 104 of 2020 with respect to business assets. In this regard, the Board of Directors in 

its meeting held on June 10th, 2021 approved the fiscal realignment of goodwill recorded in the financial 

statements of FinecoBank at 31 December 2019 and still present as at 31 December 2020 for a total 

amount of Euro 89,024,644. Following the aforementioned realignment, a taxability restriction on the 

Extraordinary Reserve in the event of distribution was recognised for Euro 86,353,904.83, equal to the 

amount of the realigned goodwill net of the substitute tax paid.  

The documentation referred to in art. 154-ter of the TUF will be made available to the public at least 

twenty-one days before the date of the Shareholders' Meeting in single call (i.e. by 6 April 2022). 

 

2. RESOLUTIONS PROPOSED TO THE ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING 

 

 Dear Shareholders, 

 if you agree with the contents shown in this report, we invite you to adopt the following resolution: 

1. to approve the FinecoBank S.p.A. Financial Statements for the year 2021, in all of its parts and 

findings; 

2. to approve the allocation of the net profit for the year of Euro 368,600,823.06, as follows: (i) a 

dividend per share of Euro 0.39, corresponding to total Euro 237,946,745.40 to the 610,119,860 

ordinary shares with a par value Euro 0.33 each, making up the share capital and including 220,090 

shares resulting from the share capital increase in support of the incentive systems for employees 

approved by the Board of Directors on February 9th, 2022; (ii) Euro 14,525.94 to the Legal Reserve, 

corresponding to 0.004% of the profit for the year, having reached the limit of one-fifth of the share 

capital; (iii) Euro 130,639,551.72 to the Extraordinary Reserve. 
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ORDINARY SHAREHOLDER’S MEETING 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

2022 REMUNERATION POLICY 

Dear Shareholders, 

We called you at the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting to submit to you the proposal for approval 

of Section I “2022 remuneration policy” – item 3 on the Agenda – of "FinecoBank Group Remuneration 

policy and report", reported in the attached document which forms an integral part of this Report, 

prepared in compliance with the provisions of art. 123-ter of Legislative Decree 58/98 (also “TUF”) and 

of Bank of Italy Circular no. 285 of 17 December 2013 on the "Supervisory Provisions for Banks" 

(hereafter, the "Supervisory Provisions"). Such provisions require that the ordinary Shareholders' 

Meeting approves, among other things, Section I – 2022 remuneration policy for the members of the 

Board of Directors, members of the Supervisory Board, employees and staff not linked to the company 

by an employment relationships (in FinecoBank, the financial advisors authorized to offer off-site 

services), and holds an advisory vote with reference to item 4 on the Ordinary meeting Agenda, on 

Section II – 2021 remuneration report. The approval of the compensation policy and incentive systems 

attests their consistency with respect to prudent risk management and long-term strategies, also 

providing for a correct balance between the fixed and variable components of the remuneration as 

required by the applicable regulations and, with regard to the latter, risk weighting systems and 

mechanisms aimed at ensuring the connection of the remuneration with actual and lasting results. 

Therefore, it is proposed that this Shareholders' Meeting approves Section I – 2022 remuneration 

policy, which illustrates principles that FinecoBank Group applies to develop, implement and monitor 

the compensation systems. The proposal was formulated by the Human Resources function, with the 

contribution, among others, of the Compliance, CRO, CFO and Network Control, Monitoring and 

Network Services functions, according to the area of expertise. 
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1. 2022 REMUNERATION POLICY   

The fundamentals of the Group’s compensation policy, as illustrated in Section I – 2022 remuneration 

policy are summarized below: 

(a) clear and transparent governance; 

(b) continuous monitoring of market trends and practices and motivation and retention of all staff, 

with particular focus on talents and mission-critical resources; 

(c) alignment with the Group's ESG strategy; 

(d) compliance with regulatory requirements and principles of good professional conduct; 

(e) pay for sustainable performance;  

 

Furthermore, in line with national and international regulations, the main contents of Section I are:   

(a) performance targets set for the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager for the year 2022, 

confirming the focus on ESG topics and sustainable development; 

(b) implementation of any applicable regulatory update; 

(c) the ratio between variable remuneration and fixed remuneration. In particular, for employees 

belonging to business functions, the maximum level of 2:1 - approved by the Fineco Shareholders' 

Meeting of 5 June 2014 – remains unchanged; for the rest of the staff a maximum ratio of 1:1 is 

generally applies. The variable remuneration of the Corporate Control Functions Identified Staff 

cannot exceed one third of the fixed remuneration. The remuneration of the Head of Human 

Resources and the Manager in charge of the financial statements is predominantly fixed. With 

regard to Financial Advisors Identified Staff, a ratio of 2:1 applies between the so-called non-

recurring remuneration and the recurring remuneration. The adoption of the 2:1 ratio between 

variable and fixed remuneration has no implications on the Bank's ability to continue to comply 

with prudential rules and in particular with regard to own funds requirements; 

(d) information on the role and activities of the Remuneration Committee, as well as the role of the 

Compliance, Internal Audit and Risk Management functions;  

(e) the identification of the 2022 Identified Staff for both employees and Financial Advisors; 

(f) a description of the 2022 Incentive Systems for Identified Staff (employees and Financial 

Advisors) and modus operandi; 

 

*  *  * 
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2. RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED TO THE ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

If you share the contents and the arguments presented in this Report, we invite you to take the 

following resolutions:  

 

“The Ordinary Shareholder’s Meeting of FinecoBank S.p.A., considering the Directors’ Report drafted 

according to art. 123-ter of Legislative Decree n. 58/1998 and other applicable regulations, 

DECIDE 

1. to approve - also pursuant to art. 123-ter, paragraph 3-bis and 3-ter of TUF – Section I - 2022 

remuneration policy of FinecoBank Group, that establishes the principles that Fineco Group 

applies in defining, implementing and monitoring the remuneration systems for the members of 

the Board of Directors, the members of the Supervisory Board, the employees and Financial 

Advisors authorized to offer off-site services, as well as the procedural conditions for possible 

derogations to the policy in case of exceptional circumstances; 

2. to grant the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager all the appropriate powers to bring 

additions and amendments to the aforementioned 2022 Remuneration policy and report, as it 

might be required by the competent supervisory authorities or as it might be necessary in view of 

changes in the relevant regulatory/legislative framework, as well as to adopt any adjustment that 

won’t change the substance of the document.” 
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ORDINARY SHAREHOLDER’S MEETING 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

2021 REMUNERATION REPORT 

Dear Shareholders, 

We called you at the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting in order to hold an advisory vote on Section 

II – “2021 remuneration report” – item 4 on the Agenda – of the "2022 FinecoBank Group Remuneration 

policy and report" reported in the attached document which forms an integral part of this Report, 

prepared in compliance with the provisions of art. 123-ter of Legislative Decree 58/98 (also “TUF”) and 

of Bank of Italy Circular no. 285 of 17 December 2013 on the "Supervisory Provisions for Banks" 

(hereafter, the "Supervisory Provisions"). Such provisions require that the ordinary Shareholders' 

Meeting approves, among other things, Section I – 2022 remuneration policy for the members of the 

Board of Directors, the members of the Supervisory Board, the employees and staff not linked to the 

company by an employment relationships (in FinecoBank, the financial advisors authorized to offer off-

site services) – item 3 on the Ordinary meeting Agenda – and holds an advisory vote on Section II – 

2021 remuneration report. The approval of the compensation policy and incentive systems attests their 

consistency with respect to prudent risk management and long-term strategies, also providing for a 

correct balance between the fixed and variable components of the remuneration as required by the 

applicable regulations; with regard to the latter, risk weighting systems and mechanisms aimed at 

ensuring the connection of the remuneration with actual and lasting results. 

Therefore, shareholders are invited to hold an advisory vote on the information regarding the 

implementation of the 2021 FinecoBank Group compensation policy approved by the Shareholders' 

Meeting on April 28th 2021 and included in Section II – 2021 remuneration report. 
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1. 2021 REMUNERATION REPORT 

Section II – 2021 remuneration report, namely for the members of administrative and control bodies and 

for general managers and in an aggregated form for the executives with strategic responsabilities, 

provides an adequate representation of each remuneration component, pointing out its consistency with 

the company’s compensation policy in the referred financial year. Moreover Section II analytically 

explains the remuneration awarded in the referred financial year by the company and by its subsidiaries 

or controlled companies for any reason and in any form, highlighting the compensation components that 

are likely to be referred to activities carried out in previous financial years and, as well, highlighting the 

compensation that has to be awarded in one or more of the following financial years in view of the 

activities carried out in the referred financial year, possibly stating an estimated value for the 

components that are not objectively measureable in the referred financial year. 

In line with national and international regulations, the main contents of the 2021 remuneration report 

are: 

(a) a description of the execution of the 2021 Incentive Systems for Identified Staff (employees and 

Financial Advisors); 

(b) remuneration structure and performance of the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager 

for the 2021 Financial Year; 

(c) a detailed focus on the execution of previous years’ short-term and long-term Incentive Systems 

for Identified Staff (employees and Financial Advisors), subject to the achievement of the 

relevant entry conditions; 

(d) a complete disclosure of the data requested by national and international regulators. 

According to art. 123-ter, par. 6 of TUF the Shareholders’ Meeting is required to hold an advisory vote 

on the aforementioned Section II. The vote is not binding.  

 

*  *  * 

2. RESOLUTION SUBMITTED TO THE ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING 

Dear Shareholders, 

If you share the contents and the arguments presented in this Report, we invite you to decide: 

 

”Favorably, pursuant to art. 123-ter, paragraph 6 of TUF, on Section II – 2021 remuneration report in 

order to assess the results of the execution of the policy and the remuneration systems, with an overview 

on details and reasons for the remuneration awarded to Identified Staffs, on possible derogations to the 

policy and on the company’s results and the average compensation in the last five years, considering 

that the company will anyway provide a detailed explanation, in the 2022 remuneration report, on how 

the vote has affected its practices.” 
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ORDINARY SHAREHOLDER’S MEETING 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

ON 

2022 INCENTIVE SYSTEM FOR IDENTIFIED STAFF EMPLOYEES 

 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

We have called you to the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting to submit for your approval the 2022 

Incentive System aimed at granting an incentive, in cash and / or in free ordinary shares, to be paid over 

a multi-year period to FinecoBank Identified Staff employees, according to the methods described below 

and subject to the achievement of specific performance targets (hereafter, the "2022 System" or "2022 

Incentive System"). 

This proposal is prepared in compliance with the provisions of art. 125-ter and art. 114-bis of 

the Legislative Decree no. 58, 24 February 1998, and also taking into account the implementing rules 

issued by Consob regarding the allocation of compensation plans based on financial instruments to 

corporate officers, employees or independent contractors; moreover, in compliance with the 

aforementioned provisions, the information document pursuant to art. 84-bis of Consob Regulation 

11971/99 and subsequent amendments were made available to the public within the terms of the law and 

to which reference should be made for the detailed description of the Incentive System illustrated in this 

Report. 

The proposal is in line with Fineco’s Remuneration Policy, with the provisions issued by Bank 

of Italy on remuneration and incentive policies and practices1, which implement the provisions of the 

Directive 2013/36/EU (Capital Requirements Directive or CRD IV as modified by Directive 

2019/878/UE), as well as the guidelines issued by the EBA (European Banking Authority). In this regard, 

it should be noted that, in compliance with the aforementioned provisions, the Shareholders' Meeting of 

FinecoBank has set the ratio between the variable remuneration component and the fixed remuneration 

component to 2:1 for employees belonging to the business functions, except applying a lower ratio when 

required by the applicable legislation.  

 

 

1. 2022 INCENTIVE SYSTEM FOR IDENTIFIED STAFF EMPLOYEES 

GOALS 

The 2022 System aims at incentivizing, retaining and motivating the beneficiaries, in compliance 

with the provisions issued by national and international authorities targeting - in the interest of all 

stakeholders - remuneration systems that are: aligned with the company’s long-term strategies and 

objectives, linked to company results, risks adjusted in order to meet both capital and liquidity 

requirements needed to sustain the business and, in any case, designed to avoid incentives that could 

                                                 
1 Circular no. 285 of  2013 
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drive excessive risk taking behavior for the bank and the system in its whole or lead to violations of the 

law. 

 

BENEFICIARIES 

The following potential beneficiaries of the 2022 System have been classified - in line with the 

criteria defined by the current regulation - as "Identified Staff": 

 the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager (CEO/GM), the Deputy General Managers 

(DGM), the Executive Vice President (EVP), the Senior Vice President (SVP); 

 other selected roles (including new hires) identified by applying the quantitative and qualitative 

criteria established by the regulatory provisions. 

The total number of beneficiaries, as of 18 January 2022, is 222. 

 

ELEMENTS OF THE 2022 SYSTEM  

Below, the main elements of the 2022 system. In particular: 

(a) in line with the approach adopted in 2021, the 2022 System is based on the concept of "bonus pool" 

for determining the variable remuneration that will be granted in 2023. The link between profita-

bility, risk and remuneration is guaranteed by directly linking the bonus pool with company results, 

the cost of capital and the relevant risk profiles as defined in the relevant framework for determining 

the risk appetite; 

(b) the bonus pool will be defined on the basis of the Fineco’s performance and assigned to the Identi-

fied Staff according to individual performance;  

(c) the 2022 System - in addition to attract, retain and motivate the beneficiaries - is aligned with both 

national and international regulatory requirements, providing for: 

- the assignment of a variable incentive that is defined on the basis of the established bonus pool, 

the evaluation of the individual performance and the internal benchmark for specific roles, as 

well as consistent with the ratio between the fixed and variable components defined by the or-

dinary Shareholders' Meeting; 

- the definition of a balanced structure of "upfront" (made at the time of performance evaluation) 

and "deferred" payments, in cash and shares; 

- payments in shares consistent with the applicable regulatory provisions, which require periods 

of unavailability on them. In fact, the defined payment structure provides for the allocation of 

the shares (both "upfront" and "deferred" installments); at the end of a one-year retention period; 

- risk-weighted measures, in order to guarantee long-term sustainability with reference to the 

Bank's financial position in line with the Authority's indications; 

- entry and malus conditions of capital, liquidity and profitability of FinecoBank, individual com-

pliance conditions and a specific claw-back clause; 

                                                 
2 the overall number of Identified Staff of FinecoBank is 23, including the CEO of Fineco Asset Management DAC, beneficiary of 

the FAM 2022 Incentive System 
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(d) the individual performance assessment is based on the achievement of specific goals that are ade-

quately balanced on both economic-financial factors and non-economic factors (therefore, quanti-

tative and qualitative), considering as well performance goals linked to Risks, Compliance and ESG 

values and objectives; 

(e) the payment of the total incentive so defined will be executed over a multi-year period (2023 - 

2028), as indicated below and on condition that the beneficiaries are in service at the time of each 

payment3:  

 - in 2023 the first cash installment of the overall incentive ("1st tranche"), as well as the first 

tranche in shares (without prejudice to the retention period) in absence of any individual 

values/compliance breach, considering also the gravity of any internal/external findings by 

the competent Functions or Authorities (e.g. Internal Audit, Bank of Italy, Consob and/or 

analogous local authorities); 

       - in the period 2024 - 2028 the residual amount of the total incentive will be delivered in several 

installments in cash and/or FinecoBank free ordinary shares; each individual tranche will be 

subject to the application of the Zero Factor related to the year of competence and to the 

verification of compliance by each beneficiary with the compliance rules and with the 

principles of conduct and behavior, also considering the seriousness of any internal / external 

inspections by the competent Functions or Authorities (e.g.. Internal Audit, Bank of Italy, 

Consob and/or similar local authorities); 

(f)  the assessment of "sustainable performance" parameters (entry and malus conditions) and the align-

ment between risk and remuneration are examined by the Remuneration Committee, as well as by 

the Risk and Related Parties Committee and defined by the Board of Directors; 

(g) the percentages of cash and shares payments are established according to the category of benefi-

ciaries, as shown in the following table: 

 

 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

CEO/GM and other roles 

provided by law with a 

“significant amount”4 of total 

variable remuneration 

20%  

cash 

20% 

shares 

12%  

cash 

12% 

shares 

12% 

shares 

12% 

cash  

12% 

shares 

Other roles provided by law5  

with no “significant amount” of 

total variable remuneration 

25% 

cash 

25%  

shares 

10%  

cash 

10% 

shares 

10% 

shares 

10% 

cash 

10% 

shares 

Other identified staff with no 

“significant amount” of total 

variable remuneration 

30% 

cash 

30% 

shares 

10% 

shares 

10%  

cash  

10% 

shares 

10%  

cash   
- 

 

                                                 
3 To be understood as the final vesting of the right to the incentive and not as the actual instalment of the shares at the end of the holding 

period. 
4 Threshold of Euro 435,000, equal to 25% of the total remuneration of the Italian High Earners according to the EBA report 

(Benchmarking and High Earners Report). The threshold includes both the short-term variable remuneration and the annual tranche of 

the long-term variable remuneration, and it is equal to less than 10x the overall average remuneration of the Bank’s employees. As 

required by the regulatory provisions (Circular 285/2013), the threshold has been defined for the three-year period 2022-2024.   
5 Cf. Circular no. 285  
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(h) in compliance with the provisions of Circular no. 285, no deferral will be applied and the entire 

amount will be paid in cash when the annual variable remuneration is equal or less than the mini-

mum threshold (50.000 €) and is equal or less than one third of the total annual remuneration; 

(i) the 2022 System may be applicable to Identified Staff hired from the external market. In the event 

that new hires are already holders of deferred incentive plans ("buy-out" bonus), the payment 

scheme offered will reflect the deferment methods defined by the previous employer, in any case 

in compliance with current legislation; 

(j) the number of shares to be paid in the respective tranches will be defined in 2023 on the basis of 

the arithmetic mean of the official closing prices of the FinecoBank ordinary shares recorded in the 

month prior to the Board resolution that evaluates the results achieved in 2022. The maximum es-

timated shares assignment is equal to no. 451.206 FinecoBank free ordinary shares, representing 

approximately the 0.07% of Fineco's share capital, including FinecoBank ordinary shares that may 

eventually be allocated to hiring Identified Staff from the external market and/or for severance pay-

ments; 

(k) the FinecoBank free ordinary shares assigned will be freely transferable. 

 

CHANGES TO THE 2022 SYSTEM 

In order to ensure compliance with the current legal and regulatory provisions (including fiscal 

matter), during the implementation of the 2022 System, it’s deemed appropriate to propose delegation 

of powers to the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, to make any changes to the 2022 System 

that do not alter the substance of the resolutions of the Board of Directors and the Shareholders' Meeting, 

also by resorting to different solutions, which in full compliance with the 2022 System principles, enable 

the same results to be achieved (i.e. a different percentage distribution of the payments of the different 

tranches, a different deferral period, a different period of restriction on the sale of the shares, the 

extension of the 2022 System to other beneficiaries considered equivalent to the Identified Staff, also 

using trust companies; the use of instruments other than FinecoBank’s shares where required by the 

regulations, the payment of an equivalent amount in cash instead of the allocation of shares, to be 

determined on the basis of the market value of FinecoBank shares, taking into account the arithmetic 

mean of the official market prices of the ordinary shares recorded in the month preceding each board 

resolution related to the actual allocations). 

It is understood that the aforementioned changes will in any case be adopted in compliance with 

the applicable legal and regulatory provisions pro tempore in force.  

 

 

2. SHARES REQUESTED FOR THE 2022 INCENTIVE SYSTEM FOR IDENTIFIED STAFF 

EMPLOYEES  

The issue of free ordinary shares necessary for the implementation of the 2022 System, as in the 

past, will be carried out in compliance with the provisions of art. 2349 of the Italian Civil Code on the 

basis of the delegation granted to the Board of Directors, pursuant to art. 2443 of the Italian Civil Code. 

For this reason, Shareholders' Meeting in extraordinary session will be called to approve the 

proposal to assign such delegation to the Board of Directors. 
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In particular, for the purpose of issuing FinecoBank ordinary shares for the 2022 System, it is 

submitted for approval the proposal to grant a delegation to the Board of Directors, pursuant to art. 2443 

of the Civil Code, to proceed with the increase in share capital, in compliance with the provisions of art. 

2349 of the Italian Civil Code, for a maximum amount of Euro 120.976,02 (to be allocated entirely to 

capital), by issuing a maximum number of 366.594 new ordinary shares with a nominal value of Euro 

0.33 each, with the same characteristics as those in circulation with regular dividend entitlement.  

Pursuant to the provisions of art. 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, pursuant to which the Directors 

may exercise the right to increase the capital for a maximum period of five years from the date of 

registration of the Shareholders 'Meeting resolution granting the delegation (and therefore with respect 

to the date of the Shareholders' Meeting resolution up to 2027), for the allocation of the last tranche of 

shares envisaged for 2028, the proposal to integrate the delegation already conferred on the Board of 

Directors must be submitted to a future Shareholders' Meeting, so as to complete the execution of the 

2022 System. 

The issue of free ordinary shares necessary for the execution of the 2022 System will be made 

through the use of the special reserve called "Provisions Linked to the Medium-Long Term Incentive 

System for the staff of FinecoBank" which, if necessary, may be reconstituted or increased by allocating 

a portion of available statutory profits or reserves created as a result of the allocation of Company profits 

which will be identified by the Board of Directors upon exercise of the delegation. 

In the event that it is not possible to proceed with the issue (full or partial) of the shares serving 

the 2022 System (including the case in which the "Provisions Linked to the Medium-Long Term 

Incentive System for the staff of FinecoBank" is not enough), the beneficiaries will receive an equivalent 

amount in cash to be determined on the basis of the arithmetic mean of the official market prices of the 

FinecoBank ordinary shares recorded in the month preceding every Board resolution regarding the bonus 

payment. 

* * * * 

 Dear Shareholders, 

if you agree with the above, we invite you to approve the proposal on the agenda and, therefore, 

to take the following resolution: 

“The Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of FinecoBank S.p.A., having heard the proposal of the Board of 

Directors, 

RESOLVES 

1. to adopt the 2022 Incentive System, which provides for the allocation of an incentive, in cash and / 

or FinecoBank ordinary shares, to be carried out within the month of April 2028, to FinecoBank 

Identified Staff employees , within the terms and with the methods illustrated above; 

2. to confer on the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, every opportune power of attorney 

to implement the present resolution and the documents which represent part of it, also rendering 

any amendments and/or integrations which should be necessary to enact the present deliberations 

of today’s Shareholders’ Meeting (not changing substantially the content of the resolutions).” 
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ORDINARY SHAREHOLDER’S MEETING 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

ON 

2022 INCENTIVE SYSTEM FOR PERSONAL FINANCIAL ADVISORS (PFA) 

IDENTIFIED STAFF 

AND ON 

AUTHORIZATION TO PURCHASE AND DISPOSE OF TREASURY SHARES. 

CONSEQUENT AND INHERENT RESOLUTIONS  

(pursuant to article 73, Consob Regulation) 

**************** 

 

 

2022 INCENTIVE SYSTEM FOR PERSONAL FINANCIAL ADVISORS (PFA) 

IDENTIFIED STAFF 

 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

We have called this ordinary Meeting to request your approval of the 2022 Incentive System for 

Personal Financial Advisors (hereinafter “Personal Financial Advisors” or “PFA”), aimed at allocating an 

incentive in cash and/or in FinecoBank free ordinary shares, to be granted over a multi-year period to 

FinecoBank Personal Financial Advisors classified as Identified Staff, according to the conditions described 

below.  

This proposal has been formulated in compliance with the provisions of art. 125-ter and art. 114-bis of 

Decree 58 dated February 24, 1998, and in accordance with the provisions set forth by Consob with reference 

to incentive plans based on financial instruments assigned to corporate officers, employees and independent 

contractors; for a detailed description of the 2022 Incentive System described in this report, please refer to the 

document describing the details of the incentive systems that has been prepared pursuant to art. 84-bis of the 

Consob Regulation no. 11971/99 and subsequent amendments and has been made available to the public under 

the terms of law. 

The proposal is in line with FinecoBank Remuneration Policy, the regulation issued by Bank of Italy2 

on remuneration policies and practices, which implements the provisions set by the European Directive 

2013/36/UE (Capital Requirements Directive or CRD IV as modified by Directive 2019/878/UE) and by the 

EBA (European Banking Authority) guidelines. With this regards, it should be noted that the Shareholders’ 

Meeting has approved the adoption of a 2:1 ratio between the non-recurring and the recurring remuneration for 

Personal Financial Advisors Identified Staff, within the regulatory limit. 

 

                                                 
2 Circular no. 285 of December 17, 2013.  
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GOALS 

The 2022 Incentive System for Personal Financial Advisors Identified Staff (hereinafter also the “2022 

PFA System”) aims to retain and motivate Personal Financial Advisors, in compliance with national and 

international regulatory requirements and with the aim to define – in the interest of all stakeholders – incentive 

systems aligned with long-term company strategies and goals, linked to Company results, adjusted in order to 

consider all kind of risks, in coherence with capital and liquidity levels needed to cover the activities in place 

and, in any case, able to avoid misleading incentives that could drive excessive risk taking for the Bank and 

the system in its whole or lead to violations of the law (e.g. transparency, fairness in customer relationship or 

anti financial crime regulation).  

 

BENEFICIARIES 

  The potential beneficiaries of the 2022 PFA System are: 

 Personal Financial Advisors identified by applying the criteria established by the regulatory provisions; 

 Personal Financial Advisors Area Manager who coordinate a structure to which is linked an overall 

portfolio equal or greater than 5% of the total network assets and with an impact on the Bank’s risk 

profiles. 

The total estimated number of beneficiaries, as of January 18, 2022, is 16. 

 

ELEMENTS OF THE 2022 PFA SYSTEM 

(a) The 2022 PFA System is based on the “bonus pool approach” to define non-recurring remuneration 

to be paid in 2023. The link between profitability, risk and reward is assured by directly linking the 

bonus pool to company results, cost of capital and relevant risk profiles as stated in the Risk Appetite 

Framework; 

(b) the Bonus pool will be defined based on FinecoBank performance and assigned to beneficiaries ac-

cording to individual performance; 

(c)  the 2022 PFA System - besides its aims to retain and motivate beneficiaries -  confirms the alignment 

of FinecoBank to the national and international regulatory requirements providing for:  

- the allocation of a non-recurring incentive defined on the basis of the available bonus pool, of the 

individual performance evaluation and within the bonus cap set by the ordinary Shareholders’ 

Meeting;  

- the definition of a balanced structure of “upfront” (carried out at the moment of performance eval-

uation) and “deferred” payments, in cash and in FinecoBank ordinary shares (also “shares”);  

- payments in shares consistent with the applicable regulatory provisions regarding the application 

of share retention periods. The payment structure requires in fact one-year retention period on both 

upfront and deferred instalments;  

- risk-weighted metrics in order to guarantee long-term sustainability with respect to the company’s 

financial position in line with the Authority's indications; 

- entry and malus condition of capital, liquidity and profitability, individual compliance conditions 

regarding also the quality of behaviors/operation and claw-back clauses are also provided; 
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(d) incentive payouts will be made over a multi-year period (2023-2027), as indicated below and pro-

vided that the agency relationship of the beneficiaries is in place at the time of each payment:  

-  in 2023 the first instalment of the overall incentive will be delivered in cash (“1st instalment”) as well 

as the first tranche in shares (without prejudice to the retention period) in absence of any individual 

values/compliance breach, considering also the gravity of any internal/external findings by the 

competent Functions or Authorities (e.g. Internal Audit, Consob and/or analogous local authorities);  

-  over the period 2024-2027 the remaining amount of the overall incentive will be paid in several 

instalments in cash and/or FinecoBank ordinary shares; each further instalments will be subject to the 

application of the Zero Factor for the year of allocation and only awarded in absence of any individual 

values/compliance breach, considering also the gravity of any internal/external findings by the 

competent Functions or Authorities (e.g. Internal Audit, Consob and/or analogous local authorities); 

(e) the final evaluation of sustainable performance parameters (entry and malus condition) and risk-reward 

alignment are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, by the Risk and Related Parties Committee 

and defined by the Board of Directors;  

(f) the percentages of payments in cash and shares are defined as described in the following tables: 

 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 

 

Personal Financial Advisors 

Identified Staff with “significant” 2 

amount of non-recurring 

remuneration 

20% 

cash 

5%  

cash 

20% 

Shares  

5%  

cash 

15% 

Shares  

10%  

cash  

15% 

Shares  

10% cash 

 

Personal Financial Advisors 

Identified Staff with no “significant” 

amount of non-recurring 

remuneration  

30% 

cash 

30% 

Shares  

10%  

Shares 

10%  

Cash 

 10%  

Shares 

10% cash 

(g)  in compliance with the provisions of Circular no. 285 of 2013 the deferral mechanism will not be 

applied and the entire amount will be paid in cash when the annual variable remuneration is equal or 

less than the minimum threshold (50,000 €) and is equal or less than one third of the total annual 

remuneration; 

(h) the number of ordinary shares to be allocated with the second, third and fourth instalments will be 

defined in 2023, on the basis of the arithmetic mean of the official closing price of FinecoBank ordinary 

shares during the month following the Board resolution that verifies the 2022 performance results;  

(i) the estimated allocation is maximum number of 260,779 FinecoBank ordinary shares, representing 

about 0.04% of FinecoBank share capital, therefore, well below the maximum limit of 20% provided 

by the applicable regulation3, also taking into consideration the 122,866 treasury shares owned by the 

Company at the date of the present report, equal to 0.02% of share capital, and also the maximum 

                                                 
2 Threshold of Euro 435,000, equal to 25% of the total remuneration of the Italian High Earners according to the EBA report 

(Benchmarking and High Earners Report). The threshold includes both the short-term non-recurring remuneration and the annual 

tranche of the long-term non-recurring remuneration, and it is equal to less than 10x the overall average remuneration of the Bank’s 

employees. As required by the regulatory provisions (Circular 285/2013), the threshold has been defined for the three-year period 2022-

2024.   

 
3 Art. 2357 of the Civ. Cod. 
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number of treasury shares that at the moment is estimated to be assigned to carry out Incentive Systems 

already approved or that will be approved in the future, or other needs not foreseeable at the moment. 

(j) the FinecoBank ordinary shares to be allocated will be freely transferable. 

 

CHANGES TO THE 2022 PFA SYSTEM 

In order to ensure compliance with current regulatory and legal dispositions (including fiscal matter), 

during the implementation of 2022 PFA System, it is deemed appropriate to propose delegation of powers to 

the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager  to implement any eventual change to the 2022 PFA System 

that do not change substantially the content of the resolutions of the Board and of today’s General 

Shareholders’ Meeting, also through alternative solutions that fully comply with the principles of 2022 PFA 

System and allow achievement of the same results (i.e. a different percentage distribution of the payments of 

the different tranches; a different deferral period; a different period of restriction on the sale of the shares; the 

payment of an equivalent amount in cash in lieu of granting shares, to be determined on the basis of the market 

value of FinecoBank shares, considering the arithmetic mean of the official closing price of FinecoBank 

ordinary shares during the month following each Board resolution to execute the actual grant; the application 

of the 2022 PFA System to other beneficiaries considered equivalent to Identified Staff). 

It is understood that these amendments will be adopted in any case in accordance with the applicable 

regulatory provisions. 

* * * * 

Dear Shareholders, 

If you agree with the above proposal, you are invited to approve it by adopting the following resolution: 

“FinecoBank’s ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting, having heard the Board of Directors proposal,  

RESOLVES 

1. to adopt the 2022 Incentive System for Personal Financial Advisors (PFA) Identified Staff which pro-

vides for the allocation of an incentive in cash and/or FinecoBank ordinary shares, to be performed 

by July 2027 in the manner and terms described above; 

2. to confer on the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager every opportune power of attorney to 

implement the present resolution and the documents which represent part of it, also rendering any 

amendments and/or integrations which should be necessary to enact the present deliberations of to-

day’s Shareholders’ Meeting (not changing substantially the content of the resolutions).” 
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AUTHORIZATION TO PURCHASE AND DISPOSE OF TREASURY SHARES. 

RELATED AND CONSEQUENT RESOLUTIONS 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

We have called this ordinary Meeting to request your approval of the authorization to purchase and to 

dispose of treasury shares. Related and consequent resolutions. 

 

SUPPLY RELATED TO THE 2022 PFA SYSTEM 

 In order to acquire the financial instruments needed to carry out the 2022 PFA System for the Personal 

Financial Advisors Identified Staff, it is necessary to propose to the Shareholders’ Meeting the authorization, 

pursuant to article 2357 civil Code, to purchase and to dispose of treasury shares. Thus, the Company will 

have, by purchasing them on the market, the shares needed to execute the 2022 Incentive System for PFA 

through the assignment of those shares to the beneficiaries who have the right to receive them. 

 The proposal foresees to confer on the Board of Directors the faculty to carry out repeated and 

subsequent transactions to buy and sell (or other kind of disposals) treasury shares on a revolving base, also 

for fractions of the maximum amount authorized, so that, at any time, the number of shares to be purchased 

under the above-mentioned proposal plus those in the Company’s ownership do not exceed the limit set by the 

law and are in line with the authorization provided by the Shareholders’ Meeting.  

The authorization request is for a maximum number of 260,779 ordinary shares, equal to 0.04% of 

share capital and, therefore, well below the maximum limit of 20% provided by the applicable regulation, also 

taking into consideration the 122,866 treasury shares owned by the Company at the date of the present report, 

equal to 0.02% of share capital, and also the maximum number of treasury shares that at the moment is esti-

mated to be assigned to execute Incentive Systems already approved or that will be approved in the future, or 

other needs not foreseeable at the moment. 

 The purchase of treasury shares will be executed within the limits of the distributable earnings and of 

the available provisions as per the last approved annual report, at the moment of the purchasing operations.   

 The purchasing of treasury shares reduces the net worth of an equal amount, through the inclusion 

among the liabilities in the balance sheet of a specific item with a negative sign. 

 The proposal foresees that purchasing and disposition orders of treasury shares have to be made on 

regulated capital markets, according to art. 132 of the Consolidated Finance Act (TUF) and to art. 144-bis (1) 

(b) of Consob regulation 11971/99, with the same operational procedures described in the regulations of 

organization and management of such markets in order to guarantee equal treatment for all Shareholders and 

to avoid the direct matching of purchase orders against pre-determined sell orders; in particular, these purchases 

will have to be made: 

(i) by public offering for purchase or trade; 

(ii) on regulated capital markets, according to the operational procedures described in the regulations of 

organization and management of such markets, which do not allow the direct matching of purchase 

orders against pre-determined sell orders; 

(iii) by allocating to Shareholders, proportionally to their own shares, a put option to be exercised during 

the period of the authorization granted by the Shareholders' Meeting to purchase treasury shares. 
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 Sell operations of treasury shares in portfolio will be executed in the manner deemed most appropriate 

in the Company’s interest, including transfer and/or the assignment to execute stock granting incentive plans. 

 With reference to the amount of the purchasing operations, it is proposed that it should not be below 

the nominal value per share, equal to Euro 0.33 and not above, as a maximum, the official closing price of 

FinecoBank ordinary shares registered in the MTA (“Mercato Telematico Azionario” – Milan Stock Exchange) 

the day preceding the purchase, increased by 5%.   

 Regarding the disposal of the treasury shares, the Board of Directors will establish from time to time 

the criteria for the definition of the corresponding fees and/or modalities, terms and conditions of purpose of 

treasury shares in portfolio, taking into consideration the procedure followed, the share price trend in the period 

prior to the transactions and the best interest of the Company.  

 Finally, it is proposed that the authorization to purchase is released for a period of eighteen months 

from the date of the Shareholders’ Meeting that passed the resolution for authorization, notwithstanding the 

required authorizations of the Supervisory Authorities. 

 

* * * * 

Dear Shareholders, 

If you agree with the above proposal, you are invited to approve it by adopting the following resolution: 

“FinecoBank’s ordinary shareholders’ Meeting, having heard the Board of Directors proposal, according to 

the provisions of articles 2357 and 2357-ter of the Civ. Cod., 132 D, Lgs. D. n. 58/1998 and 114-bis of 11971/99 

Consob Regulation  

RESOLVES 

1. to authorize the purchase and the disposal of a maximum of number 260,779 treasury shares, equal to 

a nominal value of Eur 0.33 each, for the purposes of the “2022 PFA System” under the terms and 

conditions described above, considering that buy-back operations of treasury shares could be executed 

after having received the necessary authorization of the Regulator, according to articles 77-78 Reg. 

EU no. 575/2013 (CRR) as modified by Reg. EU no. 876/2019. It is understood that any treasury shares 

purchased under the present resolution as well as already in FinecoBank’s possession, if exceeding 

the amount needed for the purposes of the “2022 PFA System” or previous years’ incentive systems, 

could be assigned for the purposes of other future incentive plans; 

2. to confer on the Board of Directors and consequently on the Chief Executive Officer and General 

Manager, every opportune power of attorney to implement the present resolution and to communicate 

it to the market, in accordance with the applicable regulations.” 
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EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ GENERAL MEETING 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

 

 

1. Delegation to the Board of Directors, under the provisions of article 2443 of the Italian civil 

Code, of the authority to resolve, in one or more instances for a maximum period of five years 

from the date of the Shareholders' resolution, to carry out a free share capital increase, as 

allowed by article 2349 of the Italian civil Code, for a maximum amount of Euro 120,976.02 

(to be allocated in full to share capital) corresponding to up to 366,594 FinecoBank new or-

dinary shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same characteristics as those 

in circulation and with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to the 2022 Identified 

Staff  employees of FinecoBank in execution of the 2022 Incentive System; consequent 

amendments to the Articles of Association. 

2. Delegation to the Board of Directors, under the provisions of article 2443 of the Italian civil 

Code, of the authority to resolve in 2027 a free share capital increase, as allowed by article 

2349 of the Italian civil Code, for a maximum amount of Euro 35,671.35 corresponding to up 

to 108,095 FinecoBank new ordinary shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the 

same characteristics as those in circulation and with regular dividend entitlement, to be 

granted to the 2021 Identified Staff employees of FinecoBank in execution of the 2021 Incen-

tive System; consequent amendments to the Articles of Association. 

 

Dear Shareholders, 

We have called this Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting to submit for your approval the 

proposal to delegate authority to the Board of Directors, pursuant to article 2443 of the civil Code, to 

increase the share capital under article 2349 of the civil Code (granting of free ordinary shares to 

employees of FinecoBank) in order to: 

1. execute the “2022 Incentive System” (hereinafter the “2022 System”) submitted for approval to the 

ordinary session of the Shareholders’ Meeting; 

2. complete the execution of the “2021 Incentive System” (hereinafter the “2021 System”) approved 

by the Shareholders’ Meeting held on April 28, 2021. 

We also submit for your approval the consequent required amendments to the Articles of Association.  

 

 

1. DELEGATION FOR CAPITAL INCREASE TO SUPPORT THE 2022 INCENTIVE SYSTEM 

It has been submitted for approval to the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting the 2022 System based 

on financial instruments, in order to align shareholders’ and Management interests, to reward long term 

value creation and to motivate and retain key resources of FinecoBank. 
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The 2022 System aims to incentive over a multi-year period the following employees: Chief 

Executive Officer and General Manager (CEO/GM), Deputy General Managers (DGM), Executive Vice 

Presidents (EVP), Senior Vice Presidents (SVP), and all other Identified Staff (including new hires) 

identified under the criteria established by the regulatory provisions. The overall number of beneficiaries 

as of January 18, 2022 is equal to 22(1). 

Individual bonuses will be allocated to the beneficiaries of the 2022 System based on the 

available bonus pool, individual performance evaluation, internal benchmarking for specific roles  in 

coherence with the 2:1 ratio between the variable remuneration component and the fixed remuneration 

component defined by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting.  

The overall bonus amount will be paid over a multi-year period (2023-2028) with a balanced 

structure of “upfront” (made at the time of the performance evaluation) and deferred payments, in cash 

and in shares, providing that the beneficiaries will still be employees at the moment of each payout2, 

pursuant to the schemes below: 

 

 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

 

CEO/GM and other roles 

provided by law with a 

‘significant amount’ (3) of 

variable remuneration 

20%  

cash 

20% 

shares 

12%  

cash 

12% 

shares 

12% 

shares 

12% 

cash 

12% 

Shares 

 

other roles provided by law 

with no ‘significant amount’ (4) 

of variable remuneration 

25%  

cash 

25% 

shares 

10%  

cash 

10% 

shares 

10% 

shares 

10% 

cash 

10% 

shares 

 

Other Identified Staff with no 

‘significant amount’ of variable 

remuneration 

30%  

cash 

30% 

shares 

10%  

shares 

10% 

cash 

10%  

shares 

10% 

cash 
- 

 

The number of shares to be allocated in the respective instalments shall be defined in 2023, on 

the basis of the arithmetic mean of the official closing market price of Fineco ordinary shares during the 

month preceding the Board resolution that evaluates the results achieved in 2022 (the maximum number 

of shares to execute the 2022 System is estimated equal to 451,206). 

Considering the number of beneficiaries and the total number of financial instruments to be 

allocated, the optimal method identified to execute the 2022 System is the resolution – in one or more 

instances - by the Board of Directors upon power of attorney delegated by this Shareholders’ Meeting 

                                                 
(1) The overall number of FinecoBank Identified Staff is 23, including the CEO of Fineco Asset Management DAC, who is a beneficiary 

of the 2022 Fineco Asset Management DAC Incentive System. 
(2) To be understood as the final vesting of the right to the incentive and not as the actual instalment of the shares at the end of the 

holding period. 
(3) Threshold of Euro 435,000, equal to 25% of the total remuneration of the Italian High Earners according to the EBA report 

(Benchmarking and High Earners Report). The threshold includes both the short-term variable remuneration and the annual tranche of 

the long-term variable remuneration, and it is equal to less than 10x the overall average remuneration of the Bank’s employees. As 

required by the regulatory provisions (Circular 285/2013), the threshold has been defined for the three-year period 2022-2024. 
(4)  Cf. Circular no. 285/2013 of Bank of Italy. 
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under article 2443 of the Italian civil Code, of a free capital increase, as allowed by article 2349 of the 

Italian civil Code, within five years of the date of the Shareholders’ resolution, for a maximum amount 

of 148,897.98 (to be allocated entirely to capital), by issuing up to 366,594 new FinecoBank ordinary 

shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same characteristics as those in circulation and 

with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to the Identified Staff of FinecoBank. In compliance 

with article 2349 of the civil Code, the consequent amendments to the Articles of Association are 

submitted to today’s Shareholders’ Meeting. 

Being understood that, under the provision of article 2443 of the Italian civil Code, the power of 

attorney to the Board of Directors for capital increase expires after five years from the date of the relevant 

Shareholders’ resolution, in order to complete the execution of 2022 Incentive System - having a 6-years 

duration - it will be submitted for approval to one of the future Shareholders’ Meetings the proposed 

assignment of a further power of attorney to the Board of Directors for capital increase to service the 

above mentioned 2022 System through the allocation of a maximum overall number of  84,612  Fineco 

ordinary shares, corresponding to a capital increase of a maximum of Euro 27,921.96.   

It is highlighted that a residual number of Fineco ordinary shares will be devoted to possible new 

hiring of Identified Staff from the external market also in reference to the so called “bonus buy-out” to 

be paid to possible new hires  who are beneficiaries of deferred  incentive plans assigned by the previous 

Employer, and/or for severance payments. The applicable pay-out scheme in such cases will mirror the 

one defined by the previous Employer and will be defined in compliance with actual regulations. 

The capital increase would be carried out using the special reserve known as “Provisions Linked 

to the Medium-Long Term Incentive System for the staff of FinecoBank” set up for this purpose which, 

if case, may be increased via allocation of profits or a portion of available statutory reserves, formed as 

a result of the allocation of company profits that shall be identified by the Board of Directors at the time 

of the exercise of the proxy. 

If is not possible to proceed with the issuance (full or partial) of the Fineco ordinary shares to 

support the 2022 System (including the case in which the amount of the “Provisions Linked to the 

Medium-Long Term Incentive System for the staff of FinecoBank” would not be sufficient), an equivalent 

amount in cash will be allocated to the beneficiaries, determined on base of the arithmetic mean of the 

official closing market price of Fineco ordinary shares during the month preceding every Board 

resolution concerning the pay-out. 

 

Should the aforementioned delegation of power of attorney be exercised to its maximum amount, 

the newly issued shares would represent an overall 0.06% of existing share capital (0.07% considering 

the maximum number of shares equal to 451,206 which include also the 84,612 shares for the allocation 

of the last instalments in shares in 2028). 

 

 

2. DELEGATION FOR CAPITAL INCREASE TO CARRY OUT THE 2021 INCENTIVE SYSTEM 

As known, on April 28, 2021 the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting approved the 2021 Incentive 

System aimed to incentivize the Identified Staff of FinecoBank, over a multi-year period (2022-2027), 

through a balanced structure of “upfront” (made at the time of the performance evaluation) and deferred 

payments, in cash and/or in Fineco ordinary shares. 
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The above-mentioned Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting approved for the Board of Directors 

the power of attorney to issue the necessary free ordinary shares to execute the 2021 System.  

Considering that, pursuant to article 2443 of the civil Code, the power of attorney to the Directors 

for capital increase expires after five years from the date of the relevant Shareholders’ Meeting 

resolution, during the above-mentioned meeting it was anticipated to the Shareholders the need to submit 

to a future Shareholders’ Meeting for approval the proposed assignment of a further power of attorney 

to allocate the last share instalment to be executed in 2027, as foreseen by 2021 System.     

 Having said that, it is submitted for the approval of today’s meeting, the proposal to give to 

the Board of Directors the power of attorney, that will be executed in 2027, to resolve a free capital 

increase for a maximum number of 108,095 ordinary shares, corresponding to up to Euro 35,671.35 

calculated on the basis of the nominal value of Fineco ordinary share equal to Euro 0.33, consequently 

amending the Articles of Association.      

The above-mentioned capital increase would be carried out using the special reserve known as 

“Provisions Linked to the Medium-Long Term Incentive System for the staff of FinecoBank” set up for 

this purpose which, if case, may be increased via allocation of profits or a portion of available statutory 

reserves, formed as a result of the allocation of company profits that shall be identified by the Board of 

Directors at the time of the exercise of the proxy. 

 

 

 

*** 

In light of the above, it is proposed to amend Art. 5 of the Articles of Association, through the 

amendment of paragraph no. 18 and the insertion of   paragraph no. 20. Changes submitted for approval 

to the Shareholders are shown in the synoptic table below:    

 

CURRENT TEXT PROPOSED AMENDMENT 

TITLE II – SHARE CAPITAL - SHARES - BONDS 

Article 5 

 

1. The share capital, fully subscribed and paid up, 

is equal to Euro 201,266,924.10  represented by n. 

609,899,770  ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33.  

 

2. The share capital may be increased by way of a 

shareholders' resolution, through the issuance of 

shares, also bearing various rights, in compliance 

with legal requirements. In the event of an in-

crease in share capital through a rights issue, the 

pre-emptive rights of shareholders may be ex-

cluded, limited to ten percent of the pre-existing 

Article 5 

 

(unchanged)  

 

 

 

 

(unchanged)  
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share capital, provided that the issue price of the 

new shares corresponds to the market value of 

those already outstanding and that this is con-

firmed by a special report prepared by the ap-

pointed independent auditors. 

 

3. Ordinary shares are registered shares. 

 

4. The shares are indivisible and in the event of 

joint ownership they shall be regulated according 

to law. 

 

5. The extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting may 

resolve upon the allocation of profits to the em-

ployees of the Company in accordance with cur-

rent regulations. 

 

6. The Shareholders' service address for their 

dealings with the Company shall be the address 

stated in the Shareholders' registry. 

 

7. The status of shareholder implies unconditional 

acceptance of the deed of incorporation and of the 

articles of association. 

 

8. The Board of Directors, shall be empowered, 

pursuant to Article 2443 of the Civil Code, for a 

period of five years starting from the beginning of 

the negotiation on the Italian regulated market, to 

increase the share capital, free of charge – in one 

or more tranches – to implement the employee in-

centive schemes approved by the ordinary Share-

holders' Meeting held on June 5, 2014, for a max-

imum amount of Euro 1,155,000.00 (entirely at-

tributable to capital for Euro 0.33 per share, equal 

to the nominal unit value), issuing a maximum 

number of 3,500,000 new ordinary shares having 

a nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same 

characteristics as those outstanding, with regular 

dividend rights, by assigning the corresponding 

maximum amount of profit and/or profit reserves 

resulting from the last financial statements in 

question approved pursuant to Article 2349 of the 

Civil Code, according to the terms, conditions and 

methods provided for in the incentive schemes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

(unchanged)  

 

(unchanged)  

 

 

 

(unchanged)  
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The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted in accordance with Article 2443 

of the Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of 5 June 2014, resolved 

on 9 February 2015 to increase the share capital 

by a nominal Euro 79,761 corresponding to 

241,700 ordinary shares with a nominal value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

employee incentive plans. The Board of 

Directors, in partial exercise of the powers 

conferred on the same pursuant to Article 2443 of 

the Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ 

Meeting of June 5, 2014, decided, on February 8, 

2016, to increase the share capital by the nominal 

amount of Euro 95,601.99, corresponding to 

289,703 ordinary shares with par value of Euro 

0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

employee incentive plans.  

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, resolved 

on February 7, 2017 to increase the share capital 

by a nominal amount of Euro 294,372.21, 

corresponding to 892,037 ordinary shares with a 

par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 

implementation of the employee incentive plans.  

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, resolved 

on February 7, 2017 to increase the share capital 

by a nominal amount of Euro 5,237.76, 

corresponding to 15,872 ordinary shares with a 

par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 

implementation of the employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, resolved 

on February 6, 2018 to increase the share capital 

by a nominal amount of Euro 163,182.69, 

corresponding to 494,493 ordinary shares with a 

par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 

implementation of the employee incentive plans 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 



EXTRAORDINARY SESSION 

ITEMS 1 AND 2 ON THE AGENDA  

 

FinecoBank S.p.A. - Public 

 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, resolved 

on February 6, 2018 to increase the share capital 

by a nominal amount of Euro 37.105,20, 

corresponding to overall 112,440 ordinary shares 

with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 

implementation of the employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, resolved 

on February 5, 2019 to increase the share capital 

by a nominal amount of Euro 110,755.92, 

corresponding to overall 335,624 ordinary shares 

with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 

implementation of the employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, resolved 

on February 5, 2019 to increase the share capital 

by a nominal amount of Euro 23,333.64, 

corresponding to overall 70,708 ordinary shares 

with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 

implementation of the employee incentive plans. 

 

9. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the Civil Code, to resolve a free 

increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 

of the Civil Code, one or more times and for a 

maximum period of five years (i) from the date of 

the shareholders’ resolution dated April 23, 2015, 

for a maximum amount of Euro 131,159.49, with 

the issue of up to 397,453 new FinecoBank ordi-

nary shares, as well as (ii) from the date of the 

shareholders’ resolution dated April 12, 2016, for 

a maximum amount of Euro 32,789.79 with the 

issue of up to 99,363 new FinecoBank ordinary 

shares; attributable entirely to capital at Euro 0.33 

per share, equal to the par value of each, with the 

same characteristics as those in circulation, with 

regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to the 

Staff of FinecoBank, which covers key positions 
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for the achievement of the overall objectives in 

execution of the 2015 System. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23, 2015, 

resolved on February 6, 2018 to increase the share 

capital by a nominal amount of Euro 27,758.61, 

corresponding to 84,117 ordinary shares with a 

par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 

implementation of the employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23, 2015, 

resolved on February 5, 2019 to increase the share 

capital by a nominal amount of Euro 13,878.81, 

corresponding to 42,057 ordinary shares with a 

par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 

implementation of the employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23, 2015, 

resolved on February 11, 2020 to increase the 

share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 

13,878.81, corresponding to 42,057 ordinary 

shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 

service the implementation of the Employee 

incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 12, 2016, resolved on 

February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 13,878.81, correspond-

ing to 42,057 ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

the Employee incentive plans. 

 

10. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to resolve a free 

increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 

of the civil Code, one or more times and for a 

maximum period of five years (i) from the date of 

the shareholders’ resolution dated April 12, 2016, 
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for a maximum amount of Euro 88,440,00 (to be 

allocated in full to share capital at Euro 0.33 per 

share, corresponding to the nominal value per 

share) with the issue of up to 268,000 new Fineco-

Bank ordinary shares, as well as (ii) from the date 

of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 11, 

2017, for a maximum amount of Euro 22,110 with 

the issue of up to 67,000 new FinecoBank ordi-

nary shares; attributable entirely to capital at Euro 

0.33 per share, equal to the par value of each, with 

the same characteristics as those in circulation, 

with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to 

the Staff of FinecoBank, which covers key posi-

tions for the achievement of the overall objectives 

in execution of the 2016 System. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 12, 2016, resolved on 

February 5, 2019 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 20,069.28, correspond-

ing to 60,816 ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

the employee incentive plans.                                            

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 12, 2016, resolved on 

February 11, 2020 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 10,033.98, correspond-

ing to 30,406 ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 12, 2016, resolved on 

February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 10,033.98, correspond-

ing to 30,406 ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

the Employee incentive plans. 

 

11. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to carry out a 

free share capital increase, pursuant to Article 
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2349 of the civil Code, one or more times and for 

a maximum period of five years (i) from the date 

of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 11, 

2017, for a maximum amount of Eur 128,700.00 

(attributable entirely to capital) with the issue of 

up to 390,000 new FinecoBank ordinary shares as 

well as (ii) from the date of the shareholders’ res-

olution dated April 11, 2018, for a maximum 

amount of Eur 29,700.00 (attributable entirely to 

capital) with the issue of up to 90,000 new Fineco-

Bank ordinary shares with a nominal value of 

Euro 0.33 each, with the same characteristics as 

those in circulation, with regular dividend entitle-

ment, to be granted to the Identified Staff of 

FinecoBank in execution of the 2017 System.  

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 11, 2017, resolved on 

February 11, 2020 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 19,123.50, correspond-

ing to 57,950 ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2017, 

resolved on February 9, 2021 to increase the share 

capital by a nominal amount of Euro 9,390.81, 

corresponding to 28,457 ordinary shares with a 

par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 

implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

 

12. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code to resolve to 

carry out a free share capital increase, pursuant to 

Article 2349 of the civil Code, one or more times 

and for a maximum period of five years (i) from 

the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated 

April 11, 2018, for a maximum amount of Eur 

136,031.94 (attributable entirely to capital) with 

the issue of up to 412,218 new FinecoBank ordi-

nary shares as well as (ii) from the date of the 

shareholders’ resolution dated April 10, 2019, for 

a maximum amount of Eur 30,731.91 (attributable 
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entirely to capital) with the issue of up to 93,127 

new FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal 

value of Eur 0.33 each, with the same characteris-

tics as those in circulation,  with regular dividend 

entitlement, to be granted to the Identified Staff of 

FinecoBank in execution of the 2018 System.  

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 11, 2018, resolved on 

March 12, 2020 to increase the share capital by a 

nominal amount of Euro 5,459.19, corresponding 

to 16,543 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 

0.33 each, to service the implementation of the 

Employee incentive plans.  

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 11, 2018, resolved on 

February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 25,438.71, correspond-

ing to 77,087 ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

the Employee incentive plans. 

 

13. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to resolve a free 

increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 

of the civil Code, one or more times and for a 

maximum period of five years (i) from the date of 

the shareholders’ resolution dated April 11, 2018, 

for a maximum amount of Euro 324,743.10 (to be 

allocated in full to share capital at Euro 0.33 per 

share, corresponding to the nominal value per 

share) with the issue of up to 984,070 new Fineco-

Bank ordinary shares, as well as (ii) from the date 

of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 

2020, for a maximum amount of Euro 37,788.63 

(to be allocated in full to share capital at Euro 0.33 

per share, corresponding to the nominal value per 

share) with the issue of up to 114,511, as well as 

(iii) from the date of the shareholders’ resolution 

dated April 28, 2020, for a maximum amount of 

Euro 70,029.30 with the issue of up to 212,210 

new FinecoBank ordinary shares;  with a nominal 
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value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same character-

istics as those in circulation, with regular dividend 

entitlement, to be granted to the Identified Staff of 

FinecoBank in execution of the 2018-2020 Long 

Term Incentive Plan.  

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 11, 2018, resolved on 

February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 34,527.57, correspond-

ing to 104,629 ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

the Employee incentive plans. 

 

14. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to resolve, in 

2020, a free increase in share capital, pursuant to 

Article 2349 of the civil Code, for a maximum 

amount of  Eur 23,333,64 (attributable entirely to 

capital) with the issuance of up to 70,708 new 

FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal value 

of  €0.33 each, with the same characteristics as 

those in circulation,  with regular dividend entitle-

ment, to be granted to the FinecoBank Identified 

Staff to complete the execution of the 2014 Incen-

tive System.  

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 10, 2019, resolved on 

February 11, 2020 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 23,333.64, correspond-

ing to 70,708 ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

the Employee incentive plans. 

 

15. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to resolve, in 

2020, a free increase in share capital, pursuant to 

Article 2349 of the civil Code, for a maximum 

amount of Eur 139,517.07 (attributable entirely to 

capital) with the issuance of up to 422,779 new 

FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal value 

of €0.33 each, with the same characteristics as 
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those in circulation,  with regular dividend entitle-

ment, to be granted to the Beneficiaries pf the 

“2014-2017 Multi Year Plan Top Management” 

FinecoBank Employees to complete the execution 

of the 2014-2017 Plan.  

The Board of Directors, in execution of the au-

thority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 10, 2019, resolved on 

February 11, 2020 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 139,517.07, corre-

sponding to 422,779 ordinary shares with a par 

value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the implemen-

tation of the Employee incentive plans. 

 

16. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code to resolve to 

carry out a free share capital increase, pursuant to 

Article 2349 of the civil Code, one or more times 

and for a maximum period of five years (i) from 

the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated 

April 10, 2019, for a maximum amount of Euro 

95,021.85 (to be allocated in full to share capital 

at Euro 0.33 per share, corresponding to the nom-

inal value per share) with the issue of up to 

287,945 new FinecoBank ordinary shares as well 

as (ii) from the date of the shareholders’ resolution 

dated April 28, 2020, for a maximum amount of 

Euro 24,032.91 with the issue of up to 72,827 new 

FinecoBank ordinary shares; with a nominal value 

of Euro 0.33 each, with the same characteristics as 

those in circulation,  with regular dividend entitle-

ment, to be granted to the Identified Staff of 

FinecoBank in execution of the 2019 Incentive 

System.  

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the 

authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 

Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Share-

holders’ Meeting of April 10, 2019, resolved on 

February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by 

a nominal amount of Euro 20,820.03, correspond-

ing to 63.091 ordinary shares with a par value of 

Euro 0.33 each, to service the implementation of 

the Employee incentive plans. 
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17. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to carry out a 

free share capital increase, pursuant to Article 

2349 of the civil Code, in  one or more instances 

and for a maximum period of five years (i) from 

the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated 

April 28, 2020, for a maximum amount of Euro 

174,234.39 (attributable entirely to capital at Euro 

0.33 per share, corresponding to the nominal 

value per share) by issuing up to 527,983 new 

FinecoBank ordinary shares as well as (ii) from 

the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated 

April 28, 2021, for a maximum amount of Euro 

36,476.22 by issuing up to 110,534 new Fineco-

Bank ordinary shares (attributable entirely to cap-

ital at Euro 0.33 per share) with the same charac-

teristics as those in circulation, with regular divi-

dend entitlement, to be granted to the Identified 

Staff of FinecoBank in execution of the 2020 In-

centive System. 

 

18. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to resolve, in one 

or more instances and for a maximum period of 

five years from the date of the shareholders’ reso-

lution dated April 28, 2021, a free increase in 

share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the civil 

Code, for a maximum amount of Euro 143,131.89 

(attributable entirely to capital) by issuing up to 

433,733 new FinecoBank ordinary shares with a 

nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same 

characteristics as those in circulation, with regular 

dividend entitlement, to be granted to FinecoBank 

Identified Staff in execution of the 2021 Incentive 

System. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to resolve, in one 

(unchanged)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant 

to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to resolve, to 

carry out a free share capital increase, pursuant 

to Article 2349 of the civil Code, in one or more 

instances and for a maximum period of five years 

(i) from the date of the shareholders’ resolution 

dated April 28, 2021, a free increase in share 

capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the civil Code, 

for a maximum amount of Euro 143,131.89 

(attributable entirely to capital) by issuing up to 

433,733 new FinecoBank ordinary shares with a 

nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, (ii) from the date 

of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 

2022, for a maximum amount of Euro 35.671,35 

by issuing up to 108.095 new FinecoBank 

ordinary shares; attributable entirely to capital 

at Euro 0.33 per share, corresponding to the 

nominal value per share,  with the same 

characteristics as those in circulation, with regular 

dividend entitlement, to be granted to FinecoBank 

Identified Staff in execution of the 2021 Incentive 

System. 

 

(unchanged)  

 



EXTRAORDINARY SESSION 

ITEMS 1 AND 2 ON THE AGENDA  

 

FinecoBank S.p.A. - Public 

 

or more instances and for a maximum period of 

five years from the date of the shareholders’ reso-

lution dated April 28, 2021, a free increase in 

share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the civil 

Code, for a maximum amount of Euro 283,511.58 

(attributable entirely to capital) by issuing up to 

859,126 new FinecoBank ordinary shares with a 

nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same 

characteristics as those in circulation, with regular 

dividend entitlement, to be granted to the Fineco-

Bank Employees in execution of the 2021-2023 

Long Term Incentive Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20. The Board of Directors has the right, 

pursuant to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to 

resolve, in one or more instances and for a 

maximum period of five years from the date of 

the shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 

2022, a free increase in share capital, pursuant 

to Article 2349 of the civil Code, for a maximum 

amount of Euro 120.976,02  (attributable 

entirely to capital) by issuing up to 366.594 new 

FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal 

value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same 

characteristics as those in circulation, with 

regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to 

FinecoBank Identified Staff in execution of the 

2022 Incentive System. 

 

 

It should be noted that the amendments to the Articles of Association of FinecoBank submitted 

for approval to today Shareholders’ Meeting are subject to the “provision of verification” by the 

Supervisory Authorities  pursuant to the provisions of Article 56 and 61 of Legislative Decree September 

1st 1993 no. 385/93. 

The aforementioned amendments will be effective starting from the registration of the 

Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting resolution at the relevant “Registro delle Imprese”. 

 

* * * * 

Dear Shareholders, 

in relation to the above, considering as approved by the ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting the 

adoption of the 2022 Incentive System and taking into account the resolutions approved by the April 28, 

2021 Meeting, related to the 2021 Incentive System, you are invited to approve the following resolution: 
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“The Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of FinecoBank S.p.A., having heard the Board of 

Directors’ proposal, 

RESOLVES  

1. to grant the Board of Directors, under the provisions of article 2443 of the Italian civil Code, the 

authority to resolve – in 2027 –  a free capital increase, as allowed by article 2349 of the Italian civil 

Code, for a maximum amount of Euro 35.671,35 corresponding to up to 108.095 Fineco ordinary 

shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same characteristics as those in circulation,  

with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to FinecoBank Identified Staff, in order to complete 

the execution of the 2021 Incentive System approved by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on April 

28, 2021. Such an increase in capital shall be carried out using the special reserve known as “Provi-

sions Linked to the Medium-Long Term Incentive System for the staff of FinecoBank” set up for this 

purpose which, if case, may be increased via allocation of a portion of profits or available statutory 

reserves, formed a result of the allocation of company profits that shall be identified by the Board of 

Directors at the time of the exercise of the proxy;   

2. further to the resolution passed in point 1, to amend the paragraph no. 18  in clause 5 of the Articles 

of Association with the following new text 

The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the civil Code to carry out a free share 

capital increase, pursuant to Article 2349 of the civil Code, in one or more instances and for a maxi-

mum period of five years (i) from the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 2021, for a 

maximum amount of Euro 143,131.89 attributable entirely to capital by issuing up to 433,733 new 

FinecoBank ordinary shares (ii) from the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 2022, for 

a maximum amount of Euro 35.671,35 by issuing up to 108.095 new FinecoBank ordinary shares; 

attributable entirely to capital to capital at Euro 0.33 per share, corresponding to the nominal value per 

share,  with the same characteristics as those in circulation, with regular dividend entitlement, to be 

granted to FinecoBank Identified Staff in execution of the 2021 Incentive System. 

3. to grant the Board of Directors, under the provisions of article 2443 of the Italian civil Code, the 

authority to resolve, in on one or more instances for a maximum period of five years from the date of 

Shareholders’ resolution, a free capital increase, as allowed by article 2349 of the Italian civil Code, 

for a maximum amount of Euro 120.976,02 (attributable entirely to capital), corresponding to up to 

366.594 FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same charac-

teristics as those outstanding, with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to FinecoBank Identi-

fied Staff in execution of the 2022 Incentive System approved by today’s Ordinary Shareholders’ Meet-

ing. Such an increase in capital shall be carried out using the special reserve known as “Provisions 

Linked to the Medium-Long Term Incentive System for the staff of FinecoBank” set up for this purpose 

which, if case, may be increased via allocation of a portion of profits or available statutory reserves, 

formed a result of the allocation of company profits that shall be identified by the Board of Directors 

at the time of the exercise of the proxy; 

4. to insert a new paragraph (no. 20) in article 5 of the Articles of Association with the following text: 

“The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to resolve, in one or 

more instances and for a maximum period of five years from the date of the shareholders’ resolution 

dated April 28, 2022, a free increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the civil Code, for a 

maximum amount of Euro 120.976,02 (attributable entirely to capital) by issuing up to 366.594 new 

FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same characteristics as 
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those in circulation, with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to FinecoBank Identified Staff in 

execution of the 2022 Incentive System”. 

5. to delegate to the Board of Directors all the necessary powers for issuing the new shares;  

6. to confer on the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager all necessary power of attorney to: 

(i) implement the above resolutions under the terms of the law; 

(ii) accept or adopt any amendments and additions to the above resolutions (not changing sub-

stantially the content of the resolutions) which should be necessary for registration at the 

“Registro delle Imprese”; 

(iii) proceed with the deposit and registration, under the terms of the law, with explicit and ad-

vanced approval and ratification; 

(iv) make the consequent amendments to article 5 of the Articles of Association, per the resolution 

above.” 
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ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION  

FINECOBANK S.P.A. 

 

 

SECTION I 
INCORPORATION- PURPOSE - REGISTERED OFFICE – DURATION 

Article 1 

1. A joint stock company has been incorporated with the name: "FinecoBank Banca Fineco 
S.p.A." or in abbreviated form "FinecoBank S.p.A.", or else "Banca Fineco S.p.A.", or else 
"Fineco Banca S.p.A.". 

 
Article 2 

1. The Company's registered office is in Milan. 
2. In order to best pursue the corporate purpose, the Company may establish or close down 
secondary offices, branches, agencies and representation offices, however named, both in 
Italy and abroad. 
 

Article 3 

1. The duration of the Company is established at 31 (thirty one) December 2100 (two 
thousand one hundred) and may be extended or terminated earlier by resolution of the 
Shareholders' Meeting. 

 
Article 4 

1. The purpose of the Company is to engage in deposit-taking and lending in its various 
forms and with any method, including computer-based and multimedia applications, in Italy 
and abroad, operating there in accordance with current regulations and practices. For this 
purpose it may carry out, in compliance with current provisions and subject to obtaining the 
required authorisations, all transactions and all bank and financial services permitted by 
applicable laws and regulations, operating in the financial intermediation and credit market, 
and using any method including computer-based and multimedia applications, also through 
door-to-door selling and the multimedia distribution of services and products, in the same 
forms and manner. The company may also carry out any other activity and/or transaction 
that is instrumental or related to, or necessary or beneficial for the achievement of its 
corporate purpose and, in general, engage in any other activity that by law is reserved or 
permitted to companies authorised to engage in banking. 
2. The Company may also issue bonds, in compliance with applicable laws. Furthermore, it 
may also issue bonds convertible into its shares or with purchase vouchers or the subscription 
of shares (warrants), in compliance with applicable laws. It may also acquire holdings in Italy 
and abroad. 
3. The Company, in its role of parent to the Banking Group FinecoBank, pursuant to the 
provisions of Clause 61 of Legislative Decree no. 385 dated September 1, 1993, issues – in 
undertaking its management and co-ordination activities – instructions to other members of 
the Group in respect of the fulfilment of requirements laid down by the Bank of Italy in the 
interest of the Group’s stability. 
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SECTION II 
SHARE CAPITAL - SHARES – BONDS 

 
Article 5 

1. The share capital, fully subscribed and paid up, is equal to Euro 201,339,553.80 
represented by n. 610,119,860 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33. 

2. The share capital may be increased by way of a shareholders' resolution, through the 
issuance of shares, also bearing various rights, in compliance with legal requirements. 
In the event of an increase in share capital through a rights issue, the pre-emptive rights of 
shareholders may be excluded, limited to ten percent of the pre-existing share capital, 
provided that the issue price of the new shares corresponds to the market value of those 
already outstanding and that this is confirmed by a special report prepared by the appointed 
independent auditors. 
 
3. Ordinary shares are registered shares. 
 
4. The shares are indivisible and in the event of joint ownership they shall be regulated 
according to law. 
 
5. The Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting may resolve upon the allocation of profits to the 
employees of the Company in accordance with current regulations. 
 
6. The Shareholders' service address for their dealings with the Company shall be the address 
stated in the Shareholders' registry. 
 
7. The status of shareholder implies unconditional acceptance of the deed of incorporation 
and of the articles of association. 
 
8. The Board of Directors, shall be empowered, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil 
Code, for a period of five years starting from the beginning of the negotiation on the Italian 
regulated market, to increase the share capital, free of charge – in one or more tranches – to 
implement the Employee incentive schemes approved by the ordinary Shareholders' Meeting 
held on June 5, 2014, for a maximum amount of Euro 1,155,000.00 (entirely attributable to 
capital for Euro 0.33 per share, equal to the nominal unit value), issuing a maximum number 
of 3,500,000 new ordinary shares having a nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with the same 
characteristics as those outstanding, with regular dividend rights, by assigning the 
corresponding maximum amount of profit and/or profit reserves resulting from the last 
financial statements in question approved pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, 
according to the terms, conditions and methods provided for in the incentive schemes. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted in accordance with 
Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of 5 June 
2014, resolved on 9 February 2015 to increase the share capital by a nominal Euro 79,761 
corresponding to 241,700  ordinary shares with a nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, to service 
the implementation of Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial exercise of the powers conferred on the same pursuant to 
Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 
2014, decided, on February 8, 2016, to increase the share capital by the nominal amount of 
Euro 95,601.99, corresponding to 289,703 ordinary shares with par value of Euro 0.33 each, 
to service the implementation of Employee incentive plans. 



This is an English translation of the original Italian document. 

The original version in Italian takes precedence. 

 

3 
 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 
2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, 
resolved on February 7, 2017 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
294,372.21, corresponding to 892,037 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 
2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, 
resolved on February 7, 2017 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
5,237.76, corresponding to 15,872 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 
2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, 
resolved on February 6, 2018 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
163,182.69, corresponding to 494,493 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 
2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, 
resolved on February 6, 2018 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
37.105,20, corresponding to overall 112,440 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 
each, to service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 
2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, 
resolved on February 5, 2019 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
110.755,92, corresponding to overall 335,624 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 
each, to service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of June 5, 2014, resolved 
on February 5, 2019 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 23,333.64, 
corresponding to overall 70,708 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service 
the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

9. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, to 
resolve a free increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, one 
or more times and for a maximum period of five years (i) from the date of the shareholders’ 
resolution dated April 23, 2015, for a maximum amount of Euro 131,159.49, with the issue 
of up to 397,453 new FinecoBank ordinary shares, as well as (ii) from the date of the 
shareholders’ resolution dated April 12, 2016, for a maximum amount of Euro 32,789.79 with 
the issue of up to 99,363 new FinecoBank ordinary shares; attributable entirely to capital at 
Euro 0.33 per share, equal to the par value of each, with the same characteristics as those in 
circulation, with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to the Staff of FinecoBank, which 
covers key positions for the achievement of the overall objectives in execution of the 2015 
System. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 
2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23, 2015, 
resolved on February 6, 2018 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
27,758.61, corresponding to 84,117 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 
2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23, 2015, 
resolved on February 5, 2019 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
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13,878.81, corresponding to 42,057 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 
2443 of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 23, 2015, 
resolved on February 11, 2020 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
13,878.81, corresponding to 42,057 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 12, 2016, 
resolved on February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
13,878.81, corresponding to 42,057 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

10. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, to 
resolve a free increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, one 
or more times and for a maximum period of five years (i) from the date of the shareholders’ 
resolution dated April 12, 2016, for a maximum amount of Eur 88,440,00 (to be allocated in 
full to share capital at Eur 0.33 per share, corresponding to the nominal value per share) with 
the issue of up to 268,000 new FinecoBank ordinary shares, as well as (ii) from the date of the 
shareholders’ resolution dated April 11, 2017, for a maximum amount of Eur 22,110 with the 
issue of up to 67,000 new FinecoBank ordinary shares; attributable entirely to capital at Eur 
0.33 per share, equal to the par value of each, with the same characteristics as those in 
circulation, with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to the Staff of FinecoBank, which 
covers key positions for the achievement of the overall objectives in execution of the 2016 
System. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 12, 2016, 
resolved on February 5, 2019 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
20,069.28, corresponding to 60,816 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 12, 2016, 
resolved on February 11, 2020 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
10,033.98, corresponding to 30,406 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 12, 2016, 
resolved on February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
10,033.98, corresponding to 30,406 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2017, 
resolved on February 9, 2022 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
10,033.98, corresponding to 30,406 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

11. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, to 
carry out a free share capital increase, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, one 
or more times and for a maximum period of five years (i) from the date of the shareholders’ 
resolution dated April 11, 2017, for a maximum amount of Eur 128,700.00 (attributable 
entirely to capital) with the issue of up to 390,000 new FinecoBank ordinary shares as well as 
(ii) from the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 11, 2018, for a maximum amount 
of Eur 29,700.00 (attributable entirely to capital) with the issue of up to 90,000 new 
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FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal value of Eur 0.33 each, with the same 
characteristics as those in circulation, with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to the 
Identified Staff of FinecoBank in execution of the 2017 System. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2017, 
resolved on February 11, 2020 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
19,123.50, corresponding to 57,950 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2017, 
resolved on February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
9,390.81, corresponding to 28,457 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2017, 
resolved on February 9, 2022 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
9,390.81, corresponding to 28,457 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

12. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code 
to carry out a free share capital increase, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, 
one or more times and for a maximum period of five years (i) from the date of the 
shareholders’ resolution dated April 11, 2018, for a maximum amount of Eur 136,031.94 
(attributable entirely to capital) with the issue of up to 412,218 new FinecoBank ordinary 
shares as well as (ii) from the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 10, 2019, for a 
maximum amount of Eur 30,731.91 (attributable entirely to capital) with the issue of up to 
93,127 new FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal value of Eur 0.33 each, with the same 
characteristics as those in circulation,  with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to the 
Identified Staff of FinecoBank in execution of the 2018 System. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2018, 
resolved on March 12, 2020 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
5,459.19, corresponding to 16,543 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2018, 
resolved on February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
25,438.71, corresponding to 77,087 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2018, 
resolved on February 9, 2022 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
13,876.17, corresponding to 42,049 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

13. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, to 
resolve a free increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the civil Code, one or more 
times and for a maximum period of five years from the date of the shareholders’ resolution 
dated April 11, 2018 for a maximum amount of Euro 324,743.10 (attributable entirely to 
capital) with the issue of up to 984,070 new FinecoBank ordinary shares, as well as (ii) from 
the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 2020, for a maximum amount of Euro 
37,788.63 (to be allocated in full to share capital at Euro 0.33 per share, corresponding to the 
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nominal value per share) with the issue of up to 114,511, as well as (iii) from the date of the 
shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 2020, for a maximum amount of Euro 70,029.30 with 
the issue of up to 212,210 new FinecoBank ordinary shares;  with a nominal value of Euro 
0.33 each with the same characteristics as those in circulation, with regular dividend 
entitlement, to be granted to the FinecoBank Employees in execution of the 2018-2020 Long 
Term Incentive Plan. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2018, 
resolved on February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
34,527.57, corresponding to 104,629 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 11, 2018, 
resolved on February 9, 2022 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
17,259.66, corresponding to 52,302 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

14. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, to 
resolve, in 2020, a free increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil 
Code, for a maximum amount of  Eur 23,333,64 (attributable entirely to capital) with the 
issuance of up to 70,708 new FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal value of Eur 0.33 
each, with the same characteristics as those in circulation, with regular dividend entitlement, 
to be granted to the FinecoBank Identified Staff to complete the execution of the 2014 
Incentive System. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 10, 2019, 
resolved on February 11, 2020 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
23,333.64, corresponding to 70,708 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

15. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, 
to resolve, in 2020, a free increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil 
Code, for a maximum amount of Eur 139,517.07 (attributable entirely to capital) with the 
issuance of up to 422,779 new FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal value of Eur 0.33 
each, with the same characteristics as those in circulation, with regular dividend entitlement, 
to be granted to the Beneficiaries of the “2014-2017 Multi Year Plan Top Management” 
FinecoBank Employees to complete the execution of the 2014-2017 Plan. 
The Board of Directors, in execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 of the 
Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 10, 2019, resolved on 
February 11, 2020 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 139,517.07, 
corresponding to 422,779 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service the 
implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

16. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, 
to resolve to carry out a free share capital increase, pursuant to Article 2349 of the civil Code, 
one or more times and for a maximum period of five years (i) from the date of the 
shareholders’ resolution dated April 10, 2019, for a maximum amount of Eur 95,021.85 
(attributable entirely to capital at Euro 0,33 per share, corresponding to the nominal value 
per share) with the issuance of up to 287,945 new FinecoBank ordinary shares as well as (ii) 
from the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 2020, for a maximum amount 
of Euro 24,032.91 with the issue of up to 72,827 new FinecoBank ordinary shares; with a 
nominal value of Euro 0.33 each, with a nominal value of Eur 0.33 each, with the same 
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characteristics as those in circulation, with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to the 
FinecoBank Identified Staff in execution of the 2019 Incentive System. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 10, 2019, 
resolved on February 9, 2021 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
20,820.03, corresponding to 63,091 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 
The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 10, 2019, 
resolved on February 9, 2022 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
371.91, corresponding to 1,127 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to service 
the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

17. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, 
to carry out a free share capital increase, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, 
one or more times and for a maximum period of five years (i) from the date of the 
shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 2020, for a maximum amount of Euro 174,234.39 
(attributable entirely to capital at Euro 0.33 per share corresponding to the nominal value per 
share) with the issuance of up to 527,983 new FinecoBank ordinary shares, as well as (ii) from 
the date of the shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 2021 for a maximum amount of Euro 
36,476.22 with the issue of up to 110,534 new FinecoBank ordinary shares; with a nominal 
value of Euro 0.33 each with the same characteristics as those in circulation,  with regular 
dividend entitlement, to be granted to the FinecoBank Identified Staff in execution of the 
2020 Incentive System. 

The Board of Directors, in partial execution of the authority granted pursuant to Article 2443 
of the Italian Civil Code by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of April 28, 2020, 
resolved on February 9, 2022 to increase the share capital by a nominal amount of Euro 
21,697.17, corresponding to 65,749 ordinary shares with a par value of Euro 0.33 each, to 
service the implementation of the Employee incentive plans. 

18. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Codeto 
carry out a free share capital increase, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, in 
one or more instances and for a maximum period of five years (i) from the date of the 
shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 2021 for a maximum amount of Eur 143,131.89 
(attributable entirely to capital) with the issue of up to 433,733 new FinecoBank ordinary 
shares as well as (ii) from the date of the shareholder’s resolutions dated April 28, 2022, for a 
maximum amount of Euro 35.671,35 by issuing up to 108.095 new FinecoBank ordinary 
shares; attributable entirely to capital at Euro 0.33 per share, with the same characteristics as 
those in circulation, with regular dividend entitlement, to be granted to the Identified Staff of 
FinecoBank in execution of the 2021 Incentive System. 

19. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the Italian Civil Code, to 
resolve a free increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 2349 of the Italian Civil Code, one 
or more times and for a maximum period of five years from the date of the shareholders’ 
resolution dated April 28, 2021 for a maximum amount of Eur 283,511.58 (attributable 
entirely to capital) with the issue of up to 859,126 new FinecoBank ordinary shares with a par 
value of Euro 0.33 per share, with the same characteristics as those in circulation, with regular 
dividend entitlement, to be granted to the FinecoBank Employees in execution of the 2021-
2023 Long Term Incentive Plan. 
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20. The Board of Directors has the right, pursuant to Article 2443 of the civil Code, to resolve, 
in one or more instances and for a maximum period of five years from the date of the 
shareholders’ resolution dated April 28, 2022, a free increase in share capital, pursuant to Article 
2349 of the civil Code, for a maximum amount of Euro 120.976,02 (attributable entirely to 
capital) by issuing up to 366.594 new FinecoBank ordinary shares with a nominal value of Euro 
0.33 each, with the same characteristics as those in circulation, with regular dividend 
entitlement, to be granted to FinecoBank Identified Staff in execution of the 2022 Incentive 
System. 
 

SECTION III 
SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING  

 
Article 6 

1. The Shareholders’ General Meeting, duly constituted, is the body that expresses the 
Company’s will through its resolutions. 
2. The Shareholders’ General Meeting meets in ordinary or extraordinary sessions, according 
to the law and may be held at the company headquarters or another place that is indicated in 
the notice convening the meeting, provided it is within the territory of the Italian state. 
3. The operating modes of the Shareholders’ General Meeting are governed by specific 
Regulations. 
4. The Ordinary Shareholders’ General Meeting is convened at least once a year within one 
hundred and twenty days from the end of the company’s financial year to deliberate on issues 
for which the law and the Articles of Association make it responsible. 

5. In particular, the Ordinary Shareholders’ General Meeting, besides establishing the 
remuneration paid to the bodies it has appointed, approves: (i) the policies on remuneration 
and incentives in favour of members of the bodies with functions of strategic supervision, 
management and control and other personnel; (ii) remuneration plans based on financial 
instruments; (iii) the criteria for determining the compensation to be granted in the case of 
early termination of employment or early retirement from office, including limits set on this 
amount in terms of annual fixed remuneration and the maximum amount that results from 
their application. 

6. Also, the Ordinary Shareholders’ General Meeting, upon approval of the remuneration 
policies, has the authority to agree a relationship between the variable and fixed component 
of the remuneration of individual staff members higher than 1:1 but not exceeding the ratio 
of 2:1 provided that the proposal is considered to be validly adopted: 
• with the favourable vote of at least 2/3 of the share capital represented at the Shareholders’ 
General Meeting, in the event that the Shareholders’ General Meeting is constituted with at 
least half of the share capital; 
• with the favourable vote of at least 3/4 of the share capital represented at the Shareholders’ 
General Meeting, regardless of the share capital with which it is constituted. 
7. The Shareholders’ General Meeting must be provided with adequate information on the 
implementation of remuneration policies. 
8. The Extraordinary General Meeting is convened whenever necessary to resolve upon any 
of the matters reserved for it by the law in force. 
 

Article 7 
1. The Shareholders' Meeting, whether ordinary or extraordinary, shall be convened within 
the terms set forth in current laws and regulations, via a notice published on the Company's 
website and through other channels provided for under current laws and regulations. 
2. The Agenda of the Shareholders' Meeting shall be determined by the person empowered to 
call a meeting under the terms and conditions of law and the Articles of Association. 
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3. In the cases provided by law, those shareholders who, alone or in conjunction with others, 
represent at least the percentage of share capital envisaged by current applicable regulations, 
shall be entitled to request that a Shareholders’ Meeting be convened. 
4. The right to put items on the Agenda and to submit resolution proposals on the items 
already on the Agenda may be exercised - in the cases, methods and time limits indicated in 
current regulations - by shareholders who individually or collectively represent at least the 
proportion of share capital required under applicable law in force at the time. 
5. The Shareholders' Meeting is held in one session. The Board of Directors may provide 
that the Shareholders' Meeting be held in more than one session. The quorum required by 
current regulation shall apply. 
 

Article 8 
1. The holders of voting rights and in respect of whom the Company has received, from the 
broker holding the relevant account, the notification within the deadline set forth by 
applicable law, shall be entitled to attend Shareholders' Meetings. 
2. If stated in the notice of call, the holders of voting rights may participate in the 
Shareholders' Meeting using telecommunication facilities and exercise their voting rights 
using electronic means, according to the procedure indicated in the notice. 

3. Anyone entitled to vote can be represented at Shareholders' Meetings, in accordance with 
the provisions of current regulations. 
4. Voting proxy may be granted by means of an electronic document with an electronic 
signature in accordance with the provisions of current regulations and communicated to the 
Company by sending it to the email address indicated in the notice of call or alternately through 
other methods as provided for in current laws and regulations. 
 

Article 9 
1. Each ordinary share confers the right to cast one vote. 

 
Article 10 

1. The Shareholders' Meeting is chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Directors or, if the 
Chairman is absent or incapacitated, by the Deputy Vice Chairman or by the other Vice 
Chairman, if appointed. In the event the above individuals are absent or incapacitated, the 
Shareholders' Meeting shall be chaired by a Director or by a Shareholder appointed by those 
present. 
2. The Chairman of the Shareholders' Meeting has full powers to preside over the 
proceedings, in compliance with the criteria and procedures laid down in current regulations 
and the Regulation for Shareholders' Meetings. 
3. The Chairman shall be assisted by a Secretary, appointed from among those in attendance, 
even if a non-shareholder, by the majority of those present. In addition to the cases provided 
for under law, a Notary may be called on and appointed by the Chairman to act as secretary, 
when deemed necessary by the Chairman. 

 
Article 11 

1. For a Shareholders' Meeting, whether ordinary or extraordinary, in first or second call, 
along with the relative resolutions to be valid, the relevant legal provisions and Articles of 
Association must be duly observed. 

 
 

Article 12 
1. The minutes of Shareholders' Meeting shall be prepared and signed by the Chairman of 
the Shareholders' Meeting and the Secretary, when they are not prepared by a Notary. The 
copies or extracts of the minutes, signed and certified as true copies by the Chairman of the 
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Board of Directors or by his/her representative, or by the Secretary, shall constitute full 
proof thereof. 
 
 

SECTION IV 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 
Article 13 

1. The Company is managed by a Board of Directors composed of a minimum of 9 (nine) 
and a maximum of 13 (thirteen) members. The composition of the Board shall be gender 
balanced. 
2. The members of the Board of Directors must be suitable for the performance of the 
office, in accordance with the legislation in force at the time and the Articles of Association 
and, in particular, they must meet the requirements of professionalism, integrity and 
independence and respect the criteria of competence, correctness and dedication of time, 
and the specific limits on the accumulation of offices prescribed by the legislation in force at 
the time and by the Articles of Association and in any event those provided for by the 
European Directive of 26 June 2013 No. 36 (CRD IV), for the performance of the office of 
director of a bank issuing shares listed on regulated markets. 
3. Furthermore, the majority of the members of the Board of Directory must meet the 
independence requirements established by the Corporate Governance Code for Listed 
Companies  currently in force and listed below namely those required by the Corporate 
Governance Code from time to time in force. Specifically, a Director cannot be considered 
Independent in the following cases: 
a) if, directly or indirectly, including through subsidiaries, trustees or third parties, they 
control the Company or are able to exercise significant influence over it, or participate in a 
shareholders' agreement through which one or more subjects can exercise control or 
significant influence over the Company;  
b) if they are, or have been in the previous three financial years, a significant representative 
of the Company, of a subsidiary of strategic importance or of a company subject to joint 
control with the Company, or of a company or entity which, also together with others 
through a shareholders' agreement, controls the Company or is able to exercise significant 
influence over it;  
c) if, directly or indirectly (for example through subsidiaries or of which they are a significant 
representative, or as a partner of a professional firm or a consultancy company), they have, 
or have had in the previous year, a significant commercial, financial or professional 
relationship: (i) with the Company, one of its subsidiaries, or any of the relevant significant 
representatives; (ii) with a party who, also jointly with others through a shareholders' 
agreement, controls the Company, or - in the case of a company or entity - with the relevant 
significant representatives; or are, or have been in the previous three financial years, an 
employee of one of the aforementioned parties;  
d) if they receive, or have received in the previous three financial years a significant additional 
remuneration from the Company or from a subsidiary or parent company (compared to the 
"fixed" remuneration for a non-executive director of the Company and to the remuneration 
for participation in committees as recommended by the Borsa Italiana S.p.A. Corporate 
Governance Code) including in the form of participation in incentive plans linked to 
company performance, including those based on shares;  
e) if they have been a director of the Company for more than nine out of the past twelve 
years;  
f) if they holds the position of executive director in another company where an executive 
director of the Company holds the office of director;  
g) if they are a shareholder or director of a company or entity belonging to the network of 
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the company entrusted with the legal audit of the Company;  
h) if they are a close family member of a person who is in one of the situations referred to 
in the previous points.  
For the purposes of the cases indicated above, the definitions provided for in the Corporate 
Governance Code promoted by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. apply. 
4. Directors shall hold office for three financial years, except where a shorter term is 
established at the time of their appointment; the term ends on the date of the Shareholders' 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements relating to the last year of their 
appointment and they may be re-elected. 

5. The Directors are appointed by the Shareholders' Meeting on the basis of lists submitted 

by entitled persons; the candidates must be listed in numerical order on the lists. The parties 

with the right to submit lists are the Board of Directors as well as multiple shareholders who, 

either alone or together with others own, collectively, voting shares representing the 

percentage of share capital required by laws or regulations from time to time in force. The 

decision to submit a list by the Board of Directors must be resolved by an absolute majority 

of the members in office, subject to a preliminary investigation by the internal board 

committee with responsibility for appointments. 

6. Each list with a number of candidates equal to or greater than 3 (three) (i) must be made 

up of candidates belonging to both genders, to ensure respect for the gender balance to at 

least to the minimum extent required by current laws and regulations and (ii) must ensure that 

at least the majority of the candidates meet the independence requirements set out in the 

Articles of Association, without prejudice to the fact that the first candidate on any list, 

including lists with less than 3 (three) candidates, must meet the aforementioned 

independence requirements. 
7. In order for a list submitted by shareholders to be valid, it must be filed at the Registered 
Office or the Head Office, also by means of remote communication and in accordance with 
the procedures stated in the notice of call which allows the identification of the parties 
submitting the list, no later than the twenty-five days before the date of the Shareholders' 
Meeting and must be made available to the public at the Registered Office, on the Company's 
website and through other channels provided for under current laws at least twenty-one days 
before the date of the Shareholders' Meeting (or within a different deadline as per applicable 
regulations). Any list submitted by the Board of Directors pursuant to paragraph 5 above 
must be filed at the Registered Office and published in the manner described above at least 
thirty days before the date set for the Shareholders' Meeting. 

8. Each party entitled (as well as (i) entitled persons belonging to the same group, intended 
as a party, which need not be a corporation, exercising control pursuant to Article 2359 of 
the Italian Civil Code and any subsidiary controlled by, or under the control of the said 
party, or (ii) shareholders who are party to a shareholders' agreement as per Article 122 of 
Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998, or (iii) entitled persons who are otherwise 
associated with each other in a material relationship pursuant to current and applicable 
statutory or regulatory provisions) may submit individually or with others only one list, just 
like each candidate may only be included in one list, or otherwise be considered ineligible. 
9. In the event the shareholders submit lists, ownership of the minimum shareholding 
required for submitting lists is calculated based on the shares registered to each shareholder, 
or to multiple shareholders combined, on the day when the lists are filed at the Company. 
Ownership of the number of shares necessary to submit lists must be proven pursuant to 
current regulations; proof may be submitted to the Company also after the lists have been 
filed, provided that it is submitted within the deadline for when the Company must make 
the lists public. 
10. The entitled persons who submitted a list must also file any additional documentation 
and declarations required by the laws and regulations in force at the time, within the deadline 
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indicated in paragraph 7 above, as well as the following disclosures: 
- for shareholders, information pertaining to those who submitted the lists, with information 
on the total percentage of interest held; 
- information on the personal and professional characteristics of the candidates included in 
the list; 
- a statement whereby the individual candidates irrevocably accept the position (subject to 
their appointment) and attest, under their responsibility, that there are no grounds for their 
ineligibility or incompatibility to stand as candidate, and that they meet the requirements 
prescribed for the office by the Articles of Association and by the current laws and regulations 
and the possible possession of the independence requirements referred to in paragraph 3 
above, according to a format that will be made public by the company in advance that takes 
into account the guidelines of the Supervisory Authorities; 
Any list that does not meet the above requirements shall be deemed to have not been 
submitted.  
11. Each eligible voter may vote for one list only. 
12. The members of the Board of Directors shall be elected as follows: 
a) a number of Directors equal to the number of board members shall be drawn - in the 
order in which they appear on the list - from the list receiving the majority of votes cast 
except, depending on the case, 2 (two) or 3 (three) that will be taken from the minority list(s) 
that are not connected with those who submitted or voted for the list that obtained the 
highest number of votes in accordance with the current regulations, as specified below: 
a.1) if only two lists are submitted, the remaining 2 (two) Directors will be drawn in 
consecutive order from the second list that received the highest number of votes at the 
meeting, 
a.2) if 3 (three) or more lists are submitted, 2 (two) Directors will be drawn in consecutive 
order from the second list that obtained the highest number of votes at the meeting 
regardless of the percentage of votes received, while 1 (one) Director will be drawn in 
consecutive order from the third list that received the highest number of votes at the meeting 
provided that it received at least 2% of the votes cast at the meeting, it being understood that 
in the event of the failure to receive this percentage by the third list by number of votes the 
mechanism provided for in the previous paragraph a.1) will be applied; 
b) if the majority list does not reach a sufficient number of candidates for the election of the 
number of Directors to be appointed, according to the mechanism indicated in letter a) 
above, all the candidates from the majority list shall be appointed and the remaining 
Directors shall be drawn from the minority list, in the order in which they appear on the list, 
receiving the highest number of votes; if necessary, directors shall also be drawn from the 
second most voted minority list, always in the order in which the appear on the list, until the 
number of Directors to elect has been reached; 
c) if the number of candidates in the majority as well as minorities lists submitted is less than 
the number of the Directors to be elected, the remaining Directors shall be elected through 
a resolution made by the Shareholders’ Meeting by relative majority (and therefore without 
taking into account any abstentios), ensuring compliance with the principles of independence 
and gender equality provided for respectively in articles 13 paragraph 3 and 13 paragraph 6 
of Articles of Association. If there is a tie vote between two or more candidates, a run-off 
will be held between these candidates by means of another vote at the Shareholders' Meeting; 
d) if only one list or no list is filed, the Shareholders’ Meeting shall act in accordance with 
the procedures set forth in letter c) above; in the event of a tie between lists or candidates, 
the shareholders’ meeting shall hold a second round of voting to establish their ranking; 
e) if the required minimum number of Independent Directors and/or Directors belonging to 
the least represented gender is not elected, the Directors of the most voted list who have the 
highest consecutive number and do not meet the requirements in question shall be replaced 
by the next candidates on the same list, who meet the necessary requirements. Should it prove 
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impossible, even after applying this criterion, to identify the Directors who meet the above 
requirements, the above substitution criterion shall apply to the minorities lists receiving the 
highest votes from which the candidates elected have been drawn; 
f) if even after applying the substitution criteria referred to in letter e) above, suitable 
substitutions have not been found, the Shareholders' Meeting shall resolve by a relative 
majority. In this case, the substitutions shall be effected starting from the most voted lists 
and from the candidates bearing the highest number in consecutive order. 
13. In the event of death, resignation, withdrawal or removal from office for any other reason 
of a Director, or where a Director no longer meets the professional competence and integrity 
requirements, the Board of Directors can take steps to coopt a Director, in compliance with 
the principles of minority representation and gender equality. If, in the above cases, the 
minimum number of independent Directors and/or the number of Directors belonging to 
the least represented gender envisaged respectively by articles 13 paragraph 3 and 13 
paragraph 6 of the Articles of Association is not met, the Board of Directors shall replace 
them. 
14. For the appointment of Directors needed to fill vacancies on the Board of Directors, the 
Shareholders' Meeting shall resolve by relative majority, ensuring that the principles of 
independence and gender equality established by current law and regulations and the Articles 
of Association are met. 

 
Article 14 

1. The Board of Directors elects from among its members, for three financial years - unless a 
different term is established by the Shareholders' Meeting pursuant to the provisions of Article 
13 - a Chairman and a Secretary, who need not be one of its members and - where appropriate 
- one or more Vice Chairmen, one of which will act as a stand-in. In the event the Chairman's 
absent or incapacitated, he/she will be replaced by the Deputy Vice Chairman or, if he/she 
is absent, by the other Vice Chairman. Where both the Chairman and all the Vice Chairmen 
are absent or incapacitated, the Chairman shall be replaced by the eldest Director. In the event 
the Secretary is absent or incapacitated, the Board shall designate a replacement . 
 

Article 15 
1. The Board of Directors may appoint one Managing Director, and also determines his/her 
duties and powers, and may assign special duties and powers to other Board members. 
2. The Board of Directors may appoint, determining the term of office and the respective 
duties and powers, a General Manager and one or more Deputy General Managers, who 
form the Head Office, together with the other employees of this office. 
3. The Managing Director or – where not appointed – the General Manager shall oversee 
the Head Office. 
4. The Managing Director shall take up the powers and duties of the General Manager if the 
latter has not been appointed. 
5. If a Managing Director and General Manager are appointed, both positions must be held 
by the same person. 
6. The Managing Director, or where not appointed, the General Manager shall be responsible 
for implementing the resolutions passed by the Board of Directors, with the assistance of 
the Head Office. 
7. If a Managing Director has not been appointed, the General Manager shall take part in 
Board meetings with the power to make proposals and without voting rights. 
8. The Managing Director and other Directors vested with particular responsibilities, as well 
as the General Manager, where no Managing Director has been appointed, shall report to 
the Board of Directors on their activities, according to the procedures and time limits 
established by the Board, in accordance with law. 
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Article 16 
1. The Board of Directors shall be convened at the Registered Office or elsewhere in Italy 
or abroad by the Chairman or his/her representative, usually at least once every three months 
and however any time the Chairman feels it necessary, or if requested by the Managing 
Director or by least two Directors. Meetings may also be convened on the request of a 
Statutory Auditor. 
2. The Board shall be convened by the Chairman or by his/her replacement in accordance 
with Article 14 above, and may also be convened using telecommunication facilities. 
3. If deemed appropriate by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, Board meetings may 
be held using telecommunication facilities, provided that each attendee can be identified by 
all the other attendees and that each of them is able to intervene in real time during the 
discussion of the issues at hand, as well as receive, transmit and view documents. If these 
requirements are met, the meeting of the Board of Directors shall be considered to have 
been held at the venue where it was convened. 
4. Meetings shall be valid even if they are not convened as above, provided that all Directors 
and effective members of the Board of Statutory Auditors take part in the meeting. 
5. The Board of Directors shall be chaired by the Chairman or, if he/she is absent or 
incapacitated, by the person replacing him/her in accordance with the provisions set out in 
Article 14. 
6.  The Chairman may invite Deputy General Managers and other employees from the 
management team to take part in Board meetings.  
 

Article 17 
1. The Board of Directors is vested with all powers necessary for managing the Company, 
except for those powers reserved by law and regulations, along with the Articles of 
Association to the Shareholders' meeting. 
2. In compliance with applicable laws and the Company's Articles of Association, the Board 
of Directors shall adopt a Regulation on its functioning and responsibilities. This Regulation 
specifies, amongst other things, the limits on number of board mandates. 
3. In addition to those duties and powers that cannot be delegated by law, the Board of 
Directors is responsible for passing resolutions - which cannot be delegated - concerning: 
 - the general guidelines, as well as the adoption and amendment of the Company's industrial, 
strategic and financial plans; 
- the appointment and dismissal of the General Manager/s, Deputy General  
Managers and managers with strategic responsabilities; 
- the assessment of the overall business performance; 
- adjustments to be made to the Articles of Association to bring them in line with legal 
requirements; 
- corporate mergers and demergers in the cases provided under Articles 2505 and 2505 bis 
and 2506 of the Italian Civil Code; 
- the reduction of capital in the event of shareholder withdrawal; 
- decisions on which Directors, in addition to those indicated in these Articles of Association, 
may represent the Company; 

- the determination of criteria for the coordination and management of Group companies and 
the determination of criteria for compliance with Bank of Italy requirements; 

- the establishment of committees or commissions with advisory, decision-making or 
coordination functions; 
- the risk management policies, as well as the evaluation of the functionality,  
efficiency and effectiveness of the internal control system and the adequacy of the 
organisational, administrative and accounting structure; 
- the purchase and sale of equity investments, companies and/or company divisions, as well 
as decisions involving investments and/or divestments that modify the composition of the 
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Banking Group without prejudice to the provisions set out in Article 2361, paragraph 2, of 
the Italian Civil Code; 
- the purchase and sale of property; 
- the approval and amendment of the main internal regulations; 
- the appointment and dismissal of the heads of the internal audit, conformity and risk 
control and anti-money laundering functions; 
- the opening and establishment, also for the purpose of structuring the signing authority, of 
secondary offices, branches, agencies, counters and representation offices, however named, 
in Italy and abroad, as well as closing them. 
4. The Board of Directors may delegate powers to the Managing Director, the General 
Manager and/or Deputy General Managers, establishing the limits and operating methods, 
including the power to sub-delegate, where appropriate. It may also delegate its powers on 
an ongoing basis to other employees for the day-to-day management of the Company – 
including the granting of credit – as well as powers to complete specific categories of acts.  
5. In the event of a demonstrable emergency, the Chairman, on the basis of a proposal made 
by the Managing Director, or the General Manager, may pass resolutions on any deal or 
transaction, with the exception of those matters reserved by law or by the Articles of 
Association exclusively to the Board of Directors, and shall inform the Board about the event 
at the next meeting. 
 

Article 18 
1. Meetings of the Board of Directors shall be valid only if attended by the majority of the 
members in office. 
2. Resolutions are passed by a majority of the votes, excluding abstentions. In case of a tie, 
the Chairman of the meeting shall have the casting vote. 

 
Article 19 

1. Resolutions passed by the Board of Directors shall be recorded in the minutes transcribed 
in the relevant register, which are signed by the Chairman of the meeting and the Secretary. 
2. Copies of the minutes, signed and certified as true by the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors or by his/her representative, or by the Secretary, shall constitute full proof thereof. 

 
Article 20 

1. The Directors shall be entitled to reimbursement of the costs incurred in carrying out 
their duties. The Board shall also be entitled to an annual fee, fixed and/or variable, which 
shall be resolved upon by the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting and shall remain unchanged 
until the Meeting subsequently decides otherwise. 
2. Remuneration of the Board of Directors, as resolved upon by the Shareholders' Meeting 
shall be distributed among its members by way of resolution by the Board. The Board of 
Directors may also, after consulting with the Board of Statutory Auditors, establish the 
remuneration of the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Managing Director and, in general, the 
Directors vested with specific responsibilities, pursuant to Article 2389, third paragraph, of 
the Italian Civil Code. 
 
 

SECTION V 
DISCLOSURES BY EXECUTIVE BODIES AND OFFICERS 

 
Article 21 

1. Decisions made by those with delegated powers shall be disclosed to the Board according 
to the procedure and frequency (at least quarterly) established by the Board. 
2. In particular, the executive bodies and officers shall report to the Board of Directors and 
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the Board of Statutory Auditors, at least on a quarterly basis, on the general performance of 
the company, the business outlook, and transactions that have a significant effect on the results 
of operations and financial position- with particular regard to those that could potentially give 
rise to conflict of interest- carried out by the Company and its subsidiaries. 
 
 

SECTION VI  
REPRESENTATION OF THE COMPANY’  

 
Article 22 

1. The representation, also in legal proceedings, and the authority to sign on behalf of the 
company are the right, separately, of the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Vice 
Chairman, the Managing Director, the General Manager and the Vice General Managers, 
who have the right to designate, be it on a continuous basis or otherwise, employees of the 
Company and persons on secondment to the Company, as well as outside third parties, as 
representatives and special agents for completing single acts and operations or specific types 
of acts and operations and to appoint lawyers, technical consultants and arbitrators, vesting 
them with the appropriate powers and authorities. 
2. Representation in legal proceedings includes, but is not limited to, the right to initiate and 
support any act and measure to protect the Company's rights and interests, which may 
involve requesting injunctive remedies, precautionary measures and emergency actions, and 
exercising enforcement actions, the exercising, withdrawal and waiver of the right to take 
legal action, as well as the institution and the revocation of a civil action, in any court, 
administrative and arbitration proceedings, before any authority and in any state, and at any 
level of the law, with all of the necessary powers for such purposes, including the related 
appointment of a representative ad litem, also of a general nature, to conduct interrogations 
pursuant to the law, and with all legal rights to reach agreements, settle and submit to 
arbitration proceedings, also out of court and to waive acts and actions. 
3. The Board of Directors may also appoint individual Directors, Senior Managers, Mangers 
and other employees of the Company and persons on secondment at the company , as well 
as to outside third parties to represent the company and use the company signature, 
determining their powers, the limits and the procedures by which they are to be exercised. 
4. Where necessary for the completion of certain acts or categories of acts, the Board may 
also grant mandates and powers of attorney to persons from outside the Company. 
 
 

SECTION VII 
BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS  

 
Article 23 

1. The Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting shall appoint three Standing Auditors, one of which 
will be elected Chairman, and two stand-in auditors, which shall hold office for three 
financial years. Their term ends on the date of the Shareholders' Meeting called to approve 
the financial statements relating to the last year of their appointment and they may be re-
elected. The law and the provisions of these Articles of Association shall be observed for 
their appointment, dismissal and replacement. 
2. The Statutory Auditors must be suitable for the performance of the office, in accordance 
with the legislation in force at the time and the Articles of Association and, in particular, they 
must meet the requirements of professionalism, integrity and independence and respect the 
criteria of competence, correctness and dedication of time, and the specific limits on the 
accumulation of offices prescribed by the legislation in force at the time and by the Articles 
of Association and in any event those provided for by the European Directive of 26 June 
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2013 No. 36 (CRD IV). 
The Statutory Auditors, in addition to the independence requirements provided for by the 
legislation in force at the time, must be in possession of the independence requirements 
provided for by Art. 13, paragraph 3, of the Articles of Association. 
Pursuant to the provisions of current rules and regulations, at least two Standing Auditors 
and one stand-in Auditor must have been entered in the Register of Auditors for at least 
three years and have not less than three years of experience as a statutory auditor. Statutory 
Auditors who are not entered in the Register of Auditors must have at least three years of 
experience in: 
a) professional activities as a certified public accountant or lawyer, rendered primarily to the 
banking, insurance and financial sectors; 
b) teaching, at University level, subjects concerning - in the legal field - banking, commercial 
and/or fiscal law, as well as financial markets and - in the business/finance field - banking 
operations, business economics, accountancy, the running of the securities markets, the 
running of the financial and international markets and corporate finance; 
c) management functions at public entities governmental authorities operating in the credit, 
financial or insurance sector, as well as in the provision of investment services sector or 
collective portfolio management sector, both of which are defined in Legislative Decree no. 
58 of 24 February 1998. 
3. The appointment of standing and stand-in members of the Board of Statutory Auditors 
takes place on the basis of lists submitted by entitled persons in which the candidates must 
be listed in numerical order. Lists shall be divided in two sections, containing respectively up 
to three candidates for the position of Statutory Auditor and up to two candidates for the 
position of Stand-in Statutory Auditor. As a minimum, the first two candidates for the 
position of Statutory Auditor and the first candidate for the position of Stand-in Statutory 
Auditor in the respective lists must be entered in the Register of Auditors and have 
experience as a statutory auditor in accordance with paragraph 2. Each list for the 
appointment of Statutory Auditor and Stand-in Statutory Auditor must have a number of 
candidates belonging to the least represented gender, so as to ensure compliance with at least 
the minimum requirements for gender equality prescribed by current law and regulations. 
No candidate may appear in more than one list, or shall otherwise be disqualified. 
4. In order to be valid, the lists must be filed at the Registered Office or the Head Office, 
also by means of remote communication and in accordance with the procedures stated in 
the notice of call which allows the identification of the parties filing the lists, no later than 
twenty-five days before the date of the Shareholders' Meeting (or within a different period 
of time according to applicable laws in force at the time) and must be made available to the 
public at the Registered Office, on the Company's website and through other channels 
provided for under current laws at least twenty-one days prior to the date of the Shareholders' 
Meeting (or within a different deadline as per applicable regulations). 
5. Each party entitled to vote (as well as (i) entitled persons belonging to the same group, 
intended as a party, which need not be a corporation, exercising control pursuant to Article 
2359 of the Italian Civil Code and any subsidiary controlled by, or under the control of the 
said party, or (ii) shareholders who are party to a shareholders' agreement as per Article 122 
of Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998, or (iii) entitled persons who are otherwise 
associated with each other in a material relationship pursuant to current and applicable 
statutory or regulatory provisions) may submit individually or with others only one list, just 
like each candidate may only be included in one list, or otherwise be considered ineligible. 
6. Lists may be submitted by parties entitled to vote who alone or together with others, hold 
shares with voting rights representing at least the percentage of share capital required by 
applicable law and regulatory provisions in force at the time. 
7. Minority shareholders who are not affiliated with the shareholders concerned, shall be 
entitled to extend the deadline for presenting lists in the circumstances and according to the 
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procedures set forth in current laws and regulations. 
8. Ownership of the minimum shareholding required to submit a list is calculated with regard 
to the shares registered to each shareholder, or to multiple shareholders combined, on the 
day on which the lists are filed at the Company. Ownership of the number of shares 
necessary to submit lists must be proven pursuant to current rules and regulations; proof 
may be submitted to the Company also after the lists have been filed, provided that it is 
submitted within the deadline for when the Company must make the lists public. 
The entitled persons who submitted a list must also file any additional documentation and 
declarations required by the laws and regulations in force at the time, within the deadline 
indicated in paragraph 4 above. Any list that does not meet the above requirements shall be 
deemed to have not been submitted. 
10. Each eligible voter may vote for one list only. 
11. The members of the Board of Statutory Auditors shall be elected as follows: 
a) 2 (two) Standing Auditors and 1 (one) Stand-in Statutory Auditor are drawn from the list 
obtaining the largest number of votes cast by the Shareholders, in the order in which they 
appear on the list ; 
b) the remaining Statutory Auditor and the remaining Stand-in Statutory Auditor are drawn 
from the list that obtained the most votes after the list referred to in letter a). The first 
candidates of the related section are thus elected Statutory Auditor and Stand-in Statutory 
Auditor. 
12. The Chairmanship of the Board of Statutory Auditors will go to the first candidate of 
Standing Auditors from the minority list receiving the most votes. 
13. If, in accordance with the deadlines and procedures set forth in the previous paragraphs, 
only one list or no list has been presented, or the lists do not contain the required number 
of candidates to be elected, the Shareholders' Meeting shall pass a resolution for the 
appointment or completion of the Board of Statutory Auditors by relative majority. If there 
is a tie vote between several candidates, a run-off election shall be held between them with a 
further vote of the Shareholders' Meeting. The Shareholders' Meeting shall be required to 
ensure compliance with the provisions of applicable laws and regulations concerning gender 
balance. 
14. In the event the death, resignation, withdrawal or removal from office for any other 
reason of a Statutory Auditor, he/she shall be replaced by the Stand-in Statutory Auditor, 
from the same list as the outgoing Auditor, in the order in which they appear on the list, 
complying with the minimum number of members entered in the Register of Auditors who 
have been engaged in auditing activities as per paragraph 3 and in compliance with gender 
equality principles. If this is not possible, the outgoing Auditor shall be replaced by the Stand-
in Statutory Auditor meeting the specified requirements, drawn from the minority list which 
obtained the most votes, following the order in which they appear on the list. Where the 
appointment of Auditors is not carried out using the slate voting system, the Stand-in 
Statutory Auditor shall take over pursuant to statutory provisions. Should it be necessary to 
replace the Chairman, the Stand-In Statutory Auditor taking over shall also serve as 
Chairman. The Shareholders shall appoint or replace Auditors in meetings called in 
accordance with article 2401, paragraph 1 of the Italian Civil Code in compliance with the 
principle of adequate representation of minority shareholders and gender equality. Where 
the appointment of the Stand-in Statutory Auditor in lieu of the Statutory Auditor is not 
confirmed by the Shareholders' Meeting, he/she shall return to his/her position as Stand-in 
Statutory Auditor. 
15. The Board of Statutory Auditors shall be considered as having been validly constituted 
if the majority of Statutory Auditors are present, and resolutions shall be passed by an 
absolute majority of those present. in case of a tie, the vote cast by the Chairman shall 
prevail. 
16. If deemed appropriate by the Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors, meetings of 
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the Board of Statutory Auditors may be held using telecommunication facilities, provided that 
each attendee can be identified by all the other attendees and that each of them is able to 
intervene in real time during the discussion of the issues at hand, as well as receive, transmit 
and view documents. If these requirements are met, the meeting of the Board of Statutory 
Auditors shall be considered to have been held in the place where the Chairman is located. 
17. The Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting shall establish the annual remuneration for each 
Auditor as required by law. Auditors shall be entitled to reimbursement of the costs incurred 
in carrying out their duties. 
 

Article 24 
1. In order to properly perform its tasks, and in particular to fulfil its obligation to promptly 
inform the Bank of Italy, and other Supervisory Authorities if required, on management 
irregularities or violations of the law, the Board of Statutory Auditors is vested with all the 
broadest powers provided for by current laws and regulations. 
2. The Board of Statutory Auditors, without prejudice to any other or more specific duty and 
power assigned to it by primary and secondary laws and regulations in force, monitors 
compliance with laws, regulations and the Articles of Association, as well as the correct 
administration, adequacy of organisational and accounting arrangements of the Bank, of the 
risk management and control system, as well as the functioning of the overall internal control 
system, of the external auditing of the accounts, of the independence of external auditors 
and on the financial reporting process.  
 
 
 

SECTION VIII 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS 

 
Article 25 

1. The financial year ends on 31 (thirty-one) December of each year. 
2. At the end of each financial year, the Board of Directors shall prepare the company's 
financial statements, in accordance with statutory provisions. 

 
Article 26 

1. The net profit, as resulting from the financial statements, deducting the portion to be 
allocated to the legal reserve, shall be allocated as decided by the shareholders at the 
Shareholders' Meeting. 
2. If the right to collect dividends is not exercised within five years from the day in which 
they became due, the dividends will revert to the Company and the equivalent value shall be 
allocated to the reserve fund. 
3. The Shareholders' Meeting, on the basis of a proposal by the Board, may grant 
shareholders the right to require that the payment of dividends be settled, in whole or in 
part, in cash or by delivery of shares, having the same entitlements of the shares outstanding 
at their time of assignment. 
4. If the above right is granted, the Shareholders' Meeting, on the basis of a proposal by the 
Board of the Directors, shall determine the criteria for the calculation and assignment of the 
shares, establishing how dividend payments will be settled if the above right by is not 
exercised by shareholders. 
5. The Shareholders' Meeting, on the basis of a proposal by the Board of Directors, may 
allocate a portion of the annual net profit to social, welfare and/or cultural projects, to be 
given as decided by the Board of Directors. 
6. The Company may approve the distribution of interim dividends in the cases, manner 
and within the  limits permitted by applicable laws. 
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SECTION IX 
WITHDRAWAL 

 
Article 27 

1 The right of withdrawal is regulated by the law, on the understanding that right of 
withdrawal may not be exercised by shareholders that have not been involved in the approval 
of resolutions regarding the extension of the Company's duration. 
 
 

SECTION X  
NOMINATED OFFICIAL IN CHARGE OF DRAWING UP THE  

COMPANY ACCOUNTS  
 

Article 28 
1. The Board of Directors, subject to the mandatory opinion of the Board of Statutory 
Auditors, shall appoint for a period of up to three years, a nominated official in charge of 
drawing up the company accounts (Financial Reporting Officer) to perform the duties 
attributed to this function under current laws, and shall establish his/her powers, 
qualifications and compensation. 
2. The Nominated Official in charge of drawing up Company Accounts shall be selected by 
the Board of Directors from the Company's Senior Managers who meet the following 
professional qualifications: specific administrative and accounting skills in lending, finance, 
securities and insurance-related issues. These skills, to be verified by the Board of Directors, 
must have been acquired through work experience in a position of adequate responsibility 
for a reasonable period of time or in undertakings similar to the Company. 
3. The Financial Reporting Officer must also meet the integrity requirements provided 
under current law for the assumption of statutory offices. If the Officer no longer meets the 
integrity requirements, he/she shall be removed from office; in this case, the Board of 
Directors shall promptly replace the outgoing officer. 
4. The Board of Directors shall ensure that the Nominated Official in charge of drawing up 
Company Accounts has the appropriate powers and means to carry out the duties assigned 
to him under current laws and properly complies with all administrative and accounting 
procedures. 
5. In the performance of his duties, the Nominated Official in charge of drawing up 
Company Accounts may call on the assistance of all Bank structures. 
6. The Financial Reporting Officer shall make all attestations and declarations, also in 
conjunction executive bodies and officers when required, in accordance with current laws. 

 
 

SECTION XI 
FINAL PROVISIONS 

 
Article 29 

1. For anything not expressly provided for in the Articles of Association, reference shall be 
made to laws and regulations in force at the time. 
 

 
 
 
 
(post 28-4-22) 



 

 

 

 ECB-CONFIDENTIAL 
 
FinecoBank S.p.A. 
Via della Rivoluzione d’Ottobre 16 
42123 Reggio Emilia   
ITALIA  
 
(hereinafter the ‘Supervised Entity’) 
 
cc:  Banca d’Italia  

 
 ECB-SSM-2022-ITFNC-1  

Frankfurt am Main, 28 February 2022 

 

Decision on the reduction of own funds without replacement 

Dear Sir or Madam, 

In response to your application of 28 January 2022 I am writing to notify you that I have decided by means 
of delegation to grant the Supervised Entity permission to reduce its own funds on a consolidated basis 

and on an individual basis through the repurchase of 260,779 ordinary shares issued on several dates with 

International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) IT0000072170 with a nominal value of EUR 0.33 per 

instrument (hereinafter the ‘Instrument’). 

This Decision has been adopted pursuant to Article 77(1)(a) and Article 78(1)(b) of Regulation (EU) No 

575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council1 and Section 2 of Chapter IV of Commission 
Delegated Regulation (EU) No 241/20142, in conjunction with Article 4(1)(d) and Article 9(1) of Council 

Regulation (EU) No 1024/20133, Article 4 of Decision (EU) 2017/933 of the European Central Bank 

(ECB/2016/40)4, Article 5(3) of Decision (EU) 2018/546 of the European Central Bank (ECB/2018/10)5 and 

Decision (EU) 2020/1333 of the European Central Bank (ECB/2020/41)6.   

1. Facts on which this Decision is based 

1.1 On 28 January 2022 the Supervised Entity submitted to the ECB an application for permission to 
reduce its own funds on a consolidated basis through the repurchase of the Instrument in the amount 

 
1  Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements 

for credit institutions and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 (OJ L 176, 27.6.2013, p. 1). 
2  Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 241/2014 of 7 January 2014 supplementing Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of 

the European Parliament and of the Council with regard to regulatory technical standards for Own Funds requirements for 
institutions (OJ L 74, 14.3.2014, p. 8). 

3  Council Regulation (EU) No 1024/2013 of 15 October 2013 conferring specific tasks on the European Central Bank 
concerning policies relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions (OJ L 287, 29.10.2013, p. 63). 

4  Decision (EU) 2017/933 of the European Central Bank of 16 November 2016 on a general framework for delegating 
decision-making powers for legal instruments related to supervisory tasks (ECB/2016/40) (OJ L 141, 1.6.2017, p. 14). 

5  Decision (EU) 2018/546 of the European Central Bank of 15 March 2018 on delegation of the power to adopt own funds 
decisions (ECB/2018/10) (OJ L 90, 6.4.2018, p. 105). 

6  Decision (EU) 2020/1333 of the European Central Bank of 15 September 2020 nominating heads of work units to adopt 
delegated own funds decisions and repealing Decision (EU) 2018/547 (ECB/2020/41) (OJ L 312, 25.9.2020, p. 38). 
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of EUR 1.5 million. The Instrument forms part of the Supervised Entity’s Common Equity Tier 1 

(CET1) capital. 

1.2 The Supervised Entity’s application may be summarised as follows. 

1.2.1 Rationale for the proposed reduction of own funds 

The Supervised Entity has sought permission to repurchase the abovementioned amount of ordinary 

shares in order to acquire the financial instruments needed to carry out a remuneration scheme (2022 
PFA System) for the Personal Financial Advisors (the sales task force) which includes a variable 

compensation partially made of ordinary shares. The repurchase will allow the Supervised Entity to 

carry out the incentive systems already authorised and the incentive systems that will be approved 

by the shreholders in the future, or other future needs. 

1.2.2 Impact of the proposed reduction of own funds on the Supervised Entity’s compliance with regulatory 

requirements 

The Supervised Entity has demonstrated that, following the reduction requested in the application, 

its own funds and eligible liabilities, on a consolidated basis and on an individual basis are expected 

to exceed the requirements laid down in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, Directive 2013/36/EU of the 
European Parliament and of the Council7 and Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and 

of the Council8 by an amount the ECB considers sufficient. The impact of the repurchase is equal to 

-1.5 million of CET1 capital, corresponding to -3 basis points on CET1 ratio, Tier 1 ratio and total 

capital ratio, and -0.4 basis points on Leverage ratio and MREL. 

 Regarding the compliance with the aforementioned requirements in a forward-looking perspective, 

the information provided by the Supervised Entity shows that the level of own funds exceed the 
regulatory requirements on a three-year horizon by a margin that the ECB considers necessary. The 

Supervised Entity provided the projections of the capital ratios and the leverage ratio for a three-year 

period (from 2022 to 2024, year-end figures) on consolidated and on individual basis. According to 
the projections as in the submitted application, based on the latest applicable SREP decision the 

Supervised Entity exceeds the CET1 and Tier 1 capital, and total capital requirements during the 

three calendar years, before and after the reduction of own funds, by a margin that the ECB considers 
sufficient (projected ratios are CET1: 19.38%, 20.27%, 21.78%; Tier 1 ratio and total capital ratio:  

29.5%, 30%, 31.11% at a consolidated level). The projections also show that the Supervised Entity 

will continue to exceed the leverage ratio requirement by a sufficient margin (by 96 basis points, 105 

basis points and 123 basis points).  

1.2.3 Impact on the Supervised Entity’s profitability 

 The Instrument will be repurchased on the market at a price which will not be lower than nominal 
value per share, equal to Euro 0.33 and not higher than the official closing price of FinecoBank S.p.A. 

ordinary shares registered in the MTA (“Mercato Telematico Azionario” – Milan Stock Exchange) the 

 
7  Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit 

institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions, amending Directive 2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 
2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC (OJ L 176, 27.6.2013, p. 338). 

8  Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the 
recovery and resolution of credit institutions and amending Council Directive 82/891/EEC, and Directives 2001/24/EC, 
2002/47/EC, 2004/25/EC, 2005/56/EC, 2007/36/EC, 2011/35/EU, 2012/30/EU and 2013/36/EU, and Regulations (EU) No 
1093/2010 and (EU) No 648/2012, of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ L 173, 12.6.2014, p. 190). 
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day before the purchase, with a 5% price add-on. The operation is considered to be sustainable 

considering the Supervised Entity’s profitability. 

1.2.4 Impact on the Supervised Entity’s risk coverage 

 The Supervised Entity has provided the results of the impact of two stress scenario (moderate and 

severe) including stress on the macroeconomic, geopolitical and financial dimensions. Even under 

stressed conditions, the Supervised Entity shows high levels of available capital after meeting 

applicable minimum requirements.  

2. Assessment 

2.1 Based on the facts summarised in Section 1, the ECB has determined that the application meets the 

conditions for reducing own funds set out in Article 78(1)(b) of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013. 

2.2 In particular, the Supervised Entity has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the ECB that, following 

the reduction requested in the application, its own funds and eligible liabilities, on a consolidated 
basis, are expected to exceed the requirements laid down in Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, Directive 

2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council9 and Directive 2014/59/EU of the 

European Parliament and of the Council10 by a margin that the ECB considers necessary.  

In particular, after the transaction and based on data as of 31 December 2022, the own funds and 

eligible liabilities of the Supervised Entity are expected to exceed:  

(i) The CET1 requirements and combined buffer requirement by 1133 basis points on a 

consolidated basis and 1086 basis points on an individual basis 

(ii) The Tier 1 requirements and combined buffer requirement by 1959 basis points on a 

consolidated basis and 1923 basis points on an individual basis 

(iii) The own funds requirements and combined buffer requirement by 1713 basis points on a 

consolidated basis and 1677 basis points on an individual basis 

(iv) The minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities in terms of Total Risk Exposure 
Amount (TREA) under the national law implementing under the national law implementing 

Directive 2014/59/EU by 1880 basis points on a consolidated basis, and by 1855 on an 

individual basis 

(v) The minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities in terms of Total Exposure 

Measure (TEM) under the national law implementing the under the national law implementing 

Directive 2014/59/EU by 121 basis points on a consolidated basis and by 113 basis points on 

an individual basis. 

 
9  Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit 

institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions, amending Directive 2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 
2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC (OJ L 176, 27.6.2013, p. 338). 

10  Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the 
recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms and amending Council Directive 82/891/EEC, and 
Directives 2001/24/EC, 2002/47/EC, 2004/25/EC, 2005/56/EC, 2007/36/EC, 2011/35/EU, 2012/30/EU and 2013/36/EU, 
and Regulations (EU) No 1093/2010 and (EU) No 648/2012, of the European Parliament and of the Council, (OJ L 173, 
12.6.2014, p. 190). 
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(vi) The leverage ratio requirement under Article 92(1)(d) of Regulation No 575/2013 as adjusted 

in accordance with Article 429a(7) Regulation No 575/2013, if applicable, by 96 basis points 

on consolidated basis and by 87 basis points on an individual basis  

which, in the view of the ECB, are considered a sufficient margin above the aforementioned 

requirements, also taking into account a forward-looking perspective.  

2.3 On the basis of this above, the ECB concludes that the Supervised Entity should be permitted to 

reduce its own funds as requested. 

2.4 Pursuant to Article 28(2) of Regulation (EU) No 241/2014, the Supervised Entity shall deduct the 

corresponding amounts to be redeemed, reduced or repurchased from its own funds once the prior 
permission of the competent authority has been obtained and where redemptions, reductions or 

repurchases are expected to take place with sufficient certainty. The ECB considers that sufficient 

certainty exists as of the moment of the permission under this Decision and therefore the Supervised 
Entity shall deduct EUR 1.5 million from the corresponding elements of its own funds with effect from 

the date on which this Decision takes effect.  

3. General 

3.1  The ECB has taken this Decision on the basis of the facts provided and statements made by the 

Supervised Entity. If any of those facts or statements were incorrect or incomplete, or no longer 

reflect the state of affairs described, this could constitute sufficient grounds to revoke this Decision 

in full or in part. 

3.2 If the Supervised Entity ceases to comply with the conditions for granting this Decision, or if the 

applicable law changes, and without prejudice to any other cases set out in the applicable law 

providing for revocation, the ECB will consider revoking this Decision in full or in part. 

3.3 This Decision takes effect on the day of its notification to the Supervised Entity. 

4. Administrative and judicial review 

4.1 A review of this Decision by the ECB’s Administrative Board of Review may be requested under the 

conditions and within the time limits set out in Article 24 of Regulation (EU) No 1024/2013 and 

Decision ECB/2014/16 of the European Central Bank11. A request for a review should be sent 

preferably by electronic mail to ABoR@ecb.europa.eu, or by post to: 

The Secretary of the Administrative Board of Review 

European Central Bank 

Sonnemannstrasse 22 

60314 Frankfurt am Main 

Germany  
  

 
11  Decision ECB/2014/16 of the European Central Bank of 14 April 2014 concerning the establishment of an Administrative 

Board of Review and its Operating Rules (OJ L 175, 14.6.2014, p. 47). 
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4.2 This Decision may be challenged before the Court of Justice of the European Union under the 

conditions and within the time limits provided for in Article 263 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the 

European Union. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Anne LÉCUYER 

Deputy Director General  

Directorate General of Specialised Institutions & LSIs 

 



 

 

 ECB-CONFIDENTIAL 
FinecoBank S.p.A. 
Piazza Durante, 11 
20131 Milano 
ITALY 
 
(hereinafter the ‘Supervised Entity’) 
 
cc: Banca d’Italia 

ECB-SSM-2022-ITFNC-3 
Frankfurt am Main, 26 April 2022 

Decision on amendments to the statutes of the Supervised Entity 

Dear Sir or Madam,  

In response to your application of 28 January 2022, I am writing to notify you that the European Central 

Bank (ECB) has decided to confirm that the amendments to the statutes of the Supervised Entity 

summarised below do not jeopardise its sound and prudent management. 

This Decision is subject to the condition that the Supervised Entity’s extraordinary shareholders’ meeting 

or any other competent body set out in the applicable law approves the amendments. 

The Governing Council of the ECB has adopted this Decision, on the basis of a draft proposal of the 
Supervisory Board in accordance with Article 26(8) of Council Regulation (EU) No 1024/20131, pursuant to 

Article 4(1)(e) and Article 9(1) of Regulation (EU) No 1024/2013, in conjunction with Article 56 and Article 

61(3) of the Italian law on banking2 and the Banca d’Italia Circular No 229/19993, Title III, Chapter 1, Section 

II. 

1. Facts on which this Decision is based 

1.1 On 28 January 2022, the Supervised Entity requested the ECB’s confirmation pursuant to Article 56 
and Article 61 of the Italian law on banking that the proposed amendments to its statutes, as 

described in paragraph 1.2, do not jeopardise the Supervised Entity’s sound and prudent 

management.  

1.2 The proposed amendments to the statutes aim to delegate to the Supervised Entity’s board of 

directors the power to carry out free share capital increases, as foreseen in Article 2349 of the Italian 

Civil Code, in execution of the Supervised Entity’s 2021 and 2022 remuneration and incentive 
systems. In particular, the purpose of the free share capital increases is to allow the Supervised 

Entity to pay out in instruments a share of the variable remuneration accrued or to be accrued by its 

identified staff in 2021 and 2022. The maximum amounts of the share capital increases above are, 

 
1  Council Regulation (EU) No 1024/2013 of 15 October 2013 conferring specific tasks on the European Central Bank 

concerning policies relating to the prudential supervision of credit institutions (OJ L 287, 29.10.2013, p. 63). 
2  Decreto Legislativo 1 settembre 1993, n. 385, Testo unico delle leggi in materia bancaria e creditizia, e successive 

modificazioni e integrazioni, Gazzetta Ufficiale della Repubblica Italiana n.230 del 30-9-1993 - Suppl. Ordinario n. 92. 
3  Circolare n. 229 del 21 aprile 1999, Istruzioni di Vigilanza per le banche. 
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respectively, EUR 35,671.35 (for 2021) and EUR 120,976.02 (for 2022). The share capital increases 

are to be executed within five years from the date of the relevant shareholders' resolution. 

1.3 The proposed amendments were approved by the Supervised Entity’s board of directors on 

18 January 2022. 

1.4 At the notification date of this Decision, the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of the Supervised 

Entity has not yet approved the proposed amendments to the statutes. 

2. Assessment 

2.1 Based on the information summarised in Section 1, the ECB has assessed the envisaged 

amendments to the statutes against the criteria set out in Article 56 of the Italian law on banking and 

the Banca d’Italia Circular No 229/1999. 

2.2 The proposed amendments are deemed to give the Supervised Entity’s board of directors the 

necessary flexibility to give execution to the 2021 and 2022 remuneration and incentive systems. 

2.3 The ECB notes that the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of the Supervised Entity has not yet 

approved the proposed amendments to the statutes of the Supervised Entity. 

2.4 Based on the above, the ECB concludes that the proposed amendments do not jeopardise the sound 
and prudent management of the Supervised Entity and that there is no reason to oppose the 

proposed amendments to the statutes of the Supervised Entity. 

3. General 

3.1 The ECB has taken this Decision on the basis of the facts provided and statements made by the 

Supervised Entity. If any of those facts or statements were incorrect or incomplete, or no longer 

reflect the state of affairs described, this could constitute sufficient grounds to revoke this Decision 

in full or in part. 

3.2 If the Supervised Entity ceases to comply with the requirements on the basis of which this Decision 

was taken, or fails to fulfil any requirement or ancillary provision set out in this Decision, or if the 
applicable law changes, and without prejudice to other cases set out in the applicable law providing 

for revocation, the ECB will consider revoking this Decision in full or in part.  

3.3 For the purposes of Article 2436 of the Italian Civil Code, this Decision is without prejudice to any 
assessment by a public notary or the Companies Register on the conformity of the amendments to 

the statutes with applicable law.  

3.4 This Decision takes effect on the day of its notification to the Supervised Entity. 

4. Administrative and judicial review 

4.1 A review of this Decision by the ECB’s Administrative Board of Review may be requested under the 

conditions and within the time limits set out in Article 24 of Regulation (EU) No 1024/2013 and 
Decision ECB/2014/16 of the European Central Bank4. A request for a review should be sent 

preferably by electronic mail to ABoR@ecb.europa.eu, or by post to: 

 
4  Decision ECB/2014/16 of the European Central Bank of 14 April 2014 concerning the establishment of an Administrative 

Board of Review and its Operating Rules (OJ L 175, 14.6.2014, p. 47). 
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The Secretary of the Administrative Board of Review 

European Central Bank 

Sonnemannstrasse 22 

60314 Frankfurt am Main 

Germany 

4.2 This Decision may be challenged before the Court of Justice of the European Union under the 
conditions and within the time limits provided for in Article 263 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the 

European Union. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

[Sign_SecretaryGovC] 

Petra SENKOVIC 

Director General Secretariat 

The Secretary of the Governing Council 
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Computer copy conforming to the original document, on paper, pursuant to 

art. 22, Legislative Decree no. 82 of March 7, 2005, in time for 

registration with the Companies' Register of Milan-Monza-Brianza-Lodi. 

Signed Carlo Marchetti 

Milan, May 25, 2022 

Assented pursuant to the decree of 22 February 2007 by M.U.I. 


